

### CF Item Barcode Sign

Page Date Time

9/6/2006 12:57:25 PM

Login Name Upasana Young



Expanded Number

CF-RAD-USAA-DB01-2000-10294

External ID

E/ICEF/1965/0528/REV.1(E/4083) (PDF-ENG) Part 1

Title

Executive Board Report, June 1965 Session (321 to 335th Meetings) (PDF Version). Part 1, pg 1- 102

Date Created / From Date

Date Registered

Date Closed / To Date

Primary Contact

Off of Secy, ExecBoard, UNICEF NYHQ = 3024 Home Location

7/17/1965

1/1/1997

Off of Secy, ExecBoard, UNICEF NYHQ = 3024 Owner Location

Record & Archive Manage Related Functions=80669443 since 3/19/2001 at 4:06 PM Current Location/Assignee

FI2: Status Certain? FI3: Record Copy? No

d01: In, Out, Internal Rec or Rec Copy

Contained Records Container

Date Published

Fd3: Doc Type - Format

Da1:Date First Published

**Priority** 

Record Type A04 DOC ITEM: E/ICEF 1946 TO 199 Document Details Record has no document attached.

Notes

Document Format Series/Year/SubSeries/Number/Rev: E/ICEF/1965/0528/Rev.1(E/4083);

Series/SubSeries/Year/Number/Rev: E/ICEF/1965/528/Rev.1

Doc Series: E/ICEF; Series Valid date on import: 01-Jan-1946; Doc Year: 1965; Doc Number: 0528; Doc Numb

Short: 528; Doc Revision #: Rev.1 English, L.Avail: E,F,S..; L.Orig: E-?

Note PDF or TIF: Chk\_PDF: No; Chk\_PDF\_Prob: No; Comment: ; Chk\_TIF: No; Chk\_TIF\_prob: No; TIF ID# Start

= ; TIF ID# end =

Print Name of Person Submit Image

Signature of Person Submit

Number of images without cover

104



# UNITED KATIONS CHILDREN'S FUILD

# REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD

(14-23 June 1965)

ECONOMIC AND SOCIAL COUNCIL

OFFICIAL RECORDS: THIRTY-NINTH SESSION

SUPPLEMENT No. 15

**WENITED NATIONS** 

### NOTE

Symbols of United Nations documents are composed of capital letters combined with figures. Mention of such a symbol indicates a reference to a Galted Nations document.

E/4083/Rev.1 E/ICEF/528/Rev.1

### CONTENTS

		Paragraphs	Page
ı.	ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION	1-11	1
	Attendance	2	1
	Agenda and documentation	3-4	1
	Tribute to the memory of Maurice Pate, first Executive Director of UNICEF	5	1
	Welcome of the new Executive Director	6	ź
	Opening statement by the Executive Director	7-11	. 2
II.	FINANCIAL SITUATION	12-33	· [] - <b>4</b> . ·
	Income	12-17	4.
	Private contributions	16-23	5
	The need for more resources	24-27	٠. ٦
. wy spok sank	Planning the use of WIGFlo-Cimanoial coccusion.		-
III.	REACHING THE YOUNG CHILD, AGES ONE TO SIX YEARS	34-65	ŷ
	The vital years	3€	9
	The situation	37-41	10
	Importance of the mother and the family	42-43	11
	Focusing attention on the young child	44-49	77
	Specific services for the young child	50	12
	Experience compared	51	12
	Conclusions of the Board	52-65	13
IV.	PROGRAM'E ASSISTANCE AND TRENDS	66-119	18
	Assistance approved	66-72	20
	Progress reports	73-75	23
	Health	75-62	24
	Nutrition	, <b>63</b>	26
	Family and child welfare	. 54	25
	Education and vocational training	65-87	27
	Children and youth in national development	88-91	27
	Other programme activities	. 92-115	20
	Training	. 92	25
Viene indistriguistic	International Children's Centre	93-94	25

### CONTENTS (continued)

4.24

Assessments	S5-97	<b>29</b>
Experience with local costs	98-101	30
Requests not submitted to Programme Committee	102-105	51
Special areas of concern	104-106	<b>31</b>
Possible role of UNICEF in family planning	107-119	32
REPORT OF THE UNICEF/VIIO JOINT CONTITUE ON		
HEALTH POLICY	120-160	<b>36</b>
Basic health services	121-127	36
Certain immunization programmes	126-139	57
Poliomyelitis	129-132	37
Neasles	155-136	<b></b>
Smallpox	157-159	. <b>. 3</b> 8
BCG vaccinations	10 Sept. 10	<b>39</b>
Leprosy	145-151	40
The need to strengthen health-components in nutrition programes	152-159	41
Agenda for the next seasion	160	45
REPORT OF THE FAO/UNICEP JOINT POLICY CONCITTEE	161-192	<b>W</b>
Planning for the food and nutritional needs of children	152-166	Lik.
Applied nutrition projects	167-172	45
Nutrition education and training	172	45
Food production	175-177	46
Sales of domestic production	178	46
Preventing vitamin A deficiencies in children	179-162	19
New protein-rich food programme and policies	183-185	18
Nilk conservation	186-188	46
Use of world food surpluses for the benefit of children	189 <b>-192</b>	149
. CERTAIN POLICY QUESTIONS	195-204	51
Special assistance	195-195	51
Criteria for post-disaster aid	196-201	52
Applied research on problems of children and youth		

## CONTENTS (continued)

		1.01.01.S. ELOS	13.50
VIII.	REPORT OF THE CONCITTE OF ADMINISTRATIVE BROWN	205-229	5;
, 17 HW	UNICEF Tinencial reports for 1954	205	55
	Ratio of administrative and operational service		***
	expenditures to total expenditures	307-209	55
	Report of the Board of External Auditors	<b>210-318</b>	<b>9</b> 6
	1965 administrative and operational services budget estimates	219	<b>39</b>
	1956 administrative and operational services budget estimates	220-224	59
	Greeting Card Fund	<b>:25-226</b>	61
•	Revolving Fund for UNICEF Public Information	229	61
IX.	RELATIONS WITH MATICALL CONSTITUES AND NON-COVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS	230-251	<b>6</b> 2
x.	PREPARATION FOR THE NEXT SESSION OF THE EXECUTIVE BOARD	252 <b>-240</b>	65
	Review of decision to hold one Board session a year .	232-234	63
j. cm -	Review of experience with the commet business	255-236	65
	Holding of 1966 session in Africa	237-2 <del>4</del> 0	64
	And the cos		
I.	Attendance		65
II.	Guide-lines for planning, developing and evaluating applied mutrition projects		. 69
III.	New protein-rich foods		. 71
	A. Elements to be included in action programmes		. 71
	B. Guiding principles in the promotion of protein concentrates and food mixtures		. 71
IV.	그 그 그 그 그 그 그는 그는 그 수 있는 그 그는 그는 그는 그 그 생각을 하는 것이 되었다.		•
٧.			,
	June 1965		. 75
	A. Africa		. 75
	B. Asia		. 104
	C. Eastern Hediterranean		. 152
	D. Europe		. 143
	E. The Imericas		. 145
	F. Interregional		. 163

### CONTRACTS (continued)

			he
VI.		and allocations approved by the Executive June 1965	169
	Table 1.	Allocations approved by the Executive Board in June 1965 and reductions of outstanding obligations through savings or cancellations of allocated funds	169
	Table 2.	Commitments approved by the Executive Board in June 1965 by country and by type of programme	176
	Table 3.	Allocations approved by the Executive Board in June 1965 by country and by type of programs.	180
	Table 4.	Commitments outstanding at close of June 1965 session of the Executive Board for allocation at future sessions	184
VII.	Contributio	ons to UNICEF	189
	Table 1.	Contributions from Governments for 1963, 1964 and 1965 (as at 23 June 1965)	189
: 16m v	Table 2.	Private contributions, by country, for the	192

7 4 My 1

### I. ORGANIZATION OF THE SESSION.

1. The Executive Board held its 522nd to 555th meetings at United Mations Headquarters from 14 to 25 June 1965.

### Attendance

2. The attendance at the session is given in annex I to this report.

The American State of the State

### Agenda and documentation

- 5. The provisional agenda (E/ICEF/506/Nev.1), as adopted at the 522nd meeting, consisted of the following substantive items:
  - (a) Reports by the Executive Director;
- (b) General statements by representatives of co-operating technical agencies;
  - (e) Policy questions;
  - (d) Report of the Programme Committee;
  - (e) Report of the Committee on Administrative Budget;
  - (f) Report of the activities of UNICEF Mational Committees;
  - (g) Preparation for the next session of the Executive Board.
- 4. A list of documents is med in connexion with the session is contained in E/ICEF/INF/26/Rev.1.

### Tribute to the memory of Maurice Pate, first Executive Director of UNICEP

5. The June 1965 session of the Executive Board was the first regular session since the death of Maurice Pate, the first Executive Director of UNICEF, and brought together many of his colleagues and close associates with whom he had worked over the years. The members of the Board observed a minute of silence in his honour, and many representatives who had not attended the special memorial meeting of the Executive Board on 2 February paid tribute to him in their opening remarks.

### Helcome of the new Executive Director

6. Mr. Henry R. Labouisse, who took over the post of Executive Director on 1 June 1965, was velcomed by the Chairman, who assured him of the fullest co-operation of the Executive Board in seeing to continue and strengthen UNICEP's crucial work for children. She expressed gratitude to Mr. E.J.R. Heyward, who had served as Acting Executive Director following the death of Mr. Pate, and to the UNICEP's activities in the interim period. Representatives, in their opening remarks, also welcomed Mr. Labouisse and expressed their thanks to the UNICEP staff.

### Opening statement by the Executive Director

- 7. In his opening statement the Executive Director paid tribute to his predecessor, whose leadership, under the authority of the Executive Board, had given UNICEF such an outstanding record. He pledged his best efforts to carry forward the work and adapt it to the changing pattern of events.
- O. In renewing his association with the United Nations he was not only accepting an interesting end challenging post; he was also expressing his faith in the United Nations as an institution and as an irreplaceable "way of life" for the peoples of the world. The true international civil servant was the embodiment of one of the aspirations of the future world community, for the hope of mankind lay in the ability of men and women with different outlooks, cultures and backgrounds to work together in trust and friendship. He intended to seek the advice and guidance of members of the Board shearest desible, not only through formal contacts at the annual sessions, but informally as well. It might prove desirable from time to time to seek advice from members or groups of members on matters which were within their special competence. He would also welcome my advice or guidance that individual members might feel disposed to give him.
- 9. It was his intention to seek the closest possible collaboration between UNICEF and the specialized agencies, the Special Fund and other parts of the United Mations family, both at Headquarters and in the field. He had always sought to make team play a guiding principle of his work. It was particularly important for United Nations agencies to make the best use of their limited resources and avoid duplication and overlapping; co-ordination to the greatest possible extent was essential.
- 10. In the same spirit he wished to work closely with the UNICEF Mational Committees and the non-governmental organizations which had done, and were still doing, so much for the cause of UNICEF. He expressed his gratitude for their continued support.
- 11. It was perfectly clear to him that if UNICEF was to do a reasonably adequate job in helping meet the minimum needs of children, an appreciable increase in income would be necessary. He could not say at the moment how big that increase should be but a study was being undertaken to determine the priority needs of children which UNICEF should help to meet. Because there were so many imponderables,

<sup>1/</sup> The statement of the Executive Director was subsequently circulated in E/ICEF/522.

that was not a simple task. But there was no need to smult the results of the study in order to recognize the necessity for action. He therefore wrand that representatives - whether of Governments or of voluntary agencies - do everything possible with their Governments and the public to help bring about on early and significant increase in UNICEP income.

### II. PINANCIAL SITUATION

The Language and Tours

### Income

12. UNICEF income from all sources in 1934 amounted to \$72.9 million, an increase of \$750,000 over 1963, as compared to an increase of \$2.4 million in 1963 over the previous year.

Which is the first that the second

# Table 1. United income, 1964

		Accept	Per cest of total
		s of US dollars	
Government contributions		<b>25,5</b> 90	77.8
Private contributions		4,137	12.6
Income from Greeting Card Fund		1,700	5.2
Other income		1,447	4.4
	TOTAL	32,332	100.0

- 15. Government contributions are the basic source of UNICEF's income, and their increase is a fundamental factor in the further successful functioning of UNICEF. Since a total of 121 Government contributed to UNICEF. It is also bear that more income from Government sources could only come from increases in the assertate given by present contributors.
- 14. The representative of the United States of America reiterated a statement made at a previous Board session that his Government would be prepared to consider increasing its annual contribution of \$12 million at the current 40 per cent matching ratio if the total of contributions from other Governments was increased substantially. In this connexion the Board received with considerable interest information about increases in 1965 from several Governments. The largest of these were from Canada (increase of \$106,000), Sweden (increase of \$247,000) and United Kingdom (increase of \$122,000). A list of contributions to UNICEF from Governments for 1963 and 1964, and 1965 to the end of the Board's session is contained in annex VII, table 1.
- 15. The Board was informed that the European National Committees for UNICEF, which had held their annual meeting at Montreux, Switzerland, in Nay 1965, had compared Government contributions from Europe with those from developing countries and had concluded that Europe would need to double its present contribution to UNICEF in order to contribute the same per caput proportion of gross national product as the developing countries.
- 16. It was pointed out in the Board's discussion that the leading Government contributors to UNICEF would, in the long run, be influenced by the contributions which other Governments were prepared to make a fact which would, in turn,

affect the whole level of Government contributions. It was therefore important for the future of UNICEF that Governments of economically developed countries that were not among the principal contributors should not allow a widening of the gap between their contributions and those of the Governments which were the most generous contributors.

17. Attention was directed to the fact that the General Assembly, in its resolution 1522 (XV), and most recently the United Mations Conference on Trade and Development, 2/had called on Covernments, and particularly those of industrialized countries, to devote one per cent of their income to promoting the development of the peoples of the under developed world; if this goal were ettained rapidly, and appropriate priority given to children and youth in development programmes, UNICEF should look forward to considerably expended opportunities for helping countries to deal with problems of children and youth.

### Private contributions

13. Income from private contributions in 1964 decreased by \$350,000 as compared with the previous year. The sources of private contributions in 1964 and estimated contributions for 1965 are given in table 2.

Table 2. UNICEF income from private sources, 1964 and 1965

		1965 (estimated)
	(in million	s of US dollars)
Hallowe'en collections	2.5	2.5
Compaigns for specific projects	1.3	1.6
Individuals and groups	0.3	<u>0.3</u>
TOTAL	4.1	4.4

- 19. The Hallowe'en collections in 1964 consisted of \$2,150,000 collected by the United States Committee for UNICEF and \$350,000 collected by the Mational UNICEF Committee of the United Mations Association in Canada. The Board was informed that both Committees were making special efforts to increase the proceeds of such collections. The Board was glad to note that the Executive Director planned to explore the possibilities of instituting this type of fund-raising in other countries.
- 20. While funds for general purposes are the most useful form of contribution to UNICEF, some people refer to contribute to specific projects. As a result a number of UNICEF Mational Committees, or national committees co-operating with Freedom from Hunger committees, have raised funds for specific projects. This was done for the first time in 1961, when funds for UNICEF matrition projects were raised through Freedom from Hunger Companies (FFHC). In January 1964 the possibility

<sup>2/</sup> See Proceedings of the United Mations Conference on Trade and Development, vol. I, Final Act and Report (United Nations publication, Sales Mo.: 54.II.B.11), p. 44.

was opened for committees to raise funds for any type of project approved by the Board. Funds have been raised for matrition projects by the FREC committees of Australia, Luxenbourg, New Zealand and the United Kingdom. For projects in other fields, mainly education and health, funds have been raised by committees in the Federal Republic of Germany, the Netherlands, Norway and the United Kingdom, and consideration is being given to such drives by other national committees in Europe. At its 1965 session the Board approved projects totalling \$329,000 for which the Netherlands and the United Kingdom committees had undertaken to raise funds. It is apparent that this form of fund-raising has proved useful in some countries, and the hope was expressed that it would be expanded in countries where it had already been started, and would be taken up in others.

- 21. In order to make uniform the administrative procedures for handling the proceeds of the FFEC campaigns for matrition projects and those of campaigns for other types of projects, the Executive Board agreed that the special account for the proceeds of Freedom from Hunger Campaigns be closed. Henceforth a national committee can arrange to "adopt" for fund raising any project for which assistance is approved by the Board. The committee may undertake to raise funds for an approved commitment against which an ellocation has not yet been made; or it may select a project in advance of its presentation to the Board, in which case the Board must be informed, when the project recommendation is submitted for approval, that the committee undertakes to raise the necessary funds or a portion of them, and the Board approves at that stage a commitment rather than an allocation. It is also open to a committee to select for fund raising a project for which the Board has already approved the necessary allocation.
- 22. The Board noted that \$500,000 had been contributed by individuals, churches, women's groups, schools and organizations, either directly to UNICEF or through national committees. A considerable portion of those contributions was unsolicited. The relatively small amount of such contributions undoubtedly reflected the fact that in most countries there was no easy way for individuals to contribute to UNICEF, and that the possibility of doing so had not been brought sufficiently to the attention of the public. The Executive Director stated that he intended to explore the possibilities for raising larger sums through this means.
- 25. It was stressed in the Board's discussion that increased support depended upon such factors as knowledge and understanding of the needs of children and of UNICEY's work. In many economically developed countries the public was not sware of the grave problems facing children in the developing countries. This required much more work in the field of information. In that connexion the UNICEF National Countries and voluntary agencies played an important role, which should be actively encouraged.

### The need for more resources

24. In his general progress report (E/ICEF/511), the Acting Executive Director discussed the need for more UNICEF resources. He pointed out that the main opportunity, and the main burden, for protecting and developing the oncoming generation fell on the countries and communities. However, in many of the countries assisted by UNICEF the gross national product per year per person was \$50 to \$100, and in eighty-five of these countries it was less than \$200 per head, the amount considered to be a minimum for opening up larger possibilities of social development. It was virtually impossible for countries with a very low national income to provide all the services necessary for the satisfactory

development of their children and youth, and the need for outside assistance was universally admitted. However, it was noted that approximately 90 per cent of cutside assistance came through bilateral channels, and very little was specifically directed to child and youth problems. The assistance given by the agencies of the United Mations system had an important impact on children. UNICEP was the one agency within this system charged with directing its aid specifically to children and youth. In addition UNICEP was concerned with stimulating interest among the many sources of external aid in preparing the oncoming generation to play a constructive role in the economic and social development of their society.

- 25. In 1962 the UNICEF Executive Board had been able to make allocations totalling \$44 million. It had been hoped that income would increase at a rate which would permit this level to be reached again after a period of several years, when the objectives of the new financial procedures described in paragraphs 29 and 30 below had been achieved. However, the rate of increase in income had slackened off. In the light of income prospects, the UNICEF Board had to adopt a financial plan in which allocations in 1966 were to be limited to between \$55 and \$57 million and expenditures reduced, as compared to 1964, by 15 per cent in 1965 and 10 per cent in 1966. (See paragraph 33 below.)
- 26. The cut-back in UNICEF aid came at a time when the child population of the countries assisted by UNICEF was increasing by 2.5 per cent each year. The documentation and the discussion at the session revealed that as its work a progressed UNICEF was faced with increasingly numerous and extensive tasks.
- 27. A number of areas of special concern were highlighted at the Board's session. One of these was the limited scope much united had for assisting mer projects. With the tightening of resources, less than 10 per cent of the programme allocations made at the Board's session, i.e. a sum of \$2.2 million, could be devoted to new projects; yet a great deal more than that could have been used solely for new projects in already existing fields of aid. Not only were there requests for aid from Governments in the fields of health, mutrition, education, vocational training and social services which could not all be met, but there were special areas of need where so far only a beginning had been made. Some of the latter that were discussed by the Board included the problem of valuerable children aged one to six years, the plight of children in rapidly growing shanty towns, and children and youth who are not attending school. There were new possibilities for UNICEF action in the field of nutrition through co-operation vith the World Food Programme and with bilateral aid programmes, as well as in the production of protein-rich foods other than milk. In the field of health there were great opportunities for UNICEF aid to be used effectively not only in the extension of basic health services, but in connexion with the potable water supply in villages, which was a major factor in the health and survival of children. Aid for the newest forms of immunization programmes for children was minimal. Countries which did not have the necessary edministrative structure, personnel and funds to benefit from existing forms of UNICEF aid needed special help.

### Planning the use of UNICEF's financial resources

28. The Executive Board had before it a paper by the secretariat (E/ICEF/AB/L.46) which reviewed the use of UNICEF's resources since 1962 and set forth a plan for their use in 1966.

- 29. In 1961 the Board had modified its financial policy to enable it to expand its aid at a more rapid rate than its income for several years. This was made possible by taking into account prospective income for the next twelve months as well as resources in hand; by allocating to projects only the amounts required for the next twelve-month period; and by reducing the operating fund to a level of working capital sufficient to finance current operations.
- 30. By the end of 1964 this process had been completed. The operating fund had been reduced from \$36 million to the target level of \$25 million set by the Board. The allocations which the Board could make in June 1965 and at future annual sessions would have to correspond to the income expected during the twelve months shead and would cover only the amounts needed during that time. In effect, UNICEF was conducting its work programme like an organization with a regular annual budget.

Section 2

- 51. The new finencial procedures had succeeded in their main objective, namely, making available more aid to children, and the Board considered this an important achievement. The Board agreed that it was no longer necessary to review the procedures annually. It agreed, however, that it would be necessary for it to continue to review annually the current financial operations and financial situation, and the financial targets around which the work had to be organized for the following year.
- 32. The Board believed that the level of \$25 million established for the operating fund (i.e. working capital) should be sufficient for current levels of expenditure, provided, however, that the fund was made up of sufficiently liquid assets. There was a tendency for the fund to contain too high a proportion of receivables, especially in the early part of the year. Moreover, some currencies did not fulfil completely the requirements of working capital since they could be spent only when plans to do so had been made considerably in edwarce. The Board expressed the hope that more Governments would find it possible to pay their pledges earlier in the year, and would take into special consideration, where necessary, the need for their currency contribution to be readily convertible.
- 33. The Board approved the financial plan for 1966 as set forth in table 3 below. Since income was estimated at between \$35 and \$37 million, the ceiling on allocations to be submitted to the Board at its 1966 session was also limited to between \$35 to \$37 million. The ceiling on new commitments to be made in 1966 would be between \$40 and \$45 million.

Table 3. Financial plan for UNICEF, 1966

		Actual		Plan	ned
	1952	1963	1964	1965	1966
ŧ		(in mill	ions of U	dollars)	
New commitments approved	50	43	142	<del>5</del> 6	40-45
New allocations approved	<b>3</b> 131	<b>38</b>	37	34	<b>35-3</b> 7
Expenditures	30.4	<b>3</b> 9	70	34 <sup>±</sup> 2	36-4
Income	29.7	32	<b>3</b> 3	34	<b>35-3</b> 7
Operating fund, 31 December	<b>3</b> 9	<b>3</b> 2	25	25	25

### III. REACHING THE YOUNG CHILD, AGED ONE TO SIX YEARS

- 34. A major policy question on the Board's agenda was how to reach the young child, aged one to six years. For several years the Board had noted that UNICEF-supported programmes were more successful in reaching infants and school-age children than in reaching the vulnerable post-wearing and pre-school group. Accordingly, the matter was placed on the agenda of the 1965 session in order to review the young child's special needs and problems and to ascertain how these might better be met by action on many fronts.
- 55. The Board had before it a report especially prepared by the International Children's Centre on the growth and development of the young child from one to six years (E/ICEF/521 and Corr.1) and a note and recommendations by the Secretariat on reaching the young child (E/ICEF/520 and Corr.1). Considerable additional documentation was introduced during the course of the Board's discussion, including written statements by a number of Governments, 3/ by technical agencies in the United Mations family, 4/ and by some non-governmental organizations. 5/ In addition, oral reports were made by a number of delegations. Statements were also made by UNICEF consultants. 6/

### The vital years.

36. The extreme importance of the years one to six to the child's development physical, psychological and social - was emphasized in the study prepared by the
International Children's Centre and by all the speakers who participated in the
discussion. It was pointed out that the post-weaming and pre-school years were
not only a period of rapid physical and psycho-motor development, but were also
the period during which the child was required to adapt himself to family life
and, by extension, to society in general. The child was extremely volnerable to
adverse environmental influences during this period. The mortality rate for
children in the one-to-five-year age group in many developing countries was forty
to fifty times higher than the rate in industrial countries. Disease and
malmutrition could leave indelible scars. Deprivation, particularly of maternal
care, could likewise have lasting effects on the child's personality. On the
other hand, children of this age responded rapidly to a favourable environment.

<sup>]/</sup> Brazil - E/ICEF/CRP/65-26; Morocco - E/ICEF/CRP/65-37; Poland E/ICEF/CRP/65-25; Tunisia - E/ICEF/CRP/65-32; USSR - E/ICEF/CRP/65-24;
United Kingdom - E/ICEF/CRP/65-19; United States - E/ICEF/CRP/65-36.

<sup>4/</sup> Bureau of Social iffairs of the United Mations Secretariat - E/ICEF/CRP/65-33; FAO - E/ICEF/CRP/65-45; WHO - E/ICEF/SR.330.

<sup>5/</sup> Twenty-five international non-governmental organizations - E/ICEF/MGO/87; International Union for Child Velfare - E/ICEF/MGO/88; Women's International Zionist Organization - E/ICEF/MGO/89.

<sup>6/</sup> Dr. Adeniyi-Jones - E/ICEF/SR.327-328; Herschel and Edith Alt - E/ICEF/CRP/65-20.

and any action that could be taken to improve their health and welfare would have an immediate and often decisive influence. In simple terms, the basic needs of the young child were adequate food, clean water, shelter and clothing, protection against disease, and an environment conducive to healthy emotional and social development.

### The situation

- 37. The various reports indicated that neither the developed countries, the developing countries, nor the international community were giving these formative years in the child's development the attention they warranted. Health programmes usually paid a great deal of attention to birth and infancy. When the child reached six or seven years of age, the school took over. For the most part, however, the child between weaning and school age was ignored so far as organized services went.
- 53. In the economically advanced countries, the health needs of young children were usually well provided for owing to the general improvements that had taken place over the past forty years in hygiene, public health, diet, popular education and living standards. However, less progress had been made in solving problems related to the cocial and emotional development of young children, particularly those growing up in urban slams. In the developing countries, the situation of the young child was critical in every respect. The child's diet was likely to be inadequate both in quantity and quality. He was exposed to a variety of infectious and parasitic diseases, many arising from poor samitation, to which he fell easy prey because of his poor matritional state.
- 5). In areas where traditional patterns of living still prevailed, the young child was afforded a certain degree of emotional security. But in the rapidly growing peri-urban shanty towns of the developing countries, the structure of the family was greatly weakened. There the young child was exposed to the emotional and social hazards that existed in any slum environment without even the limited benefit of such protective services as more prosperous countries had managed to provide many slum children. The mothers were often ill-prepared to cope with the adjustment required by city life and each economy. Even children still protected by the extended-family system might not be getting the best psychological start in life. Sharing in adult tasks from an early age, they were often "children without a childhood", lacking the important preparation for later development which was provided by the experience of gradual growth in childhood.
- 40. Governments of developing countries had tended to give priority to social programmes whose economic implications were immediately evident. It was easy to convince officials of the importance of eradicating diseases like malaria, which crimpled the agriculture and industry of entire provinces; it was also easy to convince them of the importance of educating young people to prepare them to take their place in a modern economy. However, it had been difficult to arouse interest in the plight of the young child specifically, and to create an awareness of the crucial importance of giving attention to this age group in terms of their future development as adults.
- 41. In many countries the social and psychological factors affecting the lives of young children had not been as fully recognized, nor had appropriate patterns of

care been established to the same extent, as in the fields of health and education. An increase in understanding of those issues was not only important as an end in itself, but would enhance the effectiveness of efforts made in health, education and related fields.

### Importance of the mother and the family

- 42. A point of primary emphasis in the Board's discussion was the importance of the mother and the family. It was clear that the main concentration in the near future should be on educating the mother to a better understanding of the needs of her young children. Lightening the mother's burden through such simple labour-saving devices as bringing water to the village, improving her social status, and giving her the opportunity to broaden her knowledge would benefit the young child immeasurably. The role of the father, including his responsibility for maintenance, also required fuller consideration in relation to the needs of the young child.
- 45. All programmes and services which raised family living standards benefited the young child, whose welfare was inseparable from the welfare of the family as a whole. Security within the family, with its crucial implications for the mother and the child, depended on a supporting social environment. Housing improvement programmes, programmes to achieve a more equitable distribution of income through land reform and other measures, rural and urban water supply projects, adult literacy compaigns, social assistance, all of these, though not classed as children's services as such, tended indirectly to improve the condition of the young child at home. Community development programmes being carried out in a number of countries under various names (e.g. animation rurale), were a particularly promising way of improving the welfare of the young child.

### Focusing attention on the young child

- 44. Merely to concentrate on the collective welfare of the family, however, would not be sufficient to provide the necessary care for the young child. The concept of the young child as a growing, unfolding individual required new approaches in child rearing and in the education of the parent and the community. There was a great need for popular education which could be a cried out through health centres, women's clubs, community centres and various community development channels. In the matter of nutrition, for example, it was not sufficient merely to increase supplies of protective foods; parents had to be taught the importance of giving protein- and vitamin-rich foods to young children, and in some cases, this involved changing long-established feeding habits. 7/
- 45. As a priority matter, an effort would have to be made to influence the thinking of the various people engaged in programmes such as health, education, nutrition, community development, social welfare and housing redevelopment. Everyone dealing with mothers, families and local community groups in any capacity should be enlisted in the campaign to emphasize the special needs of the young child and popularize better concepts of child development.

<sup>7/</sup> For the recommendations of the UNICEF/MHO Joint Committee on Health Policy with regard to improving the mutrition of the pre-school child, see paragraphs 152-159.

- 46. In that connexion attention was drawn to the importance of incorporating an understanding of child growth and development into the basic training of all professions which served children for example, health workers, teachers and social workers. There was also a need for more research into the processes of growing and learning and the conditions which influenced child development in various settings.
- 47. It was pointed out that the quickest results could probably be obtained by correcting and improving the methods of child-rearing now practised in the developing countries, without trying to revolutionize them all at once. In this way it would be possible to take advantage of local customs and leadership and graft better child-care practices on existing traditions.
- 47. Emphasis was given to the importance of using volunteers more widely since salaried personnel working directly with families were extremely scarce in the developing countries.
- 49. It was suggested that the mitrition of young children might be improved through the distribution of good, cheap, and attractively presented wearing foods, and that food-manufacturing concerns might be enlisted in this effort. Private business concerns might also be encouraged to establish more creches and day-care centres for the young children of employed mothers.

### Specific service for the young child

50. It was pointed out that while the most promising avenue of approach to the needs of the young child was through the family end in particular through the mother, creches, day-care centres, plant centres, and kindergartens also had en important place in a balanced programm. In poor urban areas, where many mothers were forced to work away from home, establishment of creches and day-care centres might be the only effective means of improving the condition of the young child.
However, centres should be available all mothers, whether or not they were working. Not only were more centres mieded but efforts should be made to make them true child centres, flexibly complementing family care and open to children either for the whole day or part of the day. Day-care centres provided a good opportunity for parent education, but to far very few had been used in that may. The experience in a few places where day-care centres used in the harvest senson later became a year-round operation suggested that day-care centres might play a valuable role in farm communities. The possibilities of "play centres" in villages, run by local young women trained on a para-professional basis, and involving the participation of the mother and other family members should be emplored. Since in many cases girls dropped out of school because, as older sisters, they were needed to look after the younger children, the provision of day-care centres would be an indirect contribution to better school attendance by the next generation of mothers. Older boys and girls, with some training and with support from adults, could function as helpers and teachers of the younger children, in a mutually beneficial relationship.

### Experiences compared

51. A number of representatives presented papers or oral reports on programmes benefiting the young child that were being carried out in their countries.

Representatives from some of the developed countries noted the persistence of social and enotional problems affecting young children even where the main health problems had been satisfactorily solved. Stress was laid on the importance of the emancipation of women in improving the condition of young children. The usefulness of day-care centres and creches to a society in the process of industrialization was commented upon. An emergency pre-school programme based on child centres connected with local churches was described. One representative described mobile exhibits in her country which taught mothers how to make simple toys and how to stimulate the children's creative imagination through play. Another referred to the important part grandmothers could play in caring for children - a point which should be stressed to young parents. Successful experience with family counselling and parent education was mentioned by one representative. Another described how providing water to villages relieved the burden on mothers in his country. The importance of immunization services was emphasized by some representatives.

### Conclusions of the Board

### The task ahead

52. Much had to be done to focus attention on the importance of giving the young child adequate care and on the possible consequences of neglect at this age on future growth and development. Decognition of the importance of this age group by parents, the community, and by the State, would bely provide the minsing This in ensuring the continuity of essential services from infancy through school age. Moreover, it might well provide a significant new incentive for strengthening existing programmes in the fields of health, mutrition, education, social welfare and community development.

### Emphasis on emisting programmes

- 55. The Board agreed that the greatest emphasis should be placed on reaching the young child through existing channels and established programmes. Everything possible should therefore be done to mobilize all swallable resources in order to improve and increase services to young children. National policies for children should take into account the needs of this critical age group. In the United Nations system, the advice and assistance of the technical agencies was needed. Non-governmental agencies could make an important contribution; in some countries they had pioneered in this Meld.
- 54. UNICEF's current policies regarding assistance for training, pilot projects, and programmes in the fields of health, nutrition, social welfare services and education made it possible for UNICEF to help countries meet the problem of the young child. It was clear, however, that much more could be done within these forms of UNICEF aid. The Board suggested that the Executive Director arrange for a person to have specific responsibility for ensuring that the necessary attention was given to encouraging action on behalf of the young child.
- 55. The Board believed that countries planning projects in verious fields assisted by UNICEF should be encouraged by UNICEF staff and by the co-operating technical agencies to pay special attention to the benefits that might accrue to the young child.

56. The Board also believed that it would be useful to bring to the attention of key persons in countries concerned with programmes which could benefit the young child some basic information about the needs of this age group, examples of practical ways to reach the group and the possibilities of UNICEF aid. The country reports and other materials presented at the Board's session could constitute a basic source for the preparation of this information.

### Assessments

- 57. The developing countries present such a variety of situations that it has to be assumed that any country seeking to reach the young child more effectively, with help from the outside, would assess the situation of its young children on the basis of the following factors:
  - (a) The situation in different parts of the country: urban, rural, etc.
- (b) The important objectives for the young child, such as improving nutrition, health, child-rearing practices, etc.
- (c) The possibilities of helping the young child directly, and of helping him through his mother, the family and the community.
- (d) The extent to which present services and training programms are benefiting the young child, and the ministry or administrative channels and other resources which can best be used, or adapted to use, for these purposes.
- 58. UNICEF assistance for such assessments could be available within the framework of the present global allocation for help with country planning and project preparation. The agencies of the United Mations system are also in a position to give technical help for such assessments.

### Co-operation of governmental departments

59. Usually it will be necessary for several ministries to co-operate if a comprehensive approach to the problems of the young child is to be found. The chart below lists some of the channels for services to the young child. It is by no means complete and is intended only to suggest the many approaches that may be explored. The channels and services will, of course, vary from country to country, and may be the responsibility of a ministry other than the one listed.

# Examples of channels for services to the young child

Ministry	with
primary	<i>r</i>
responsit	ility

Ministry with primary responsibility		Programme	
	Urban	Urban/rural	Rural
<u>Health</u>	liaternal and child health services (ICH centres, maternities, hospitals, etc.)		ICH pervices through basic health pervices
	Nutritional rehabilita- tion centres, Nutrition clinics Supplementary feeding		Invironmental samita- tion, including water supply
		Disease control campaigns	
Social Services	Orientation of mothers and parent education; day-care centres; social and neighbourhood cen- tres; playgrounds; resi- dential institutions;		
ing the second of the second o	and other measures to strengthen the family		
Community			liothercraft/Homecraft
<u>Development</u>			bienester rural, foyers feminins Play groups
Justice	Legislation covering paternal responsibility and protection of children		
Agriculture	Milk policy		Applied nutrition
Commerce	Commercialization of weaning foods other than milk		Home economics ex- tension services
		e Romania de la composição	Farmers' and co- operative organi- zations

Urben

Urban/rural

Rural

Education

Kindergartens Hursery schools Ecoles maternelles

> Parent teachers' associations Adult education of somen Earlier school starting (at 5 or 6)

Local government Clean and safe en-Urbanization and vironment

Housing

Adequate housing Playgrounds, etc. Local services

Labour

Employer responsibility for creches, housing, etc.

Information

Use of various media directed towards mothers, the public, and the professions

### Urban/rural priorities

60. While the chart shows the primary division of programmes into urban and rural, in many countries a high priority would have to be given to services for children in shanty-terms, to which families come without experience of how to deal with urban life. The rural areas would ordinarily come next in priority. The older established urban areas - provincial towns, or the incorporated areas of larger cities - would probably have third priority.

### Pilot areas

61. In view of the many unsolved problems and the absence of generally accepted methods for reaching mothers and children, it is assumed that countries will want to experiment with new ideas and test methods in pilot areas. UNICEF would be prepared to provide assistance for this purpose.

### Training

62. It is essential to introduce into the basic and in-service training of people in services coming into contact with children a greater understanding of the development of the young child and some orientation concerning his needs. This

applies to professional and sumiliary personnel in health, education, social service, community development, home economics, agricultural extension, and all the various channels which could be used to bring services to the young child (see chart above). Provision for field practice is important and could be a significant aspect of pilot projects. Conferences, seminars, and various information media reaching the professions could be encouraged. The normal forms of UNICEF assistance to training could be supplemented in order to bring this new emphasis to existing training schemes as well as to new courses.

### Educating and informing the public

63. So much depends on the education of nothers and the public generally that special efforts should be made for information programmer of a practical nature, using all available channels, including mass media (e.g. radio and television), and such activities as literacy classes. This will require the preparation and dissemination of information materials on the young child. UNICLE assistance could be given along the lines already established in various programmes for aid in the preparation of educational materials.

### Assessment of results

- 64. Assessment of the results of programmes was considered important by the Board. Provision should be made for such assessments to individual projects.
- 65. The global programme assessments prepared periodically for the Board (e.g. maternal and child health, family and child welfare) should contain special sections on how young children fare. In addition, the Executive Director should submit to the Board at its 1967 session a progress report on achievements in the care of young children.

### IV. PROGRAMME ASSISTANCE AND TRENDS

### Assistance approved

- 66. The Board reviewed the report of the Programme Committee on its 267th to 296th meetings held from 7 to 11 June 1965 (E/ICEF/P/L.637), and approved aid totalling approximately \$29.2 million in commitments and \$26.6 in allocations. These are lower amounts than assistance approved at recent Board sessions and reflect the tight financial situation of UNICEF (see paragraphs 25 and 35). Action on administrative and operational services (paragraphs 219 and 224) brought commitments approved at the session to \$36.4 million and allocations to \$33.7 million.
- 67. On the basis of the procedure adopted by the Board in Jamesry 1964 for fundraising for specific projects on behalf of UNICEF by national committees, 8/ it was possible to postpone allocations for six approved projects totalling \$329,000. 9/
- 68. Descriptions of each project for which aid was approved are given in annex V. Commitments and allocations which were approved by the Board, by major category of programme and by region and a summary of all commitments and all allocations are given in tables 4, 5 and 6 below.

<sup>8/</sup> See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council. Thirty-seventh Session, Supplement No. 3A (E/5868-E/REF/492), para. 104.

<sup>9/</sup> See E/ICEF/P/L.657, p.ra. 17; also para. 20 of the present report.

Table 4. Samary of comitments approved by the Excoutive Board in June 1965

# by readon and type of progresses

(in US dollars)

	٠			*					
	Africa	East Asia and Pekistan	South Ce.fra] Agia	fastern Hediterranean	Purope	file Americae	Inter-	fetal	\$ <b>1</b>
HEALTH	1.001.792	3,230,162	3,250,450	2,724,501	**************************************	4.526.733	159,000	15,040,402	सन्स
Health services	1,640,793	2,108,662	2,074,456	1,343,384	00 °C	200728	220,931	\$100,177	स्य
Disease centrol	153,000	1,121,500	1,276,000	111181	673	1.609.722	-	21542,105	771
Telecto	75,000	629,000	\$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$ \$		835	2,609,600,E	• •	1,619,866	10 50 00 00 00 00
Trachona	76,000	64,500	199,000			•	•	200	Z.
Other B	• •	758°048	20'64	.=	• •	. 1	• •	117	ğ.,
MUTRITIO.	ळाल्हाग	33727	201.00	83778	28 917	808-1853	-	735.925.4	7
Applied nutrition Hilk conservation	479,800 703,300	32, CCO	10,00	93,000	115,000	237,400		1,000,200	 
FALIDY & CHILD VILLEARS	24,300	14100	ठ्यान	0.50 <b>*06(</b>		ळाजा	-	702.200	7
ert 6/710i	2,281,900	248,640	2,449,500	1661C(0	3307-1	223,602		\$1818.40	क्षण
VCCATICI'AL TRAJIIING	000° 03	4			ange.	н		83.800	arra arra
or an 2/	, 4	-	-		-	745.879	814791309	\$1844.20E	7
Total for Lendaria of Aif	5,483,993	3,651,162	5,917,950	2,173,501	Pre, 299	6,759,133	2,689,30	113,080,812	20,23
BIERGII CY AID								348,073	2
†c†Al,				B G T S				21,195,705	100,00
PPE10 T				distant.				8,000,000	
TCTAL FROGRATIE ALD				沙克斯內學				79,195,285	
Operational mervices for 1968 Adrinistrative tests for 1986		3	;	The state of	1			4,649,800 E, 528,200	
ONI I TOTAL			: !	•				36,411,705	
		1 : 4 · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		*p-3					

A fronts sintrol.

I including activities for children and youth in military is endered by the frequence constants fundings \$204,500, and Intermalianal Children's Centrol \$2,350,000.

table 5. Secraty of allocations approved by the Excoutive Board in tune 1965

ty region and type of programs
(in US delians)

	Africa	East Asia ard Jakisten	South Central Asia	Eestern Kediterranean	n Europe	The Americas	Inter- rectonal	Total	Sep.
III ALTH	1,699,793	299'199'3	3,457,458	2,793,501	4C, 035	4,542,233	15,000	14,716,48	25.5
lieult, services	1,399,793	1,771,662	1,946,456	776,384	000°0¥	003.500	15,00	6.023.797	<b>डा</b> ध
Disease control falaria	301.00	000	268,000 869,000	1,52,56,1	3,8	5,694,122 5,686,12 8,14	· · ·	2, 386, CCC 1, 586, CCC 1, 586, 166	
18/nc., Trepoly Lepoly Other 2/	70,000 148,00	000	199,000	11,600	• • •			421,000 46,000 76,111	0.10
luthiti: Applied nutrition Milk scraervation High protein food development	625,100 258,800 360,300	000 A 4	000 586	35 TE	415, 424 115,000 300, 424	104,400 104,400	234,000 234,000 100,000	1,924,700 1,924,700 606,724 100,000	4855
FAPILY & CHILD VELVALE	246,289	000127	76.000	SQ THE		ळाळ	-	179.189	3
ELCOTTOR	1.832.919	0377	משיומויו	237773	020 PT	क्यास	1	336105016	व्या
Vocytio AL TREET'S	141.850		225,050	\$ 1	DE L'ANDRE	-	-	320.000	भ्रम
OTH. R. 20				-		887 <b>67</b>	\$ <b>%</b> "#\$	12 Tes	NT.
TCT-L FCR LO G-RATGE ATT	4, 547, 893	3,445,6	5,760,46	1,717,401	\$c9'58	9,370,633	699, 30.4	25,117,712	3.8
PREBAR, CY ALF			÷					346,003	=
TCF/L								27.44.705	100.00
1104								3,100,100	
foful incon na all								76, 562,785	
istinated operational services Estimated administrative costs	(lest eix	<del></del>	(9)					200 194 1.7 200 194 1.7	
istimated operational services [setimated administrative costs]	(liret six	x . onthe of 1966)	(996)	v .e. h				1,00,100	
GRALD TCT/L				*				33,700,263	
g/ includin tilhartistic sontroli \$76,000 b/ inclucing activities for children and you attract \$400,000.	dren and you	and agreeds controli with the entional develop	and aposals controls \$117. th in casional development that		Marie separate realings		is and fatering	4PM,1009 and fotomerstones Californ'	•

Be

Pa Ed

Vo Ot

Tc

B

Tc

Fı

G1

69 or st

Table 6. Summary of programme commitments and allocations approved at the June 1965 session of the Board

	Number	Commitmen	its	Allocati	ons
	of projects	Amount (in thousands of US dollars)	Per cent of total	Amount (in thousands of US dollars)	Fer cent of total
Health	113	15,843.5	<b>5</b> 8	14,716.5	65
Health services	(64)	(8,301.3)	(30)	(6,825.8)	(29)
Disease control	(½9)	(7,542.2)	(æ)	(7,892.7)	(34)
Nutrition	23	1,770.9	7	2,690.9	12
Family and child welfare	22	709-3	3	576.3	2
Education	33	5,818.4	21	4,040.9	17
Vocational training	2	63.8	0	<b>358.</b> 8	. 2
Other	6	2,644.3	10	694.3	_ 3
Total long-range aid excluding freigh	199	26,850.2	99	23,117.7	99
Emergency aid	1	345.1	1	345.1	1
Total programme aid excluding freight	200	27,195.3	100	25,462.8	100
Freight		2,000.0		3,100.0	
Grand total, programme aid		29,195.3		8,502,8	

<sup>69.</sup> At the close of the session there was a balance of \$28.1 million in commitments outstanding for future allocation, including \$24.5 million for programmes. This is shown in detail in annex VI, table 4.

The state of the s

70. It will be noted from table 6 that the number of projects for which aid was approved totalled 200. Of these, 171 depresented the continuation or extension of projects already assisted. Because of the financial situation of UNICEF, only twenty-nine new projects were submitted for approval. The allocations for these new projects totalled less than 10 per cent of the programme allocations.

71. At the close of the session UNICEF was providing aid for a total of 540 long-range projects, as is shown in table 7. Aid was approved for the first time for Mongolia, bringing to 118 the number of Governments currently aided by UNICEF.

Table 7. Long-range projects assisted by UNICEF at the close of the June 1965 session of the Board

	Airica	South Central Asia	East Asia and Palistan	Eastern Nediter- ranean	Burope	The Americas	Inter- regional	Total currently assisted projects
H <b>ealth</b> services	56	9	33	15	3	50	3	189
Disease control	2.11 (1988) (1971) 50	5	<u>2</u> 6	18	1	<u> </u>	ne guangus dingin ir s dinama ba uggangan i piningdiga 	136
Nutrition	34	૮	9	11	7	य	4	98
Family and child welfare	34	2	10	9	**	16	*	65
Education	55	5	Ł	9	1	12	-	55
Vocational training	1	1	1	1	2	Ť	-	10
Other <u>b</u> /	-	-	-	-	-	2	5	7
TOTAL	197	26	्य	63	15	141	12	540

a/ Including Afghanistan, Ceylon, India, Mongolia and Mepal.

b/ Including six projects for children and youth in national development which are separately funded, and the International Children's Centre, Paris.

72. The number of projects aided was a matter of concern to several delagations: in view of UNICEF's limited funds, it might be well to consider whether UNICEF's resources were not being spread too thin. UNICEF should be in a position to help countries tackle the main problems of their children in a comprehensive manner, and this might require a reduction in the number of projects; those that were of doubtful effectiveness should be discontinued. Concern was also expressed about the fact that owing to the tight financial situation, less than 10 per cent of programme funds was available for new projects. This might prevent UNICEF from continuing its dynamic role of helping to launch activities rather than supporting them indefinitely. The hope was expressed that the secretarist would review projects in order to ascertain for which ones aid might be terminated in an orderly way, and that the review would be reflected in the recommendations for assistance put before the Board in 1966. At that time, the Board might reconsider the current policy of giving priority to continuing projects.

### Progress reports

- 75. The Executive Board had before it a series of reports by the UNICEF secretariat reviewing UNICEF activities in the past year. These reports included a note on the main issues to be considered by the Board and a summary of the financial situation and other matters of general interest (2/RCF/511), and a note containing a discussion of trends in the major fields of aid and a forecast of requests for assistance in 1966 and 1967 (E/ICEF/511/Add.1). The reports were introduced by the Deputy Executive Director (Operations) 10/ and the Deputy Executive Director (Programmes). 11/ In addition, the Board had before it regional programme progress reports on Africa South of the Sahara (T/IETF/511/1000) (E/ICEF/511/Add-2), Europe-end-Horth-Africa (2/2027/911/100:7); East Atia End" Pakistan (E/ICEF/511/Add.4), South Central Asia (E/ICEF/511/Add.5), the Eastern Mediterranean (E/ICEF/511/Add.6), and the Americas (E/ICEF/511/Add.7). These reports were introduced by the directors of the various regions. In addition the representatives of the Bureau of Social Affairs of the United Fations Sceretariat and the representatives of ILO, FAO, UNESCO and WHO made statements on the programmes of their agencies of interest to UNICEF and had occasion also to participate in the Board's discussion of various agenda items.
- 74. At the end of its review and debate on the progress reports of the Executive Director and the regional directors, the Executive Board came to the following conclusions:
- (a) It approved the reports on the activity of the UNICEF secretariat in the implementation of programmes of assistance to children of developing countries in the fields of health, control of serious diseases, nutrition, education, vocational training, social welfare and emergency assistance.
- (b) It recognized the great efforts being made by developing countries to implement the various programmes receiving UNICEF aid and welcomed the increasing attention being given by countries to the needs of their children and the efforts made to meet these needs as part of national plans for economic and social development.

<sup>10/</sup> Statement subsequently circulated in E/ICEF/523.

<sup>11/</sup> Statement subsequently circulated in E/ICEF/526.

- (c) It reiterated and confirmed its policy that in giving the greatest possible attention to the most effective use of UNICEF aid, the following elements should be stressed:
  - (i) The necessity of helping countries to develop the basic services thich benefit children and to concentrate on priority programmes directed at the main problems of their children;
  - (ii) The need to include training as an essential element in programmes;
  - (iii) The importance under such an approach of directing greater efforts to the preparation of projects;
  - (iv) The fact that while the emphasis would be on larger and more comprehensive projects, other projects having government priority which were of a pilot or experimental nature, or had a promising growth potential would also be supported.
- (d) The Board believed that in seeking ways of meeting the problems of children and youth, UNICEF should take full advantage of the relevant experience of all countries.
- 75. The following paragraphs refer to points which emerged in the Programme Committee's and Board's discussion of progress in various fields of aid, in addition to the points discussed in connexion with the report of the UNICEF/MHO Joint Committee on Health Policy (see paragraphs 120-159) and the PRO/UNICEF Joint Policy Committee (see paragraphs 161-192).

### Health

- 76. Health programmes benefiting children continued to receive the largest portion of UNICEF aid. At the close of the June 1965 session of the Board, some form of health assistance, provided in co-operation with 1880, was being given to 105 countries. A sum of \$15.8 million, or 58 per cent of programme commitments, was for health programmes, of which 30 per cent was for basic health services and 20 per cent for disease control.
- 77. Over the years UNICEF had spent more than 500 million on technical equipment, transport, and training of staff for over 7,000 health centres providing services for mothers and children, and for three times as many sub-centres. While the organization of these health centres and sub-centres, and their supporting services represented a major achievement for the developing countries, nevertheless, in terms of the total need it was only a beginning. Although the percentage of families in the developing countries which were in any way served by health networks was not known, it was probably between 5 and 10 per cent, and in many places the services provided were still rudimentary. It was clear that to bring adequate health services to the children of the developing countries would call for major, sustained effort in the years shead.
- 78. As the meetings of the Frogramme Committee and of the Board, stress was laid on the importance of the development of national health services which included, as an essential element, services to mothers and children; the integration of specialized campaigns against communicable diseases into the health services; the

training of various categories of health personnel; and the development of projects which were comprehensive in scope, combining several related activities such as health, mutrition, education, community development and social services. It was suggested in the Board that greater advantage could be taken of the experience of paediatric centres in some developing countries, and that greater aid should be given to increase the number of such centres. Some delegations, while recognizing the necessity for UNICEF aid to disease control compaigns, were anxious to see a more rapid decrease in this form of aid in favour of an increase in basic health services. The importance of environmental samitation for the well-being of children was stressed and it was pointed out that developing countries could do a good deal more if they had greater outside assistance. The relationship of basic health services to disease control activities was discussed by the Board in connexion with the report of the UNICEF/MRC Joint Committee on Health Policy (see paragraphs 121-126).

- 79. Currently UNICEF was helping twenty-eight countries in their campaigns against malaria and the commitments in this field approved by the Board at its June 1965 session accounted for 20 per cent of all programme commitments. It was pointed out in the Board that in the Americas alone, over 30 million persons had been protected by campaigns now in the consolidation phase, and over 20 million were in areas protected by regular spraying as a part of campaigns in the attack phase; of these 50 million persons substantially protected from malaria, 20 million were children. The Programme Committee noted the progress of various campaigns, the difficulties and delays in some, and the remedial action taken or in progress. Some delegations reiterated a view, expressed at previous sessions, that in instances where it appeared that difficulties could not be surmounted, it would be better to use UNICEF funds for other purposes.
- 80. UNICEF was currently assisting tuberculosis projects in forty-five countries and the commitments approved totalled 6 per cent of all programme commitments approved at the June 1965 session of the Board. A number of the projects approved by the Board, all of them for continuations of aid, showed a welcome trend toward the integration of tuberculosis control into general public health plans. The Board noted a recent estimate that BCG vaccination campaigns, one of the earliest of the health activities aided by UNICEF, had prevented one million cases of tuberculosis. 12/ In the Programme Committee it was pointed out by the representative of WHO that experience had demonstrated that those developing countries which were prepared to recrient traditional approaches in tuberculosis control in accordance with present-day knowledge could expect to make good progress with limited resources. It was indispensable, however, for such countries to receive outside aid, particularly supplies of primary drugs and vaccine.
- of trachema continued to be supported by UMICEF in twelve countries, although commitments in this field at the June 1965 session amounted only to 1.5 per cent of programme commitments. Over 400 million persons were afflicted with the disease, which remained the greatest single world cause of progressive loss of sight. In the Programme Committee the question was raised whether, in view of the far-reaching, effects of the disease, there should not be greater concern on the part of Governments and UMICEF to extend trachema control work. The UMICEF secretariat reported that sympathetic consideration was given to all such

<sup>12/</sup> For a discussion of the role of BCG in tuberculosis control, see paragraphs 140-144.

possibilities; however, problems of organization, arising in particular from the need for regular treatment and supervision, were great, and in view of the cost factors, some Governments had preferred to concentrate upon expanding their general health centre network, as an essential priority.

82. Aid for your control continued in twelve countries, including ten in Africa. Aid for leprosy, which was supported by UNICEF in thirty-four countries, including twenty-three in Africa, and which in June 1965 accounted for 1 per cent of the programme commitments, was discussed in detail by the Board in commexion with the report of the UNICEF/WHO Joint Committee on Health Policy (see paragraphs 145-151).

### Nutrition

83. UNICEF, in co-operation with FAO and WHO, is currently assisting ninety-nine nutrition projects, in sixty-seven countries. UNICEF commitments for nutrition approved at the June 1965 session totalled \$1.8 million, or 6.5 per cent of all programme commitments. This constituted a falling off in assistance from recent years, reflecting the fact that there was a decline in the number of new applied nutrition projects, that aid for the production of high-protein wearing foods was still at a modest level, and that aid for milk conservation had been declining. The latter situation resulted from the fact that by now milk plants had been or were being, established in most of the larger milk supply areas in the developing countries, either with international or bilateral aid; or with conservable capital. In the Board's discussion the decrease in UNICEF aid for nutrition programmes was noted with concern because of the seriousness of child nutrition problems in developing countries. The Board's action regarding future aid in this crucial field is described in the chapter on its consideration of the report of the FAO/UNICEF Joint Policy Committee (see paragraphs 161-192).

### Family and child welfare

84. Commitments for family and child welfare projects at the June 1965 session totalled \$709,000, or 2.6 per cent of all programme commitments. At the end of the session, UNICEF, in co-operation with the Bureau of Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat, was assisting sixty-five family and child welfare projects, in forty-nine countries. Projects in this field were directed toward improving the care of children both within and outside their homes, through day-nurseries and various child welfare and youth agencies, as well as through community development projects and women's clubs in rural areas. Although there had been no significant increase in the number of countries requesting this form of aid, and although the total level of UNICEF aid remained modest, there was some broadening of projects, in part through the development of social centres in which social welfare services, health programmes and eductaional and recrational activities could be combined. The centres already established were providing opportunities for family-centred social education, community participation and the improvement of community life. Some of the projects were beginning to extend to rural areas services originally provided only in urban settings. Some delegations stressed the importance of voluntary efforts to improve the living conditions of rural population, which could be encuraged by community development programmes. Several delegations expressed the hope that UNICEF aid in this field would be increased. The Board agreed to consider an assessment of family and child welfare projects at its 1966 session (see paragraph 97).

### Education and vocational training

- 85. UNICEF, working in co-operation with UNESCO and ILO, began assisting education and vocational training programmes only in 1961. Governments have been easer for UNICEF aid in this field and at the end of the June 1965 session fifty-five education projects, including twenty-two in Africa, and nine vocational education projects were being aided. Commitments at the June 1965 session of the Board accounted for \$5.9 million, or 22 per cent of the total programme commitments. The Programme Committee called attention to the fact that the individual projects approved showed clearly the large gap between the high priority goals of Governments in the field of education, and the facilities at present available, in terms both of numbers of qualified teachers and of schools.
- 86. The need to adapt education to work and life prospects was being felt by Government leaders in countries where traditionally education had been reserved for those who were being prepared for white-collar employment. There was growing concern about the relationship of primary, secondary and vocational education. In addition, many countries were facing the problem of under-educated children, including those who had dropped out of school, and those who had never attended; and there was recognition of the imbalance of education as between boys and girls.
- 87. Board members were glad to see that, in the projects, emphasis was being placed on providing education that would prepare school children for modern life. Various measures were being taken to that end: for example, courses in marcal arts, agriculture and science were added to the curriculum. The fact that health and nutrition education, as well as wocational education, were being stressed as part of the primary school curriculum was also welcomed, and it was felt that teachers should be trained in these fields as a matter of high priority. The Board was aware that a close working relationship had developed between the UNICEF and UNESCO secretariats. The Board's attention was directed to the fact that in several countries where the Special Fund had provided aid for educational and vocational training at an advanced level, UNICEF provided complementary aid at a more elementary level. The suggestion was made by several delegations that the time was approaching when the possibility of establishing a procedure for joint consultations with the UNESCO governing body might be considered, possibly through a joint policy committee, as with FAO and WHO.

### Children and youth in national development

88. In 1962 the UNICEF Executive Board decided that UNICEF should assist developing countries in taking account of children and youth in their development programmes. As a practical result of such assistance, more national resources would be devoted to the priority problems of children and youth, and those resources would be used more effectively. Moreover, by being linked to national development programmes, UNICEF and other outside aid benefiting children could be used to greater advantage. The major interest of UNICEF was not in planning as such but in ensuring that national planning provided the younger generation with proper protection and prepared it to make an appropriate contribution to national development. 13/

<sup>13/</sup> A statement made to the Board at its June 1965 session by the Director for Planning summarizing the UNICEF approach in this field was subsequently circulated as E/ICEF/527.

- 89. For activities in this field which required separate funding, the Board approved at its June 1965 session commitments totalling \$394,000. Regional conferences on children and youth in national planning and development are to be held in Bangkok from 15 to 24 September 1965 and in Santiago from 29 November through 11 December 1965. The purpose of the conferences, co-sponsored by UNICEF and the regional economic commissions and regional development institutes is to study the needs of children and youth in these regions, to examine present approaches followed by Governments in meeting these needs, and to consider how to improve the methods and organization for taking account of the younger generation in national development. A number of Executive Board members welcomed these conferences, which they believed would serve a highly useful purpose, and looked forward to reviewing the results of the conferences at the 1966 session of the Board.
- 90. UNICEF aid for children and youth in national development also includes grants to the Latin American and Asian planning institutes for the financing of faculty posts and fellowships to acquaint planners with the problems of children and youth, and for acquainting those people directly serving children with aspects of development planning. Aid is also given to supplement the research and advisory services given by the institutes. One of the allocations made at the June 1965 session was for a seminar and projects to acquaint planners from French-speaking African countries with the basic problems of children and youth in national development; another was for a study to be undertaken on behalf of UNICEF by the United Hations Research Institute for Social Development at Geneva on how to take account of the younger generation in national development plans. These projects were generally welcomed by Board members; although several continue that unitershould be careful not to enter too far into the field of theoretical and statistical studies. In making plans for its May 1966 session at Addis Ababa the Board provided for a special three-day meeting dealing with the needs of and programmes for African children and youth in the context of national development (see paragraph 238).
- 91. The Board was informed that the UNICEF secretarist had been in touch with many of the agencies administering bilateral or multilateral aid in the industrially advanced countries. In addition, UNICEF field representatives tried to keep in touch with sources of external aid, notably bilateral and multilateral aid, which might be brought to bear on the needs of children. Throughout the year there were many informal discussions in the field to ensure co-ordination of aid from diverse sources and to avoid wasteful duplication. It was pointed out in the Board that this co-ordinating process was most effective where the developing countries had assumed the major responsibility for co-ordination and planning.

### Other programme activities

### Training

92. In all fields Governments were giving high priority to the training of personnel in their requests for UNICEF aid. (cumntitatively, by far the greatest effort was going into the training of auxiliary staff or "front line workers". Such staff could be trained quickly and without great expense to perform many useful services. Sometimes they were able and willing to work under field

conditions that highly trained staff were less willing to telerate. With good supervisory support, they were the mainstay of many UNICEF-aided projects in the developing countries. Board members generally commended this emphasis but recognized the necessity for supervision and for professional skill in planning, directing and reviewing the work in the field, and for teaching. They therefore welcomed UNICEF support of selected university-level or post-graduate courses - both nationally and regionally - as well as of professional training in various fields such as social work, education and home economics.

### International Children's Centre

- 95. The Board approved a commitment of \$2,350,000 to continue support of the International Children's Centre (ICC) in Paris for the five-year period 1967-1971 on the understanding that an equal amount would be provided by the French Government. The UNICEF Board, in response to an invitation of the Bureau of the ICC Executive Board, suthorized its Chairman to appoint a person, from among the representatives to the UNICEF Board, preferably with greater interest in economic and social than in health problems, to serve as a member of the ICC Executive Board. As in the case of other members of the ICC Board, this person would serve in his personal capacity.
- 94. Both in the Programme Committee and the Executive Board, the Centre's work in training, research, and information was praised by a large number of delegations. The training programme, which included a variety of courses and special seminars, had been progressively decentralized from Paris to the developing countries in recent years. Some delegations expressed the view that UNICEF should also study the possibility of beloing establish similar contres in developing areas. Several delegations, while paying tribute to the excellent work of the Centre, questioned the appropriateness of the continuing UNICEF financing of one-half its programme, particularly without any arrangement having been made for the eventual termination of UNICEF aid; in the Frogramme Committee two delegations abstained in the vote on the commitment to the Centre in order to emphasize this point of view. The representative of France stated that it was understandable that after a long period of co-operation new formulas for joint action in financing should be required. During the next five years, the French Government would envisage negotiations with UNICEF regarding those matters. 14/

### **Assessments**

95. In January 1964, the Board considered the need for better programme assessments, both at the national level and at the international level, and decided that UNICEF should encourage and support more systematic assessments. The Board recognized that different measures would be required for the two levels. The assessment of country projects was primarily the responsibility of the countries themselves; but a global assessment of the broad categories of assisted programmes must be made on an international basis from time to time in order to inform and guide the Board in reviewing programme policies.

<sup>14/</sup> See E/ICEF/P/L.637, paras. 81-90.

- 96. Specific provision for evaluations were now becoming a normal part of planning of individual projects. In relation to the global assessment of fields of aid, the Board had before it at its June 1965 session a review of leprosy control projects (see paragraph 145); and a preliminary study of the socio-economic effects of dairying in developing countries (see paragraph 186). The Board believed that experience in making these two studies had demonstrated the importance of adequate advance preparation, including particularly joint field visits by UNICEF and the interested technical organizations.
- 97. The Board agreed on the following schedule for its review of global assessments:

In 1966: Family and child relfare,

Wilk conservation programmes;

In 1967: Applied mutrition,

Maternal and child health;

In 1968: Environmental sanitation and water supplies.

Assessment of other categories of aid, such as education and vocational training, would be prepared for later Board sessions when there has been more experience with such projects.

#### Experience with local costs

- 98. The Executive Board had before it an analysis of UNICEF aid in the form of local costs for the three-year period 1962-1964 (E/ICEF/518). In 1961 when it established the current UNICEF policy on provision of local costs, 15/ the Board had set no special limitation on the percentage of total project allocations which could be used for local costs. It had recognized that once every effort had been made to secure essentially needed local funds from the Governments' own resources, or from bilateral or multilateral funds, or from voluntary agencies, it might still be necessary for UNICEF to provide for some local costs in order to make the project effective.
- 99. The analysis showed that during the three-year period, 15 per cent of assistance allocations was used for local costs, the largest amounts being used in Africa and Asia. By far the largest part of local costs had been provided as stipends for within-country training programmes. While emphasis had been on the training of auxiliary staff categories, there had been growing attention also to the training of trainers and supervisors. Field reports had shown that for many countries this form of aid had permitted training on a larger scale and in a shorter period of time than would otherwise have been possible. For some types of programmes education, vocational training, and family and child welfare the use of local costs for training was often the most effective way for UNICEF support to be given. The experience had been that by and large when the value of a

<sup>15/</sup> See Official Records of the Economic and Social Council. Thirty-second Session, Supplement No. 13B (E/5525-E/ICEF/431), paras. 112-117.

training programme had been demonstrated, increased local financing was forthcoming.

100. UNICEF funds to help meet local expenditures had also been used for salaries, salary supplements and field allowances for key senior personnel where adequate leadership could not be secured without this kind of incentive. In this case, however, UNICEF aid had been limited to a period of a few years, and had been granted only on the understanding that the Government would take over the responsibility after the initial period.

101. The analysis of local costs had been prepared in response to a request from one delegation which had expressed the hope that UNICEF would not take on as a continuing burden support of local costs, as such costs should be the primary responsibility of the Governments concerned. The delegation stated that it was reassured by the report, which was approved by the Board.

# Requests not submitted to the Programme Committee

102. The Board noted that, as requested by the Programme Committee in June 1964, the Secretariat had prepared a report on formal requests for aid received in the interim period and not put forward to the Programme Committee (E/ECF/P/L/605). This report gave information not only on such requests but also presented a discussion of the way in which informal discussions between UNICEF staff and Governments were conducted and some of the reasons why such informal requests might not be developed into formal requests.

103. The Committee felt that it had had a useful review of this question and that a review along the same lines should be continued at future sessions. It would, however, be desirable for the Committee to have additional information available about consultations with Governments on trends in the needs of children as reflected in inquiries concerning the availability of UTICEF aid, and about why the secretariat was having to discourage such inquiries. The Committee recognized that this might not lend itself to a statistical presentation but that it would be a general review of trends, particularly as seen from the standpoint of regional directors. The Committee considered that it would be useful to have this information for a year or two to assess the areas of concern and interest of developing countries with regard to UNICEF assistance which did not now fall within present policies. Also it might indicate to the Programme Committee and the Board the nature of the choice which had to be made when UNICEF funds were limited. If this type of information proved useful, the practice could be extended; if not, the Programme Committee would decide to discontinue the procedure.

#### Special areas of concern

104. Aside from the special problems discussed elsewhere in this report, there was considerable concern in the Board with some other special areas. Growing urbanization and the development of shanty towns in many areas had resulted in the disruption of family life for children, leaving them without adequate services for their protection and development. There was a great need for integrated programmes to alleviate the condition of children in such conditions; of special urgency was the plight of new in-migrants into the slums of the cities.

105. There was concern also in the Doard with the problem of out-of-school and out-of-work youth in many countries. It had been pointed out in the Programme Committee that there was an increase in the number of countries requesting UFICEF aid for youth programmes and that it would be useful for the Board to consider the age groups to which UNICEF aid could be extended and the type of aid which could be given.

106. The effect of UNICEF aid on improvement in the status of momen in developing countries was noted. Although many countries, particularly in Africa, had made a good beginning in women's education (the so-called "mothercraft/homecraft" projects), much more needed to be done along those lines in the future. Furthermore, the role of trained women was critical in services for children and youth and it was important for many thousands of women to acquire the necessary technical shills and professional status in national training schemes which could be helped by UNICEF. 16/

# Possible role of UNICEF in family planning

107. The possible future role of UNICEF aid for family planning activities within the context of maternal and child health services was raised in the course of the general debate when one delegation proposed that the question be placed on the agenda of the next Board session and that the Executive Director be requested to prepare a report for that session, in consultation with WHO and other relevant organizations. The report should include information on the requests for aid in this field which UNICEF had received and should outline the scope and type of assistance which UNICEF might provide. WHO would be asked to advise on the health aspects of such a programme. In addition the Executive Director should submit to the Board one or two requests for aid to activities in this field from Governments which gave such activities high priority.

108. The delegation pointed out that many developing countries faced enormous difficulties in raising the level of living of their population because economic and social achievements had not been sufficient to keep up with population growth. This had led a number of them to adopt a population policy which encouraged family planning. Each country should be able to develop a population policy which was suited to its economic, social, religious and cultural circumstances, which remitted freedom of choice to individual families in accordance with their moral values and social goals, and which was directed towards securing a rate of population growth consistent with the country's goals for raising the levels of living. Since UNICEF's primary concern was the bealth and well-being of mothers and children, UNICEF's role in family planning should be examined in that context. UNICEF had provided extensive support for maternal and child health services, and the trend was towards an increase in such support. While the scope of such services might vary in different countries, an essential element was always maternity care. That care, if it was to be good and comprehensive, should not only provide services during pregnancy and delivery, but also prepare the mother for subsequent child-bearing and enable couples to choose when the next pregnancy should take place. In view of the recent resolution of WHO on the health aspects of world population (WHA 18.49), it could be expected that a number of developing countries with family planning programmes would seek advice from UHO and assistance from UNICEF. Without wishing to prejudge the nature of UNICEF assistance, the delegation believed that special emphasis might be put on the training of personnel engaged in maternal and child health work.

<sup>16/</sup> The effects of UNICEF-assisted programmes on women, and the contribution of women to UNICEF-aided programmes was the subject of a study prepared in 1965 for the Commission on the Status of Momen (E/CN.6/455/Add.).

109. A number of delegations associated themselves with the proposal and advanced some additional points. The problem was an urgent one and therefore it was high time for UNICEP to define its cum policies. The action of the MEO Assembly in making available advisory services on the health aspects of human reproduction, in effect opened the door for UNICEF to enter the field, in co-operation with WHO. The controversy over family planning was more apparent than real since it was not UNICEF but the crantry concerned which decided what population policy it should follow: UNICE aid would undoubtedly encourage those countries which wished to take action. Notwithstanding insdequacies in present-day knowledge, it was clear that practical steps could be taken, based upon research and work already done; it might also be possible, to some extent, to experiment with new approaches. A number of countries, both developed and developing, had found the current knowledge sufficient to enable them to undertake extensive programmes. Family planning was important not only because of population problems but as a measure to strengthen family life. It was pointed out that in order to reach mothers in significant numbers, it would be necessary to expand maternal and child health networks. The suggestion was made that much could also be done through both formal and adult education activities. One representative stated that his Government would be prepared to consider the possibility of providing special financial assistance in the form of funds-in-trust administered by UNICEF for projects which aided family planning.

110. On the other hand, some delegations, while not opposing placing the question on the agenda of the next Board session, voiced misgivings about UNICEF becoming directly concerned with aid for family planning. They counselled caution in any approach to such an important and complicated problem, which was the concern of a number of other bodies, about thich there were so many doubts, and concerning which much still needed to be known.

111. One delegation stated that it was incorrect to link inadequate national economic growth with over-population and then to attribute the inadequate economic growth to excessive population. Experience had shown that birth rates declined only after a significant rise in levels of living and education, a reduction in infant mortality, and an improvement in health services. It would be premature for UNICEF, in a spirit of unjustified optimism, to begin work in this field and take a more radical and far-reaching position than WEO, which was only about to begin studying the scientific and information aspects of the problem and still had to consider the report its Director-General was to prepare in this field. Reliable scientific means of birth control in developing countries which were simple to use, cheap, and not dangerous to women, had still to be found. Even if such means were available they could not be easily placed at the disposal of the population because of the relatively small numbers reached by maternal and child health centres. Moreover, the possibilities of UNICEF taking serious action in family planning were restricted by its limited funds. The delegation pointed out that its reservations regarding UNICEF action were not based on religious, ethical, or social objections to family planning as such; it had no objection if the staff at maternal and child health centres which received UNICEF aid gave advice and information on family planning to women who asked for it. It believed that if specific requests for aid were brought to the Board at its next session this might, in effect, prejudice the decision in favour of UNICEF's participation in family planning before the question had been considered in all its aspects.

112. In the reservations voiced by other delegations additional points were made. It was stated that UNICEF was already making a contribution by belping mothers care for their children better and by aiding other indirect measures which enhanced the value of the individual child and encouraged parents to have smaller families. As in other fields of aid financed by UNICEF, unanimity and the assurance that the results obtained would be correct were important. UNICEF should not embark on an activity which could tarnish its well-deserved prestige, gained over the years by direct and successful action on behalf of children; contributions to UNICEF might even be affected. Many bodies were concerned with repulation problems and with finding effective solutions which would respect moral and human values and the natural laws of mankind, and this task should be left to them. While efforts were being concentrated on studying the scientific aspects of the problem, including finding effective and non-harmful means of controlling family size, progress could be made in improving the quality of national staff which might, at some stage, be involved in providing advice and information to mothers.

113. The representative of the World Health Organization described the development of 1810's programme relating to the health aspects of world population and outlined the Organization's future activities with regard to busen reproduction. The biology of human reproduction was insufficiently known and it had important public health implications because of the biological, medical, social, cultural and economic factors involved. Since 1965, six scientific groups had been convened to study various aspects of the problem, five reports had already been published in the Organization's Technical Report Series and two more groups were scheduled to meet towards the end of 1965. The programme had included the preparation of a bibliography and critical review of world liberature on the subject and en inventory of research institutions and scientists working on human reproduction. Information and supply services to research had been provided. Studies on health aspects of population dynamics had been carried out. Research grants and research training grants as well as grants for the exchange of research workers had been awarded. An Expert Advisory Panel on the Biology of Human Reproduction had been set up. Further studies and meetings of scientific groups and reference and advisory services were being considered as part of the future programme.

Il4. The resolution adopted at the Eighteenth World Health Assembly (MHA 16.49), in its preamble, recognized, inter alia, that "the size of the family should be the fire choice of each individual family", that "it is a matter for national administrations to decide whether and to what extent they should support the provision of information and services to their people on the health aspects of human reproduction" and that "it is not the responsibility of WHO to endorse or promote any particular population policy".

115. In its operative part, the resolution approved the report submitted by the Director-General and requested him to develop further the programme proposed in the field of reference services and studies on medical aspects of sterility and fertility control methods and health aspects of population dynamics. It also requested the Director-General to provide advisory services in the form of technical advice on the health aspects of human reproduction within the responsibilities of WHO.

116. Within the framework of the Assembly resolution and of the collaboration between MHO and UNICEF, WHO would be happy to furnish UNICEF with any technical information and advice it might need.

117. The representative of the Dureau of Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat, in her general statement regarding programme developments of interest to UNICEF, pointed out that one of the main concerns of the Population Commission at its thirteenth session had been how the United Nations could belp countries solve their population problems. The Commission had reaffirmed that it was for each Government to decide its own population policy and had been unanimous in the view that measures aimed at modifying population trends should not be regarded as substitutes for the most energetic efforts to expand production, reduce unemployment and underemployment, where those problems existed, and provide adequate facilities for education, public health and other essential social services. The Commission's discussion had stressed that any activity in the field of population control should be based on thorough research, and that much remained to be done, particularly in training demographers; the majority of the Commission had been in fawour of expanding United Nations advisory services in that sphere. It had also been felt that special attention should be accorded to the problems of information and of educating the family, which were important elements in all population planning.

118. The representative of FAO drew the Board's attention to the statement made by the Director-General of FAO to the Population Commission on the pressing need, in the light of the serious food supply situation in developing countries, to adopt population stabilization as a social policy of urgent priority.

119. At the conclusion of the Board's debate, there was general agreement that the question of the role of UMICEP in family planning should be included in the agenda of the Board's 1966 session and that the Executive Director should be requested to prepare a report on the question. The Executive Director should be requested to prepare a report on the question. The Executive Director might subsite to the next session of the Board one or two requests for assistance from Governments giving a high priority to aid in this field. It would be made clear to them that their requests could not be approved by the Board unless the Board had first adopted a policy of aid in this field.

#### V. REPORT OF THE UNICEP/WHO JOINT CONCLITED ON HEALTH POLICY

120. The Executive Board had before it a report on the fourteenth session of the UNICEF/WHO Joint Committee on Health Policy (JCHP) held from 8 to 10 Pebruary 1965 (E/ICEF/509). The report included recommendations concerning UNICEF assistance for five types of activities benefiting children: basic health services, certain immunization programmes, BCG vaccinations, leprosy control, and health components in nutrition programmes. In the case of leprosy control, the Board also had before it a review of leprosy-control projects assisted by UNICEF and UNICEF and UNICEF/513) and comments by the Acting Executive Director (E/ICEF/519). A separate paper by the Acting Executive Director commented on the other recommendations of the JCHP (E/ICEP/515).

#### Basic health services

121. The conclusions of the JCHP on basic health services called for no change in UNICEF policy. The JCHP agreed that joint UNICEF/VHO assistance to basic health services should be intensified and given high priority; that it was essential to plan basic health services within the framework of over-all national health services, which should be an integral part of social and economic development; and that organized maternal and child health services should be planned and operated as an integral part of the basic health service programmes without sacrificing their individuality.

122. The JCHP further agreed that the specific health needs of mothers and children should be given due emphasis in training programmes and that aid to such programmes should include the provision of facilities for both formal and in-service preparation of all categories of national staff, both at the professional and the auxiliary levels; that it was necessary to train senior field staff to supervise their assistants; and that particular attention should be given to the system of supervision throughout the service.

123. The JCHP believed that health units should be adequately equipped to carry out preventive disease services, to conduct health education, to give simple treatments and to provide the necessary transport for taking services to the people and for ensuring supervision.

124. In discussing the integration of mass disease-control activities into general health services, the Committee agreed that while basic health services were being developed, it might be necessary in a given country to continue assistance to mass campaigns for the control of specific communicable diseases affecting mothers and children. The assistance thus provided would serve to stimulate the development of basic health services and prepare the way for the progressive integration of these campaigns into the general health services.

125. The JCHP considered that the establishment or extension of basic health services on a nation-wide scale might include a carefully planned pilot project. Such experience could also provide valuable material for staff training.

- 126. In the Board's discussion, emphasis was laid on the importance of developing basic health services and of ensuring that the quality of maternal and child health services would not be impaired when they were integrated into basic health services; maternal and child health services should not lose their identity, and the training of HCH personnel and the provision of skilled HCH supervision should be assured. Hass disease-control campaigns, although costly in terms of resources and personnel, had to be undertaken in many places precisely because basic health services were lacking; the ultimate objective, however, should be to ensure that basic health services were equipped to deal with all health problems.
- 127. The Board approved the Committee's recommendations.

#### Certain immunization programmes

128. The JCHP's recommendations concerned two types of immunization programmes not hitherto aided by UNICEF - poliomyelitis and measles; and one type already aided - smallpox.

#### Poliomyelitis

- 129. In the JCHP's discussion, mass vaccination campaigns were recognized as being necessary for rapid and complete control of policycelitis but different views were expressed on the priority to be given to mass vaccination at the present time in countries with other important health problems. In view of the high cost of producing and testing small amounts of live vaccine it was felt there would be great advantage if, where appropriate, eccuntries would develop production on a regional instead of a national basis.
- 130. The JCHP recommended that UNICEF, although not normally providing assistance to campaigns against policyclitis, might do so under the following conditions:
- (a) If there was evidence that the incidence of the disease had increased greatly or was likely to do so in the near future;
- (b) If the Government concerned gave high priority to vaccination of the susceptibles (which in most cases would be young children);
- (c) If the country had adequate modical services for this purpose, except in emergencies.
- 151. In the Board's discussion of the JCHP's recommendations the point was made that while poliomyelitis campaigns had a wide public appeal, the number of paralytic cases was relatively low in developing areas and the disease was no more disabling than many others. Horeover, campaigns were expensive and it was difficult to transport vaccine to reach young children and to ensure proper follow-up. However, under the conditions recommended by the JCHP, it would be appropriate for UNICEF aid to be given to countries faced with a rising incidence of poliomyelitis and prepared to overcome the difficulties involved. Some delegations believed that the difficulties of campaigns might be over-estimated

and gave examples where obstacted was commonted and graditiving security achieved. It was pointed out that where there were basic health centres, immunization campaigns could be carried out by the centres cheeply and effectively.

132. The Board approved the UNICEF aid for policyelitis campaigns under the conditions recommended by the JCHP.

#### Measles

- 135. The JCHP noted that death rates from measles were high in some developing countries, particularly in Africa and Latin America, and that effective measles vaccines were now available. While these vaccines gave a high level of long-lasting immunity, they still caused a high proportion of reactions which would impair the public acceptance of a mass campaign, and they were, in addition, expensive. The epidemiology of measles was such that the mass campaigns would have to be on a routine continuing basis if any lasting advantage to the community was to be obtained.
- 134. In the light of the above factors, the JCHP was not able to recommend that aid be given to mass vaccination campaigns against measles to be undertaken at the present time. However, provided the costs of the programme were not excessive, consideration might be given to a programme whereby UNICEF would provide vaccines to countries with high death rates on two conditions: that the vaccines were administered only to groups small enough to be kept under observation during the period of reaction; and that it was possible to continue to vaccinate systematically the children born into the community in fature years.
- 135. In the Board's discussion of the JCHP's recommendations, some delegations did not accept the implication that a cautious approach was necessary, since the vaccine was safe and efficacious, but they agreed that the UNICEF contribution could only be modest at present because of the high cost of the vaccine. One delegation believed that the measles vaccines currently available were at a stage where extensive field trials were required; such trials should be financed and carried out by those countries and organizations involved in the production of the vaccines. The hope was expressed that further research would bring the costs down.
- 136. The Board agreed that UNICEF might consider assistance with measles vaccine in accordance with the conditions set by the JCHP.

# Smallpox

137. The progress of the smallpox eradication programme was reviewed by the JCHP, which emphasized the importance of freeze-dried vaccine in warm countries. It was recognized that in some countries local production would be uneconomical and there was a need for imported vaccines. The JCHP recognized that UNICEF did not, like WHO, have a commitment to the global eradication of smallpox. UNICEF had already provided assistance in the production of freeze-dried vaccines and had also provided vaccine for use through basic health services. The JCHP recommended continuation of this type of aid by UNICEF.

138. The representative of MHO stated that his organization was ewere of UNICEF's desire to aid country projects benefiting children which were accorded priority by the Governments concerned, and it recognized that this normally precluded UNICEF's support of global campaigns. He called attention, however to resolution WHA18.38 of the World Health Assembly, on world-wide eradication of smallpox, which reflected the unanimous decision of WHO to give priority to smallpox eradication within the framework of the national plans of the very countries affected by the joint activities of UNICEF and WHO. He also drew attention to the suggestion of the WHO Executive Board that if the application of smallpox vaccination was subordinated to the development of basic health centres, it would perhaps result in smallpox vaccination being accorded the lowest priority. The WHO Assembly had requested the Director-General to seek anex, from various sources including UNICEF, the necessary resources to carry on the campaign.

139. The recommendation of the JCMP that the present type of UNICEF aid for smallpox be continued was approved by the Board.

#### BCG vaccinations

140. The JCHP considered in detail a document prepared by the WHO secretaria: which reviewed BCG vaccination within the tuberculosis programme. The Committee expressed its firm conviction concerning the efficacy of BCG vaccination and reaffirmed the emphasis it had placed at its last session on the use of BCG vaccination within the context of comprehensive national tuberculosis programmes. 17/

141. The JCHP noted with satisfaction some of the new developments in support of BCG campaigns: simultaneous application of BCG and smallpox vaccinations, and omission of the tuberculin test in the young age groups as a necessary screening prior to BCG vaccination. Emphasis was laid on the importance of making BCG vaccination increasingly available to the youngest age groups through the maternal and child health services.

142. The JCHP hoped that mass BCG campaigns receiving UNICEF assistance would be integrated into health services as quickly as the development of permanent services permitted. The Committee recognised that integration would call for increasing use of freeze-dried vaccine of a high and uniform quality and recommended UNICEF assistance towards meeting that demand, whether in kind, or in the form of equipment and supplies for the development of a few strategically located production centres.

143. One representative stated that experts in his country were not in total agreement with the view of the Committee about the efficacy of BCG vaccination, but his delegation was prepared to accept the Committee's decision. It welcomed the emphasis placed on vaccination of the youngest age groups and hoped that that policy would be implemented as soon as possible. Although when proposed projects were presented to the Executive Board for approval it was stated that new-born or pre-school children would be vaccinated, requests for continuing support seldom gave a breakdown by age of the children vaccinated. He hoped that the Executive Director would provide that information in the future.

<sup>17/</sup> See E/ICEF/444, para. 6

144. The Board endorsed the views of the JCMP with regard to BCG vaccinations.

# Leprosy

145. As part of its programme for systematic assessment of major fields of aid, the Board had before it a review by the Director-General of WHO on jointly assisted leprosy control projects (E/ICEF/513). This report was reviewed in the first instance by the JCHP and its recommendations (see E/ICEF/509) as well as those of the Acting Executive Director (see E/ICEF/519), were before the Board. With an estimated total of 8.5 million cases in the world, leprosy remained an important problem, especially in Africa and Asia. New cases continued to appear and children ran a greater risk of contagion than adults: Control campaigns jointly assisted by WHO and UNICEF had been a major factor in introducing to endemic areas the use of sulfones (DES). UNICEF had allocated nearly \$6 million for these campaigns over a twelve-year period. However, because of the slow action of anti-leprosy drugs and the long duration of treatment, it had proven difficult for most countries to keep patients under regular treatment over long periods.

146. The members of the JCHP expressed concern over the slow progress and, in some instances, the poor results of campaigns. WHO was developing a programme of research and study covering all aspects of leprology, particularly in regard to those measures which might bring early improvement in the control of the disease, such as improvement of chemotherapy and the development of immunizing agents. In addition, WHO was recommending the establishment of field demonstration or pilot-creas for leprosy control in different perto of the world to improve the methodology and to adapt operational methods to local conditions. It was hoped that with the experience gained it would " possible to improve the efficiency of the leprosy-control programmes. A meeting of the WEO Expert Committee on Leprosy was planned for later in 1965. That Committee would review and evaluate all leprosy-control work, and it was hoped it would be able to recommend suitable improvements in the methodology for the control of leprosy. The JCHP was desirous of avoiding any setback in the long-term efforts needed for the control of leprosy. While awaiting the recommendations of the Expert Committee, it recommended that UNICEF assistance to leprosy-control programmes should continue, subject to their being supported by the public end given high priority and adequate assistance by the Governments involved.

147. The representative of WHO pointed out that leoprosy control had to contend with many difficulties, including lack of health education, social and environmental problems, inadequate health services, political instability and a shortage of personnel and equipment. The usually long period of incubation, the prejudice against leprosy and the progress of urbanization were among the other factors which must be taken into consideration. The only way to overcome those difficulties rapidly would be to discover a new drug more effective than the sulphones. The results obtained in UNICEF/WHO-assisted leprosy-control projects had been assessed in various countries. It had been learned that, in spite of some irregularity of treatment, the leprosy-control projects had helped to reduce or arrest the progress of the disease and to reduce its infectiousness. WHO had given priority to research, with particular emphasis on research which might benefit children exposed to leprosy. The prevention of leprosy by BCG vaccination was being studied, and WHO had already carried out trials. It had also given special attention to such questions as the improvement of operational methods, the collection of data, recording systems, planning,

organization and evaluation; the establishment of priorities in the treatment of patients and the surveillance of contacts; regularity of treatment; and the co-operation of health services. Although many projects had not been as effective as might be desired, substantial progress had, on the whole, been made.

148. In the Board's discussion there was considerable support for the position stated by the UNICEF secretariat in document E/ICEF/519 that it would be important for the Board to review at its next session the criteria for assistance to leprosy and then to examine each campaign on the basis of those criteria. It was hoped that at its forthcoming meeting the WHO Expert Committee on Leprosy might indicate improved methods of leprosy control and also indicate clearly the level of effectiveness below which a campaign ceased to represent a good use of resources. Considerable emphasis was placed on the importance of further research by WHO.

149. Some delegations were concerned with the trend of the debate, which seemed to be towards the curtailment or even discontinuance of UNICEF aid for leprosy control. They pointed out that it would be a mistake to expect rapid results and Governments struggling with the problem should not be made to feel that UNICEF was abandoning them. A suggestion was made that UNICEF might give more help to Governments in their efforts to get patients to present themselves for treatment.

150. On the other hand, other delegations pointed out that while no one doubted the seriousness of the problem and the threat it presented to children, the practical difficulties of treatment could not be ignored. In view of the large sums already spent on leprosy control and the other claims on UNICEF's limited funds, UNICEF should assist only those projects where there was a reasonable degree of success. In taking such a decision, however, UNICEF should make it quite clear that it was not unsympathetic to the efforts being made by the countries concerned.

151. The Board approved the recommendations of the JCHP regarding the conditions under which UNICEF aid should be continued for leprosy control. It also agreed that pilot projects concerned with improved methodology might be aided. It reiterated its need for clear guidelines as to what constituted an efficient programme against which to evaluate continuing aid. It decided to consider the general problem again at its next session in the light of recommendations of WHO following the session of the Expert Committee on Leprosy.

# The need to strengthen health components in nutrition programmes

152. WHO had presented to the JCHP a paper on the need to strengthen the health components in nutrition programmes (JC14/UNICEF-WHO/6.65), which the Committee considered to be a major statement on the role of basic health services in the control of malnutrition in pre-school children.

153. The JCHP recognized that malnutrition in children of six months to three years constituted one of the most important and widespread public health problems in most of the developing countries today. That malnutrition consisted most often of protein-calorie deficiency, frequently accompanied by vitamin deficiencies (especially in certain areas) and often combined with infection and parasitic infestation. Programmes aimed at control of malnutrition in

pre-school children entailed the participation of many agencies and institutions as well as the community itself. Since the health aspects of those programmes were a major concern, they should be instituted, as far as possible, in areas where a reasonable network of health services existed.

- 154. The JCHP believed that in the control of malnutrition in pre-school children the most appropriate action of the basic health services would be the following: surveillance of the population at risk, using all possible channels swailable in the community; mutrition education of the population, particularly of mothers and young girls; supplementary feeding programmes, with milk or other protein-rich foods; early treatment and mutritional rehabilitation of mild and moderate cases of malnutrition; treatment of severe cases of malnutrition; and control of infection and parasitic infestation.
- 155. The general promotion of protective foods, conservation and related activities would be essential to ensure the effectiveness of the measures enumerated. The JCHP recognized the great importance of having available for pre-school children either skim milk or locally available protein foods. Particular attention was drawn to the value of developing new protein foods, especially for areas where milk production would remain inadequate for a long time. The Committee was concerned with the fortification of skim milk powder with vitamin A, a subject also of concern to the FAO/UNICEF Joint Policy Committee (see paragraphs 179-182).
- 156. The JCHP felt that in the future ettention should not only be directed to problems of malnutrition in rural areas but also to those of pre-school children in urban, and particularly in fringe, areas. It recommended that in the control of malnutrition the highest priority should be given the pre-school child. The Committee was glad to note that in programmes for the improvement of nutrition in pre-school children, there was close collaboration between WHO, FAO and UNICEF. It considered that increased efforts were needed to give the planning authorities of Governments more complete advice on the importance of nutrition, which concerned health, agriculture and education ministries and required their co-ordinated action.
- 157. The JCHP recognized the major role in the control of malnutrition which basic health services, working in close co-ordination with all services which bore on the problems of nutrition, should play. It strongly recommended that all health workers should be trained in nutrition, as such training was required if programmes for protection against malnutrition were to be successful.
- 158. In the Board's discussion the view was expressed that the applied nutrition programmes, which were primarily the concern of FAO, should have a strong health component; and would be greatly strengthened where ministries of health co-operated actively with ministries of agriculture in their development and execution.
- 159. The Board endorsed the emphasis on strengthening the health components in nutrition programmes as set forth in the report of the JCHP (E/ICEP/509).

# Agenda for the next session

160. The Board noted that two topics had been suggested for discussion at the next session of the JCHP, namely, parasitic infestation and fluoridation. These would be taken into account when the agends of the next session was prepared by the secretarist of WHO and UNICEP.

M)

**3**(

14

01 gi

N N

14

t

ĸ

\*

ti

-

ti

£1

77

ľ

1

ľ

g:

ы

1

e:

tı

m:

PI

ii pi ii be

D

Dt

161. The Executive Board had before it the report on the fifth session of the PAO/UNICEF Joint Policy Committee held from 31 Harch to 2 April 1965 (E/ICEF/510) and a note by the UNICEF secretariat (E/ICEF/512) on the Committee's recommendations concerning national planning for the food and nutrition needs of children, applied nutrition, new protein-rich foods, and milk conservation. 18/

# Planning for the food and nutritional needs of children

- 162. The FAO/UNICEP Joint Policy Committee drew attention to various methods which countries could use in order to take account of the needs of children in planning a national programme for food and agriculture. 19/ It believed that this type of approach was one of the most effective ways of meeting the food and nutritional needs of children on a long-term basis and also provided a sound framework in which projects jointly assisted by FAO and UNICEP could be considered.
- 165. In the Board's discussion the idea of a methodology for taking account of the specific needs of mothers and children was commended. The hope was expressed that the forthcoming conferences on children in mational planning to be held in Asia and Latin America would take the Joint Committee's work into account. While the importance of substantial aid in this field was recognized; it was also important to use all the resources available in the countries themselves.
- 164. In relation to this approach the note of the UNICEF secretariat suggested that studies should be continued of successful efforts to meet the food and nutritional needs of mothers and children in those countries which had already developed national food and nutrition policies. FRO and UNICEF should continue to offer, on request, assistance to countries trying to develop food and nutrition policies and programmes, especially those directed to the food needs of children and mothers, particularly in the low-income groups.
- 165. Since planning for food and mutrition fell within and across the competence of several functional ministries (such as health and social welfare, agriculture, education, and commerce) the note of the UNICEF secretarist recommended that joint FAO/WHO/UNICEF assistance might be provided to establish food and nutrition units in appropriate functional ministries and in central planning bodies. Assistance might also be given to the training of nutritionists in the economic aspects of planning and economist-planners in aspects of nutrition planning. In addition, FAO/WHO/UNICEF assistance should be continued to help countries seeking to strengthen existing national nutrition institutes, or to establish such institutes, some of which might serve more than one country. Assistance

<sup>18/</sup> The Committee also discussed co-operation between UNICEF and the World Food Programme; see paragraphs 189-192.

<sup>19/</sup> See E/ICEF/510, para. 11.

might be directed to orienting the activities of such institutes towards the development of national plans or programmes for the improvement of food and nutrition, with emphasis on the needs of mothers and children.

166. The Executive Board approved these recommendations in so far as UNICEF was concerned.

# Applied nutrition projects

- 167. The objective of applied matrition projects is to increase the consumption of protective foods by children and mothers of rural families. Aid has been given for surveys, nutrition training and education, gardening, fish culture and small-animal raising, and the fortification of foods with specific nutrients. The assistance given in the operational areas has as its purpose translating nutrition education of families into better nutrition practices by the families.
- 168. The Committee noted a number of encouraging aspects in the experience with the applied nutrition projects, as well as some difficulties. A comprehensive assessment of projects in this field is to be made by FAO, WED, and UNICEF for consideration by the Committee and the UNICEF Board in 1967.
- 169. The Board noted that the Committee had requested that the working paper which had been prepared for it on criteria to govern UNICEF participation in the food production aspects of applied nutrition projects be revised to take account of a number of points raised in the Committee's discussion, particularly the question of how the child, as a family member, was to be ensured benefits from the implementation of the applied nutrition programme. The revised paper would assist field staff of the two agencies in preparing project proposals.
- 170. The Committee considered the prerequisites for planning, developing and evaluating applied nutrition projects. It recommended guidelines for future assistance to these projects (annex II), which were approved by the Board.
- 171. The Board recognized that in order to plan projects more effectively greater use of UNICEF project preparation funds might be required. Moreover, before a project was started, it might be necessary to give greater attention to the training of the national personnel who would serve in supervisory capacities.

#### Nutrition education and training

172. The Committee discussed nutrition education and training as an essential element in applied nutrition programme activities. It drew the Board's attention to the fact that at the higher levels education through conferences and seminars might be directed to senior planners and administrators and professional personnel, whose informed interest might be essential either to the proper implementation of major projects or to the formulation of national nutritional plans. At that level also, it might be necessary to strengthen national training institutions in disciplines such as extension work, nutrition, home economics, horticulture, animal husbandry and fisheries in order to produce the types of workers required for project activities. At the intermediate level, it might be necessary to provide for the orientation and refresher training of technical personnel in service with the government departments responsible for the

implementation of projects. At the village level, numbers of women's and youth clubs would be trained for leadership roles and village families taught the simple techniques of poultry raising, fruit and vegetable production, fish culture, food preparation and preservation. Mutrition education of the public, sixed to show the relationship between food and health and to encourage better food habits, was essential.

# Pood production

175. In addition to nutrition education and training, increased home production of better quality foods and better food consumption comprised the main elements in applied nutrition programme activities.

174. The Committee pointed out that the more popular and generally applicable activities in improved food production were horticulture, poultry and small animal raising, and fishing (inland and coastal area). These pursuits offered the possibility of introducing increased quantities of protein into the diets of rural families, to the henefit of the children, in particular. With regard to horticulture, the cultivation of school gardens was seen as serving primarily an educational and demonstration purpose. In order to achieve a significant increase in the availability of batter foods in a project area, popularization of domestic and community gardening and field cultivation of legumes would be necessary.

175. It was also necessary to change food habits, and education and persuasion were required. This would need to be directed particularly to the mothers of young children and would be a task for the local home economists, social workers and leaders of women's clubs.

176. UNICEF's participation in food production activities was primarily for the benefit of children and mothers, whose special need for nutritious foods would be emphasized in all the nutrition education efforts related to a project. The Committee pointed out, however, that it would be misleading and undesirable not to stress the value of these better foods for the health of all members of a community and thus to encourage their increased production by all villagers having the necessary facilities, such as home gardens, ponds, etc.

177. A criterion for inices aid to food production should be that communities and/or individuals benefiting from the material aid provided by UNICES would be required, under plans agreed upon between the Government concerned and the international agencies, to contribute suitable quantities of produce for consumption by selected undernourished children and women in the community. Such contributions of food might, according to local preferences, be served in meals prepared by women's clubs or at schools or other community centres. Alternatively, the food might be distributed, under suitably supervised arrangements, to families with young children for preparation and consumption at home.

#### Sales of domestic production

178. The Committee recognized that while the central purpose of UNICEF aid was to encourage greater family production of nutritive foods to be served primarily

to children, it would be unrealistic to expect the food supplies to be restricted to the children. Continuing benefit to the child would be ensured only when sufficient food was being produced to enable village families to enjoy on a regular basis a more varied and nutritious diet than was their custom. It would be unrealistic to expect all families to be relf-sufficient in their domestic food production. Many would need to supplies at their available food supplies by certain items purchased in the village. Moreover, certain families would need to sell part of their production, such as eggs, chickens, fish or legumes, in order to obtain other essential items for the family. Many would require to purchase supplies to maintain their own food production efforts; e.g. the poultry-keeper would sell some of his eggs to obtain feed for his flock.

# Preventing vitamin A deficiencies in children

179. The Committee called attention to the fact that vitamin A deficiency was a serious public health problem in many parts of the world, particularly emong the lower income groups, and infants and children under three years of age. It accounted for the major proportion of preventable blindness in many developing countries and, occurring together with protein-calorie deficiency, made a considerable contribution to the mortality figures.

180. The Committee recommended the following guidelines for UNICEF eid in helping solve the problem:

- (a) The most important basic approach to the problem of vitamin A deficiency is the education of mothers in the use of carotene-providing vegetables, fruits and vitamin-A-providing animal protein foods. Supplies of these foods need to be brought within the economic reach of all families. In rural areas this should be accomplished by increased local production and consumption of these foods.
- (b) If possible, all skin milk powder distributed in developing countries should be fortified with vitamin A.
- (c) Other measures, such as supplementing diets with vitamin A capsules or red palm oil, should be taken to meet immediate urgent needs.
- 181. In connexion with (b) above, UNICEF has sponsored studies on the means of fortifying milk powder to obtain a stable and acceptable product and has conducted field trials. For the past several years, UNICEF has fortified approximately one fourth of the skim milk powder it has shipped. The Board was glad to learn that the United States Government had begun to fortification vitamins A and D the skim milk powder it provided for child-feeding about, including the powder distributed through UNICEF.
- 182. The Board approved the guidelines recommended by the Committee to prevent vitamin A deficiencies in children through increased production of local foods combined with nutrition education.

# New protein-rich food programme and policies

185. In considering progress made in the development of new protein-rich foods, the Committee discussed the co-operation between FAO, WEO, and UNICEF in this field; the countries in which edible protein concentrates from soy, cottonseed, peanut and fish were connectally available or were in an advanced stage of development; and various aspects of the question of introducing foods containing these concentrates into the dists of children. The Committee supported the continuation of UNICEF assistance for the manufacture and distribution by commercial concerns of protein concentrates and matritious mixtures based on these concentrates. At the same time the Committee recommended that EMO and UNICEF continue their efforts to investigate and develop chasper, more palatable and more nutritious concentrates and mixtures. The UNICEF secretarist pointed out that UNICEF assistance for introducing wearing foods in developing countries would increase as new products became available. It also envisaged continuation of assistance in the training of national personnel.

184. The Committee set down a series of elements which should be included in action programmes in this field. In emphasizing the urgency to proceed into the industrial manufacture and marketing of protein concentrates and food mixtures which had been proved to be satisfactory, the Committee also recommended some guiding principles (see annex III), which were approved by the Executive Board.

185. In the Board's discussion a number of questions were raised regarding the extent of UNICEF and FAO co-operation with private commercial enterprises in the production and distribution of new food products. In ensuring specific questions the UNICEF secretarist also brought out that co-operation between Governments, private enterprises, and various international bodies was still in its infancy and was being studied with a view to achieving maximum effectiveness.

#### Milk conservation

186. The Committee reviewed a working paper on socio-economic effects of dairying in developing countries, 20/ which indicated that generally favourable results in both the economic and social fields, including substantial benefits to children, had accrued from the joint FAO/UNICEF-assisted projects reviewed. This paper was in the nature of a preliminary progress and assessment report. A more complete report will be prepared for consideration at the Board's 1966 session.

187. Recognizing that some of the assisted plants were operating below capacity because of a shortage of local milk available to them, and in some places a shortage of skim milk powder for "toning" purposes, the Committee recommended joint FAO/UNICEF assistance to rural milk d velopment in milkshed areas, which were already serving, or were scheduled to a rve, FAO/UNICEF-aided milk conservation programmes. Implementation of this recommendation should result in more milk becoming available to the plants. In the Board's discussion the point was made that it was important, in future milk conservation schemes, to ensure that sufficient milk would be available.

<sup>20/</sup> Subsequently included in E/ICEF/CRP/65-9.

188. The Board approved a policy for assistance to rural milk production. This policy is reproduced in annex IV.

# Use of world food surpluses for the benefit of children

- 189. The Board discussed the use of world food surpluses for the benefit of children within the context of the World Food Programme (WFF) and bilateral aid agencies. The FAO/UNICEF Joint Policy Committee had discussed co-operative relations between UNICEF and the World Food Programme 21/ and the UNICEF secretariat had prepared a note on the question generally (E/ICEF/524).
- 190. During the first two years of operations of the WFP, efforts to develop feeding programmes for mothers and children did not progress as far as intended because the WFP could enter into only short-term agreements. The WFP and UNICEF were, however, able to achieve a measure of success in co-operation on joint projects in several countries in the milk conservation field and in the development of protein food mixtures. It was expected that this collaboration could be considerably increased as the WFP entered its new phase of activities.
- 191. The Executive Board believed that collaboration between UNICEF and the WEP could help considerably with problems of child nutrition and it endorsed the following main areas of collaboration which had been studied and discussed by the Executive Directors of WEP and of UNICEF:
- (a) Milk conservation programmes: The MF would supply dried skim milk powder for the reconstitution and the sale of liquid milk for the benefit of low income and/or vulnerable groups of the population, with the purpose of stimulating local milk production. FAO and UNICEF would continue to provide technical assistance and dairy equipment, transport, etc.
- (b) Increase of milk production by improving cattle feeding: The MFP would provide feed for the direct feeding or production of feed concentrates for cattle.
- (c) Primary school feeding programmes: The WFP is prepared to assist Governments which indicate their willingness to organize feeding programmes on a wide scale for primary school children, with the full participation of the community and parents. Such programmes could be assisted on a long-term basis (five years) provided some further technical assistance in the form of camteen equipment, teaching material, transport, school garden equipment and technical guidance were given by UMICEF and PAO. It may be of interest to consider five or six country-wide school programmes, well organized and properly staffed for joint WFP/UMICEF/FAO assistance.
- (d) Post-primary school feeding and institutional feeding programmes: The WFP also envisages extending its activities at the post-primary level, with the technical guidance of UNESCO and ILO. The assistance of FAO and UNICEF would also be needed to improve the existing facilities on which these programmes could develop. It is understood that food aid at this level is a direct contribution to economic development.
- (e) Pre-school feeding: The Joint United Mations/FAO Inter-Governmental Committee for the World Food Programme, at its seventh session, stressed the need for implementing projects particularly when related to pre-school and school

<sup>21,</sup> See I/ICIF/510, paras. 70-70.

feeding, labour intensive projects, and rural welfare. The present experience of the WFP in pre-school feeding is rather limited and the matter should be further studied with the help of FAO, WHO and UNICEF for the elaboration and organization of this important type of programme.

- (f) Production of protein-rich foods at the industrial level and particularly foods for weaning and pre-school children: The WFP is prepared to continue to utilize its resources in this field in co-operation with FAO, WHO and UNICEF.
- 192. The Board was also aware that bilateral sid in the nutrition field was becoming more important. In that connexion it noted that the United States Government fortified with vitamins A and D skim milk powder for human use abroad (see paragraph 181). An announcement that the United States Government food resources would be increasingly directed to the improvement of mutrition, particularly for children, might afford opportunities for collaboration by UNICEF in specific projects. There might also be projects which could be better implemented with the help of a single outside monsor, possibly permitting UNICEF to use its assistance elsewhere.

#### VII. CERTAIN POLICY QUESTIONS

#### Special assistance

195. In 1964 the Director for Africa suggested to the Board the need to adapt UNICEF's traditional ways of assisting countries to the special situation in countries at the earliest level of development. This arose from the fact that a number of countries which were in the greatest need were the least able to make use of UNICEF assistance under the terms on which it had been available in the past. These countries lacked a strong administrative structure, trained personnel and budget resources for services benefiting children and youth. The Board authorized the secretariat to emplore the subject more deeply and to bring forward to the June 1965 session recommendations concerning this special form of assistance, together with one or two projects illustrating a new approach to these special needs.

9

194. The UNICEF secretarist informed the Board that following the June 1964 session, a number of exploratory discussions had been held with African Governments, with specialized agencies and with sources of bilateral aid. Planning for children and youth in national development had still to be accorded high priority in most developing countries. For those with the least resources and the greatest range of needs, there might be genuine reductance to assume the financial obligations which were required by even the most generous external assistance. The problem was more complicated than had been originally thought and it became clear that considerable time and effort were required to secure the co-operation of all parties concerned, to agree on priorities, and to work out practical plans for UNICEF aid along new lines. For these reasons no recommendations for individual projects were ready for submission to the June 1965 session.

195. The Board authorized the Executive Director to continue exploration along the following lines as a basis for developing specific projects to bring forward to the Board:

- (a) Countries requiring special assistance would be those at the earliest stage of development, lacking the basic administrative structures to provide services to children, and with a critical shortage of the trained personnel needed to help children. The number of such countries would not be great.
- (b) A primary objective would be to help create in a country a basic structure through which services for children could be provided. This would mean concentrating in the first instance on one departmental structure (e.g. health or education), probably in a limited area of the country.
- (c) UNICEF aid might be extended to include not only a wider range of supplies but also a larger share of local operating costs in order to make the project fully operative, with the help of whatever other income could be obtained. This aid might be provided over a longer period than had been customary on the condition that operating costs were provided on a gradually decreasing scale.

- (d) An effort should be made to associate bilateral or multilateral aid with such a plan, for its entire duration. These other sources of aid might provide capital costs of buildings as well as share operating expenses. Bilateral or multilateral sources might also provide personnel.
- (e) Other United Hations agencies would be consulted in the early stages in the development of such a project; and their advice and assistance in the project would be sought.
- (f) Any such project must represent a high priority for the Government, so that sufficient national resources would be assigned to it. The country must be able to take over local costs gradually in a period of up to ten years so that an indigenous structure for permanent services might be established.

# Criteria for post-disaster aid

- 196. The Board had decided to discuss at its present session criteria for post-disaster aid, particularly the distinction between immediate aid and aid for rehabilitation following a natural disaster. It had before it a note from the secretariat on this subject (E/REF/517).
- 197. The Board recognized that in view of the many public and private institutions which stood ready to offer a country immediate emergency relief, it would be better for UNICEF to concentrate in its post-disaster aid on the restoration of services for mothers and children. This was the type of aid which fitted into UNICEF's basic objectives and tended to be neglected by agencies more concerned with the rapid alleviation of suffering in an emergency situation.
- 198. UNICEF had, however, been able to help occasionally with rapid emergency aid, in particular through the provision of vaccines, sera, drugs and light equipment for the control or prevention of sudden epidemics of disease. For this purpose the Executive Board had established an Emergency Aid Reserve Fund of \$50,000 to be used at the discretion of the Executive Director between Board sessions.
- 199. The Board decided that it would be useful to make a distinction in its provision of post-disaster aid between emergency aid and restorative aid. It adopted the following policy for post-disaster aid:

#### 1. Emergency aid

- (a) Disaster relief in the immediate post-disaster period may be provided on a limited scale and only in exceptional cases where IMICEF is in a unique position to help. Requests for such aid should normally be made within three months of the disaster.
- (b) To permit the prompt provision of aid in small emergencies, such as threatened epidemics, the Emergency Aid Reserve Fund to be used at the discretion of the Executive Director between Board sessions should be set at a level of \$100,000. If necessary, the Executive Director may undertake over-expenditures not exceeding an additional \$100,000.

- (d) An effort should be made to associate bilateral or multilateral aid with such a plan, for its entire duration. These other sources of aid might provide capital costs of buildings as well as share operating expenses. Bilateral or multilateral sources might also provide personnel.
- (e) Other United Nations agencies would be consulted in the early stages in the development of such a project; and their advice and assistance in the project would be sought.
- (f) Any such project must represent a high priority for the Government, so that sufficient national resources would be assigned to it. The country must be able to take over local costs gradually in a period of up to ten years so that an indigenous structure for permanent services might be established.

# Criteria for post-disaster aid

- 196. The Board had decided to discuss at its present session criteria for post-disaster aid, particularly the distinction between immediate aid and aid for rehabilitation following a natural disaster. It had before it a mote from the secretariat on this subject (E/ICEF/517).
- 197. The Board recognized that in view of the many public and private institutions which stood ready to offer a country immediate emergency relief, it would be better for UNICEF to concentrate in its post-disaster aid on the restoration of services for mothers and children. This was the type of aid which fitted into UNICEF's basic objectives and tended to be neglected by agencies more concerned with the rapid alleviation of suffering in an emergency situation.
- 198. UNICEF had, however, been able to help occasionally with rapid emergency aid, in particular through the provision of vaccines, sera, drugs and light equipment for the control or prevention of sudden epidemics of disease. For this purpose the Executive Board had established an Emergency Aid Reserve Fund of \$50,000 to be used at the discretion of the Executive Director between Board sessions.
- 199. The Board decided that it would be uneful to make a distinction in its provision of post-disaster aid between emergency aid and restorative aid. It adopted the following policy for post-disaster aid:

## 1. Emergency aid

- (a) Disaster relief in the immediate post-disaster period may be provided on a limited scale and only in exceptional cases where UNICEF is in a unique position to help. Requests for such aid should normally be made within three months of the disaster.
- (b) To permit the prompt provision of aid in small emergencies, such as threatened epidemics, the Emergency Aid Reserve Fund to be used at the discretion of the Executive Director between Board sessions should be set at a level of \$100,000. If necessary, the Executive Director may undertake over-expenditures not exceeding an additional \$100,000.

# 2. Restorative aid

- (a) long-term measures to meet children's needs have overriding priority in the allocation of UNICEF resources.
- (b) Consequently, when asked for post-disaster aid, UNICEF will give preference to the restoration of permanent services for mothers and children.
- (c) In the restoration of services, priority will be given to projects already assisted; and, within such projects, to the restoration of equipment or supplies which UNICEF has previously given to a project.
- (d) Proposals for the restoration of permanent services should, so far as feasible, be planned and reviewed in the normal way with Governments and with the technical agencies of the United Mations. When such proposals lie outside a project already assisted by UNICEF, the technical approval of the United Mations agencies should be sought before a recommendation for UNICEF assistance is made to the Executive Board.
- (e) The Executive Board will take a decision on post disester restorative aid by mail poll only when the periousness of the situation requires that the decision not be deferred until the next scheduled session of the Board.
- 200. In order to bring the Emergency Aid Reserve Fund to \$100,000 from its balance of \$38,500, the Board allocated a sum of \$61,500
- 201. In the Board's discussion the importance of co-ordination of the work of relief agencies was stressed and the measures taken by the UNICEF secretarint in this connexion were commended. The representative of the International Union for Child Welfare emphasized that care must be taken in emergency aid to safeguard the long-term interests of children (for example, prevention of the separation of young children from their families) and urged that UNICEF use its influence to that end. 22/

# Applied research on problems of children and youth in developing countries

202. The Board had before it a note by the UNICEF secretariat summarizing the previous experience of UNICEF in assistance to applied research, and suggesting some criteria for future aid in this field on the basis of that experience (E/ICEF/514). Applied research, which was research directed to the solution of immediate practical field problems, had been sided by UNICEF in the past in a relatively modest way, in the form of surveys, project assessments, demonstrations, field trials and pilot projects. It had not been UNICEF practice to give aid to basic or fundamental research.

203. In the board's discussion there was general agreement that while research should not become a major preoccupation of UNICEF, it was desirable for UNICEF

<sup>22/</sup> See E/ICEF/NGO/92.

to continue to support the efforts of Governments to deal with changing needs and problems, and to solve urgent problems beving a direct impact on services for mothers and children, through the use of the best available techniques. It was recognized that there would be some difficulties in determining the particular instances in which UNICEF support could appropriately be given, but those difficulties might perhaps be lessened as experience was accumulated. The regional seminars on planning for children and youth in national development should provide guidelines on the nature of applied research which might be appropriate in that field. Several delegations believed that UNICEF should give greater support to applied research in social paedistrics. It was important to find competent planners to prepare applied research projects, particularly those to be undertaken in developing countries, as otherwise such time, effort and money might be wasted. Care should also be taken to ensure that the findings of applied research projects would have broad practical values of significance to a number of countries. UNICEF field representatives should be encouraged to report any information they had on good research facilities in developing countries in fields of interest to UNICEF. UNICEF should be sware of current research on problems of children and youth, and should encourage the competent agencies and institutions to undertake new research. The representatives of FAO, UMESCO and WHO stated that their agencies were ready to co-operate with UMICEP in its aid for applied research.

#### 204. The Board adopted the following guidelines for UNICEF aid to research:

- (a) Long-term basic research (sometimes called "fundamental" research) should not receive UNICEF assistance.
- (b) When questions arise out of projects which UNICEF is assisting to which research could make a useful contribution, the Executive Director should draw them to the attention of whatever authorities may be interested in sponsoring the necessary research.
- (c) UNICEF may itself give some assistance to applied research, which should be at the practical rather than at the theoretical level. The research should be related to practical problems, the solution of which can bring direct benefits to a significant number of children and youth in a reasonable period of time.
- (d) Whenever possible, such applied research should be undertaken in a developing country. However, some problems require investigation in countries with highly developed facilities, and some technical problems are usefully examined in both industrialized and developing countries.
- (e) Maximum use should be made of whatever United Nations agencies, including the regional planning institutes, are willing to contribute.
- (f) UNICEF aid to applied research should be a subordinate and small part of UNICEF assistance in general.

#### VIII. REPORT OF THE CONCITTEE OF AUMINISTRATIVE SUDGET

205. The Executive Board had before it the report of the Committee on Administrative Budget on its thirty-fourth session (E/EEF/AB/L.54) 23/ dealing with 1964 financial reports, planning the use of UNICEF's financial resources, administrative and operational services budget estimates, greeting card budget estimates, and the revolving fund for UNICEF public information. These matters are discussed below, with the exception of planning the use of UNICEF's financial resources, which is discussed in paragraphs 28-33.

# UNICEF financial reports for 1964

206. The Board noted that the Committee had reviewed and approved the financial report of the Executive Director for 1964 (E/ICEF/AB/L.147) and a report showing administrative and operational service expenditures for 1964 (E/ICEF/AB/L.149). The Board noted the return of \$181,605 to the general resources of UNICEF, representing the unobligated balance of the administrative and operational services budget for 1964.

# Ratio of administrative and operational service expenditures to total expenditures

207. The ratio of administrative expenditures to total expenditures was 5.2 per cent in 1964 and operational service expenditures was 9.4 per cent of total expenditures. Because of the decline in UNICEF expenditures for assistance in 1965 and 1966, without a corresponding decline in expenditures for administrative and operational services, the ratios were expected to rise to 6 per cent for administrative services and 12 per cent for operational services in 1965 and 1966.

208. Some members expressed concern at the rice in the ratios and believed that it was essential to institute a tighter control on administrative and operational services expenditures. Other members did not want LERCEF to reduce its administrative and operational service costs at the expense of ensuring effective use of UNICEF aid. It was generally recognized that the unfavourable ratio was the result of the failure of UNICEF income, and hence assistance expenditures, to increase as rapidly as had been hoped. A number of delegations pointed out that the essential remedy was an increase in income which would allow assistance to be expanded.

200. The Deputy Executive Director (Operations) recalled that during the years when the ratio was decreasing, the secretarist had consistently pointed out that as an arithmetical expression the ratio depended very largely on the sums spent on assistance in a particular year, rather than the smaller and less variable sums

<sup>23/</sup> Initially issued in two parts as E/ICEF/AL/L.54 (Provisional) and E/ICEF/AL/L.54/Add.1 (Provisional).

spent on administrative and operational services. Moreover, the workload of the agency included a number of qualitative factors not reflected in expenditures on assistance. As a result of Board decisions, the staff was devoting more time to the preparation of projects which involved several ministries or departments and were related to national development programmes. Moreover, assistance to training, which now amounted to one quarter of UNICEF assistance, naturally required more of the staff's time than the delivery of quantities of standard supplies for disease control campaigns, etc. The Board had also requested the UNICEF secretariat to give greater attention to the co-ordination of UNICEF aid with that of bilateral and multilateral agencies, and to encouraging those agencies, as well as voluntary agencies, to give more support to programmes of benefit to children. These useful activities added to administrative cost, but not to the volume of UNICEF assistance against which it was measured.

## Report of the Board of External Auditors

210. The Committee on Administrative Budget had examined in considerable detail the report of the Board of Auditors to the General Assembly on the audit of the accounts of UNICEF for the year ended 31 December 1964. The following excerpt from the report of the Board of Auditors contains this substantive comment on the accounts of 1964:

"As a result of audit findings for the fiscal year under review, the Board reports the following facts:

- "(a) The Halaria Eradication Programme has suffered setbacks due to the poor quality of the product (DDT) used. UNICEF has taken steps on this matter, but the causes of low suspensibility of the product have as yet not been established and the difficulties still exist.
- " $(\underline{b})$  No claims have been filed with the suppliers for indemnification for the damages caused to the programme.
- "(c) The powder or detergent used as an additive improved the suspensibility of the DDT, but there is no specific proof that the product so modified has full power to combat malaria.
- "(d) Despite the fact that full strength of the DDT supplied has not been guaranteed, the product continues to be bought from the same supplier and shipped to assisted countries." 24/
- 211. In its detailed consideration of this comment, which it considered to be serious, the Committee had the benefit of the presence of several experts, whose statements were summarized in annexes I-IV of the Committee's report to the Executive Board (E/ICEF/AE/L.54).
- 212. The Committee reviewed the background and history of the problem, including the steps in the manufacture of the DDT formulations, the extent to which there was evidence of loss of suspensibility and the steps which were taken to restore

<sup>24/</sup> See E/ICEF/Al/L.47/Add.1, para. 3.

suspensibility, logistic and other field difficulties, the joint action taken by UNICEF and other agencies purchasing DDT and the manufacturers involved, and the question of modified specifications for the product.

- 213. The Committee's comments on the audit findings, based upon this review, are set forth below (with comments numbered to correspond with those of the audit findings):
- (a) The malaria eradication programme has not suffered "setbacks" but considerable inconvenience and additional work, because:
  - (i) Under 3 per cent of the unterial supplied has been reported of low suspensibility, and this has not been concentrated in any particular area;
  - (ii) The suspensibility can be rectored by souking in water for up to forty-five minutes, or by adding a small quantity of detergent, and the material has been made usable by these means.

While the accentific causes of low suspensibility have not been completely established, the specification has been altered and practical measures taken to deal with the problem. It is impossible to assens these measures because less than six months have elapsed since the shipments have been made of meterial produced under the new specification in use since 14 January 1965.

- (b) The suppliers have been officially informed of the difficulty, but since the material met the tests specified at the time of delivery, against which it was bid, the Office of the Legal Counsel of the United Nations has advised that UNICEF does not at this time have the basis for a claim for damages.
- (c) DDT 75 per cent water dispersible powder is purchased against specifications requiring a 75 per cent content of technical DDT and certain performance tests. The formulator adjusts the 25 per cent of dispersing agents, etc. to meet these tests; their chemical content is not specified by the purchaser. In practice, it contains about 2 per cent of wetting agent (Igepon T77) which is a form of detergent. The addition of a small further quantity of detergent does not modify chemically the technical DDT.

The killing power of insecticide as sprayed on walls is regularly tested by laboratories and by entomologists working in national campaigns. The Communicatile Disease Center of the United States Public Health Service has tested the insecticidal power of DDT powder after the addition of detergent and has found it unimpaired. The representative of WHO stated that no complaint had been received about the lack of insecticidal power of the DDT supplies, and there was no indication of any reduction.

(d) The product of other formulators supplied to the United States Agency for International Development (AID) has also contained a small quantity of material that has not maintained its suspensibility in the field. There was no reason to withhold the bid from any reputable supplier. UNICEF has continued to purchase from the supplier bidding the lowest price. Dids are submitted sealed, and are opened and read publicly. In fact all bidders and also an internal auditor were present at the bid openings in 1963 and 1964. The recommendation of the Supply Division has,

of course, to be approved by UNICEF's Contract Committee. The lowest bidder in both 1963 and 1964 was a firm producing 60 per cent of the total production of technical DUT in the United States. The United States General Services Administration has also continued to purchase from this supplier for AID.

214. The Committee concluded that the UNICEF secretarist had taken the problem seriously. Loss of suspensibility is only one of the factors with which Governments, WHO and UNICEF are concerned in order to ensure as far as possible the success of the campaigns. Amongst other factors were the malarialogical aspects, particularly concerning the behaviour of the mosquito vector and resistance to insecticides, the training and conscientiousness of the spray teams, the adequacy of the local budget, logistics and transport maintenance and surveillance. The attention given in campaigns to the reported loss of suspensibility should correspond to its relative importance among these other factors. To UNICEF, as a supplier, it is, of course, very important.

#### 215. In summary:

- (a) It has not been proven that the programmes have "suffered setbacks due to the poor quality of the product (DDT) used". So far, the DDT as such has not been in question only the loss of suspensibility of a rather small proportion of the 75 per cent water dispersible powder.
- (b) With regard to filing a claim with the suppliers, the material supplied complied with the specifications against which it was bought.
- (c) The suspensibility has nothing to do with the insecticide power of the DDT. The added detergent does not alter its chemical properties.
- (d) UNICEF has adopted a modification of the WEO specification which strengthens it, but has continued to buy from the lowest bidder especially as the problems of suspensibility have been found by UNICEF or by AID in the product of all suppliers.
- 216. In the light of the above the Executive Board unanimously approved the following conclusions:
- $(\underline{n})$  There was no defect in purchasing procedures and there was no implication of irregularity or negligence.
- (b) The substantive problem of the quality of DDT formulations is a technical problem which seems to involve the strengthening of specifications. The Board is confident that the forthcoming meeting of the WHO Expert Committee on Insecticides (October 1965) will bring an important contribution to the solution of the problem.
- 217. The Board decided that these conclusions should be reported to the Fifth Committee of the General Assembly for its information at the time it was considering the report of the Board of Auditors and that the attention of the members of the Fifth Committee should be directed to the fuller information available in the report of the Committee on Administrative Budget. 25/

<sup>25/</sup> See E/ICEF/AB/L.54, paras. 15-50.

218. The Board noted that the Committee believed it important for the Chairman of the Board together with the Chairman of the Programme Committee and of the Committee on Administrative Budget to follow this question closely and keep informed of developments. The Chairman of the Board stated that she intended to invite other Board members especially interested in keeping abreast of this problem in all its aspects to join the three Chairman. The matter would be fully reported to the Board at its next session.

# 1965 administrative and operational services budget estimates

219. The Board allocated \$5,557,600 to cover the costs of administrative and operational services for the last six months of 1965 as set forth in the budget previously approved by the Board. It noted that the Committee on Administrative Budget had authorized the Executive Director to transfer funds, up to a maximum of \$50,000 from section 1 (Salaries, wages, and common staff costs) to section 2 (Other expenses and permanent equipment) if necessary. 26/.

# 1966 administrative and operational services budget estimates

220. As stated in paragraph 224, the Board approved an administrative and operational services budget for 1966 as set forth in document E/ICEF/AB/L.45, providing \$2,526,000 (gross) for administration and \$4,669,800 (gross) for operational services, making a total of \$7,216,000. The total net budget amounted to \$6,566,000 after deducting estimated net revenue. The increase over 1965 in the gross budget was \$140,800, or 2 per cent. Owing to rising costs, this budget represented a small decrease in real terms.

221. As compared with 1965 the budget for 1966 provided for a met decrease of four international posts and a net increase of seven local posts financed by UNICEF. It provided also for a net decrease in ten local posts financed by assisted Governments. Various new requirements for international posts at Headquarters and in the field would be met by transfers, in some cases without replacement. Because of the estimated decline in UNICEF expenditures in 1965 and 1966 of from 10 to 15 per cent as compared to 1965 and 1964, this was a "standstill" budget.

222. The total number of established posts in the 1966 budget estimates included 184 international posts (71 at Headquarters and 113 in the field); 337 local posts financed by UNICEF (119 at Headquarters and 218 in the field); and 226 field posts financed by assisted Governments. The total number of posts financed by UNICEF was 521. Local professional posts continued to play ar important part in the staffing scheme; provision was made for 59 such posts (25 financed by UNICEF and 34 financed by assisted Governments).

223. The Board approved the recommendations of the Committee on Administrative Budget. It noted, however, that in reviewing the budget, members of the Committee on Administrative Budget had made a number of comments regarding considerations to be taken into account by the Executive Director in the preparation of future budget estimates. These are set forth in the Committee's report. 27/

n

al

<sup>26/</sup> Ibid., para. 84.

<sup>27/ &</sup>lt;u>Ibid.</u>, pares. 72-75.

224. The Board adopted the following resolution with reference to the administrative and operational services budget estimates for 1966:

Δ

# Budget appropriation for the financial year 1966

# The Executive Board resolves

1. That for the financial year 1966 appropriations totalling \$057,216,000 are approved for the following purposes:

		no corners
Section 1:	Salaries, wages and common staff costs	6,268,500
Section 2:	Other expenses and personent equipment	947,500
	TOTAL APPROPRIATION	7,216,000

2. That the Executive Director be authorized to administer as a unit the provisions under each of sections 1 and 2. Transfers between these sections may not be made without the prior authorization of the Committee on Administrative Budget.

3

# Income estimates for the financial year 1966

#### The Executive Board resolves

That for the financial year 1966 estimates of income totalling \$19650,000 are approved as follows:

	OD COLLEGE
Income from staff assessment (net)	630,000
Other income	20,000
TOTAL INCOME	650,000

C

# Financing of appropriation for the financial year 1966

#### The Executive Board resolves

That for the financial year 1966 budget appropriations totalling \$US7,216,000 shall be financed as follows:

US dollars		
3,608,000	ion at its June 1965 session	By allocat
3,608,000	ion at its June 1966 session	By allocat
7,216,000	TOTAL APPROPRIATION	

#### Greeting Card Fund

- 225. The Board noted that the Committee on Administrative Budget had approved the budget of the Greeting Card Fund for the 1965 season (1 September 1965 to 31 August 1966) of \$1,859,550 (gross) as detailed in the estimates submitted (E/ICEF/AB/L.50). The Committee had also authorized the Executive Director to spend an additional amount of up to 10 per cent of the gross budget, if necessary, to meet the costs of expanded production and sales, should the apparent demand before and during the season increase beyond the present forecast. It had also authorized the Executive Director to transfer budgetary funds between allotment accounts as required. In view of the necessity of entering into commitments for the 1966 season in advance of the beginning of the financial year (1 September 1966), the Executive Director had also been suthorized by the Committee to spend an amount not exceeding \$1,250,000 as an advance from the 1966 budget.
- 226. The revised estimates of the net income of the Greeting Card Fund for the 1964 season was \$2.4 million compared with \$1.7 million in 1963 and \$1.6 million in 1962. The net income for the 1965 season was estimated at \$2.8 million. The sales target for the 1965 season is \$5 million cards, an increase of 7 million over the estimated number sold in 1964. An estimated total of 350,000 UMICEF engagement calendars was sold in the 1964 season. It is estimated that \$400,000 of the 1966 calendars will be sold during the 1965 season. The Board noted that suggestions were made in the Committee on Administrative Budget regarding examination by the secretariat of extending the practice of printing cards in more countries, in certain circumstances.
- 227. The Board expressed its appreciation of the impressive record of cales and profits of the Greeting Card Fund, much of which was attributable to the efforts of UNICEF National Committees and many volunteer workers, to whom the Committee expressed its gratitude.
- 228. The Board noted that the Committee on Administrative Budget had reviewed and approved the accounts of the UNICEF Greeting Card Fund for the period 1 September 1963 to 31 August 1964 (E/ICEF/AB/L.48) and had noted the report of the Board of Auditors on these accounts (E/ICEF/AB/L.48/Add.1).

# Revolving Fund for UNICEF Public Information

229. The Board noted that the Committee on Administrative Budget had reviewed a report on the Revolving Fund for UNICEF Public Information (E/ICEF/AB/L.51). As a supplement to the public information provisions in the regular budget, the Revolving Fund balances the revenues from a number of projects with profit margins against those that recover only production costs or result in losses. At the end of 1964 the balance in the Fund was \$73,000, an amount of \$13,000 over the \$60,000 principal established by the Committee on Administrative Budget. The Committee decided to retain the principal at \$60,000 but authorized the Executive Director to use the 1964 surplus to help continue various activities in progress in 1965.

# IX. RELATIONS WITH NATIONAL COMMITTEES AND MON-GOVERNMENTAL ORGANIZATIONS

250. The Board heard reports on the eleventh annual meeting of the European National Committees for UNICEF held at Montreux, Switzerland, from 10 to 15 May 1965, and on the work of the United States and Canadian National Committees. With the formation of the National Committees in Australia and New Zealand there were now twenty-one UNICEF National Committees. The Board was deeply appreciative of the important role of the National Committees in increasing public understanding of children's needs in developing countries. It welcomed evidence of the way in which the National Committees were strengthening and extending their work in educating the public and government officials, and in sponsoring fund-raising efforts from private sources. (See paragraphs 15, 19, 20, 21.)

231. Since 1960 the membership of the Mon-Governmental Organizations Committee on UNICEF had increased from sixty to seventy-three. This evidence of interest in the work of UNICEF was heartening to the Board, which recognized the valuable role of many non-governmental agencies in improving the lot of children and in informing the public about their needs. At its current session the Board heard a statement by the Chairman of the Mon-Governmental Organizations Committee on UNICEF (E/ICEF/MGO/90), statements on reaching the young child by a group of twenty-five international non-governmental organizations and by two individual organizations (see paragraph 35), and statements on other substantive questions from several non-governmental organizations.

#### X. PREPARATION FOR THE NEXT SESSION OF THE FRECUTIVE BOARD

# Review of decision to hold one Board session a year

- 232. In January 1964 the Board decided to hold one session a year, normally in June, but agreed that this decision would be subject to review at the June 1965 session in the light of the experience gained up to that time. A paper by the secretariat (E/ICEF/516) revealed that no particular difficulties had arisen from the point of view of the requesting Governments or the co-operating technical agencies, or with respect to the workload of the UNICEF staff. The Board confirmed its previous decision to hold one regular Board session a year, normally in June.
- 233. The suggestion was made that it would be desirable to hold the annual election of the Board's officers and committees during the Board's regular session. The Executive Director was requested to study this possibility, including its legal aspects.
- 234. In view of the fact that there would be a one-year interval between policy sessions of the Board, emphasis was laid, in the Board's discussion, on the importance of efforts by the Executive Director and members of the Board to keep in touch with each other informally. In that commexion the opening statement of the Executive Director that he would seek the advice and guidance of Board members informally as well as formally (see paragraph 8) was welcomed. Several delegations suggested that the Executive Director might consider establishing ad hoc working groups which might be concerned with new and important problems arising between sessions. Other delegations stressed that it was essential not to undermine the responsibility of committees or officers and that it was necessary to bear in mind the respective responsibilities of the Executive Board and the Executive Director.

#### Review of experience with the conduct of business

235. In the course of the session a number of suggestions were made with regard to improving the conduct of the work of the Executive Board and its committees. Both the Committee on Administrative Budget and the Programme Committee expressed their dissatisfaction at the late disculation of many documents. It was difficult in the circumstances for representatives to be fully briefed and to engage in the type of debate which the importance of their responsibilities justified.

236. The Board requested the Executive Director to ensure that documents were circulated to the Board and its committees at least six weeks in advance of the opening of their sessions. The Board also approved a series of proposals of the Programme Committee regarding the format and organization of documentation for the Committee and the order of its review of project recommendations. These are set forth in the Committee's report. 28/

<sup>28/</sup> See E/ICEF/P/L.637, paras. 126-131.

# Holding of 1966 session in Africa

257. The Board accepted with gratitude the generous invitation of the Imperial Government of Ethiopia to hold its 1966 session at Addis Ababa. It would now be able to pay special attention to the needs of the children of Africa, as it had done for the children of Asia when it had held its January 1964 session at Bangkok. Plans were under way for representatives on the Board to take one-week observation trips prior to the session, upon the invitation of a number of African countries; and for a special three-day meeting under the suspices of the Board, to be held immediately before the Board's session.

238. African Governments receiving UNICEF aid would be invited to participate in the special three-day meeting and would also be invited to send observers to the Board's session. UNICEF would approach several African countries with the request that they prepare country case-studies for the special meeting and would invite the heads of the planning organizations in the countries concerned, or key officials in such agencies, to present the studies to the meeting. In addition UNICEF would invite several African experts with a special interest in national development problems, or in children and youth, to participate in the special meeting. The technical agencies of the United Mations family, the Economic Coumission for Africa, the African Institute for Economic Development and Planning, the International Bank for Reconstruction and Development and other multilateral and bilateral assistance organizations active in Africa, would also be invited to attend. The purpose of the special meeting would be to:

- (a) Discuss the problems of children and youth in the context of national development in Africa, and ways of colving these problems by using the available resources to better advantage;
- (b) Examine national experience in Africa in meeting children's needs within development plans;
- (c) Discuss maximum use and co-ordination of multilateral and bilateral assistance for children and youth in African countries.
- 239. The Government of Ethiopia will make available certain conference facilities and a sum equivalent to \$50,000 to cover the extra cost to UNICEF of holding its Board session away from Headquarters. The cost to UNICEF of financing country case-studies and the participation of selected African officials and experts in the special meeting is estimated at \$15,000. This sum will be charged to the allocation for country planning and project preparation approved by the Executive Board in 1904.
- 240. The schedule of meetings is as follows: 29/

Programme Committee, 9-13 May; Committee on Administrative Budget, 13-14 May; Special meeting on needs of African children, 16-18 May; Board session, 19-28 May.

<sup>29/</sup> This schedule was fixed by the Chairman of the Executive Board after the close of the June 1965 session, following consultations with various Governments concerned and with the UNICEF secretarist.

### AMMEXES

## ANNEX I

### ATTENDANCE

## Members

Chairman: Mrs. Zena Harman (Israel)

Afghanistan: Mr. Farouk Farhang

Belgium: Hr. Hilaire Willot, Mr. André Onkelinx

Brazil: Dr. Rinaldo de Lamare, Mr. Paulo Pires do Rio Canada: Mr. Joseph W. Willard, Mr. Gilles Grondin

Chile: Mr. Javier Illanes, Mrs. Elsa Wierold

China: Mr. P.Y. Tsao Ecuador: Mr. Hugo Jativa

Federal Republic of Germany: Dr. Wolf-Dietrich Germer, Mr. Guido Brunner

France: Dr. Robert Debré, Mr. Michel Combal

India: Nr. Marendra Singh, Nr. S.K. Singh, Nr. I.A. Sajjed Mexico: Dr. Guiller: Suarez Torres, Dr. Higuel E. Bustamente,

Mrs. Mercedes Jabrera

Morocco: Dr. Abdel Hamid Ben Yakhlef Pakistan: Mr. Ehsan-Ul Hag Enver

Philippines: Dr. Clemente S. Getmeiten, Mr. Antonio Uy

Poland: - Dr. Boguslew Kozuszaik, Mr. Brancissak Con Bound

Senegal: Dr. Gabriel Senghor, Mr. Abdou Ciss

Spain: Dr. Juan Bosch-Marin, Mr. Don Pedro Temboury

Sudan: Hr. Osman Hamid

Sweden: Nr. Wils Thedin, Mr. Per-Olof Porshell

Switzerland: Nr. Hans Conzett, Miss Francesca Pometta

Thailand: Dr. Phon Sangsinkeo, Nr. Abhai Chendavimol, Nr. Kujati Pramoolpol,

Mr. Sakon Buranawanit

Tunisia: Mr. Mohamed Birakdar, Mr. Mohamed Chabchouk

Turkey: Dr. Ihsan Dogramaci, Mr. Selcuk Tarlan

Union of Soviet Socialist Republics: Dr. Fedor Zakharov, Dr. Dimitri D. Venediltov,

Mrs. L. Tcherkassakaya

United Arab Republic: Nr. Bedrevy M. Fahmy, Mr. Mahmoud Aboul Mass

United Kingdom of Great Britain and Morthern Ireland: Nr. John G. Taylor,

Mr. A.H. Tansley

United States of America: Nr. P. Fred DelliQuadri, Dr. Katherine Bain,

Miss Blanche Bernstein

Yugoslavia: Mrs. Branka Savic, Mr. Zoran Lazarevic

## Government Observers

Australia: a/ Mr. James C. Ingram Ethiopia: a/ Ato Yohannes Treghé Peru: a/ Mr. Jorge Pablo Fernandini

## United Nations

Department of Economic and Social Affairs of the United Nations Secretariat: Hiss Julia Henderson, Miss Hartha Branscombe, Hiss Phyllis Burns, Miss Aida Gindy

Technical Assistance Board: Hiss Jane Weidlund

## Specialized agencies

International Labour Organisation (ILO): Mr. Philip Blamont, Mr. Ahmed Rahman, Mr. L. Segovia

Food and Agriculture Organization of the United Mations (FMO): Mr. Joseph L. Grr, Nr. Horris A. Greene, Dr. François Bénya Mr. Philip Thomforde,

Dr. Leon-Warie André

United Nations Educational Scientific and Cultural Organization (UNESCO): Hr. Jean Guiton, Nr. Conrad Opper

World Health Organization (WHO): Dr. Lucien Bernard, Dr. Rodolphe L. Coigney, Dr. Stanislas Flache, Dr. Estella Budiansky, Dr. L. Bechelli, Dr. J. Bengos

## <u>Other</u>

International Children's Centre: Dr. Stierne Bertist

## Non-governmental organizations

Associated Country Women of the World: Mrs. George F. Roberts, Mrs. Eileen Moom Catholic International Union for Social Service: Mrs. Carmen Giroux Commission of the Churches on International Affairs: Mrs. Robbins Strong International Alliance of Women: Mrs. Margaret Bender International Committee of Catholic Murses: Miss Dorothy N. Kelly International Conference of Social Worl: Miss Ruth M. Williams,

Miss Yvonne Bourguignon, Miss Carol Hoppin
International Council of Jewish Women: Mrs. Roy Plaut
International Council of Women: Miss Margaret E. Forsyth, Mrs. Greec Barbey
International Federation of Agricultural Princers: Mrs. Logan Billingsley
International Federation of Business and Princessional Women: Mrs. Esther Hymer International Federation of University Women: Miss Dorothy Stratton,

Mrs. Vera Sabin
International Social Service: Mrs. Michael Harris

International Society for Rehabilitation of the Disabled: Mrs. Dorothy Warms

International Union Against Venereal Diseases and the Treponematoses:

Miss Lili Gonzales

International Union for Child Welfare: Miss Frieda S. Miller

International Union of Family Organizations: Mrs. Peter L. Collins,

Mrs. Raymond A. Werbe

a/ Board member designate for the 1966 term of office, beginning 1 February 1966.

League of Red Cross Societies: Mrs. John W. Sheppard
Pan-Pacific and Southeast Asia Momen's Association: Mrs. Davemport Bryan
Women's International League for Peace and Freedom: Mrs. Kathryn Pittman
Women's International Zionist Organization: Mrs. Ines Radunsky
World Alliance of Young Hen's Christian Association: Mr. Dalton McClelland
World Association of Girl Guides and Girl Scouts: Miss Mary M. Weeks,
Nrs. Edward F. Johnson
World Federation for Mental Health: Mrs. Myer Cohen
World Federation of Catholic Young Momen and Girls: Mrs. Ernest P. Tibbets
World Jewish Congress: Nrs. Philip Berman
World Union for Progressive Judaism: Mrs. Abram V. Goodman
World Union of Catholic Momen's Organizations: Miss Alba Zizzamia

World Young Women's Christian Association: Miss Leila Anderson

## UNICEP National Committees

Belgium: Nr. Hilaire Willot b/
Canada: Miss Betty W. Pearson
Polund: Dr. Boguslaw Kozusznik b/
Spain: Dr. Juan Bosch-Harin b/
Sweden: Nr. Hils Thedin b/
Switzerland: Nr. Hans Conzett b/
United States of America: Nrs. Helenka Pantaleoni
Yugoslavia: Nrs. Branka Savic b/

b/ Also member of Government delegation at the session.

## AMEX II

# GUIDE-LINES FOR PLANNING, DEVELOPING AND EVALUATING APPLIED NUTRITION PROJECTS

- 1. There is an urgent need for more applied nutrition ectivity. Mutrition education must be "made to work". Local production (and prevention of loss) of vegetables, fruits and animal-protein foods (protective foods) which can balance calorie intake with respect to protein, vitamins and minerals, and better use of these foods in the nutrition of children and mothers are the only solution at present for many rural areas.
- 2. Ongoing projects need to be strengthened and where appropriate extended, and more careful planning is required for this as well as for starting projects in additional countries.
- 3. Some of the new projects should be prepared according to the recommendations of the Joint FAO/WHO Technical Heeting in Hethods of Planning and Evaluation in Applied Mutrition Programmes held in January 1965. a/ They would then serve as pilot evaluation projects; it is expected that more time spent on planning would make the projects more effective, with little or no loss of time in the long run.
- 4. There are four stages in this more detailed planning of projects:
  - Stage I: Following an indication of interest on the part of the Government, a study of the general situation and the feasibility of beginning applied nutrition activity;
  - Stage II: Collection of detailed baseline data for the zone(s) in which a pilot activity is proposed. Development of training plan and pre-training. Establishment of adequate priority within the development plan, and suitable administrative arrangements in the Government for the implementation of the project. In the course of stage II it may be decided to cancel plans for the project:

Stage III: Project development in a pilot zone(s);

Stage IV: Extension of project from pilot zone(s).

The existence of national institutions and access to information already available will enable stages I and II to be condensed.

5. The choice of projects for development and evaluation on the basis indicated in 3 above would be guided by the wishes of the Government, and the scale of the proposed activity and the cost of reparation in relation thereto.

a/ Included in working paper FAO/UNICEF J.P. 65/2.

- 6. In comparison with this more detailed approach, a number of projects would continue to be prepared as adequately as possible with all existing facilities available until such time as conditions permit the more thorough planning procedure. When the need is urgent and there is the possibility of a simpler workable plan, a project should not be postponed pending ability to meet the requirements of the long-term comprehensive planning process.
- 7. Where international experts are required, continuity of service of the same expert from the initial planning stage through the implementation is desirable and should be sought within existing financing possibilities.
- 8. Efforts should be continued to pre-train before project implementation along the following lines:
- (a) Orientation of government officials whose support for the project is essential;
- (b) Training of key mutrition specialist(s) who will supervise projects from a national or large district level;
  - (c) Training of local supervisory personnel.
- 9. The projects should be integrated into services reaching into the villages, such as community development and social services, agricultural and home economics extension, education and health.
- 10. For applied mutrition it is desirable to have co-ordination of ministries of agriculture, health, community development and education, and of workers in these fields at all levels. In some cases it may be necessary for one ministry to take the lead with whatever collaboration is possible with other ministries.
- 11. Every effort should be made to make full use of qualified national personnel and institutions in all aspects of planning and implementation of applied mutrition projects. These personnel may be governmental or mon-governmental and may be in universities, research institutes, private enterprises, etc., or they may be qualified individuals not at the moment employed in a position suitable to their training.
- 12. Increased emphasis should be placed on extending applied nutrition food production activities from a school or community project basis to the home level.
- 13. Experience has shown that in order to make a major impact on nutrition in rural areas, protective food projection must be made efficient and productive enough to allow some sales, in addition to meeting home needs for fresh and preserved protective foods, to cover costs of seeds, Fertilizer, pesticides, feed etc., and to provide additional incentive. The side banefits to directly improved nutrition in the rural areas are:
  - (a) Improvement in economic status in rural areas; and
- (b) Availability of nutritious food at lower cost for food-purchasing families, especially in the local community but also in urban areas.
- 14. Full advantage should be taken of bilateral and voluntary agency aid which can support applied nutrition activity.

## ANNEX III

### NEW PROTEIN-RICH FOOLS

## A. Elements to be included in action programmes

- 1. Technological investigations to provide means for the production of cheaper, more acceptable and more autritious protein concentrates. The agencies should stimulate the involvement of competent technical organizations, including those of universities, Governments and industries.
- 2. Economic studies leading to greater food use of protein concentrates from oilseeds and fish, as well as from other protein resources, and particularly those which are available and not now being used optimally for human food.
- 5. Encouraging maximum industrial and commercial involvement in the production and marketing of protein concentrates and food mixtures suitable for children and mothers.
- 4. Building up local technological competence in the field of protein-rich foods through the provision of high-level technical training, laboratory and pilot plant equipment, etc. FAO should emphasize these activities within the context of Special Fund and Freedom from Hunger projects in food science and technology which it administers. Such national or regional efforts should concentrate on methods of processing, food formulation and packaging, acceptability and quality control.
- 5. Emphasizing the need to reach the pre-school child. Products designed to meet the needs of this age group will also be used to up-grade the food habits and the nutritional status of the family as a whole.
- 6. Recommending to Governments greater support for the development and distribution of protective and supplementary foods, including encouragement to industries by means of, for example, purchasing quantities of commercial products for institutional feeding, family education, advertising campaigns and tax exemptions or incentives to food processors.
- 7. Geeking support from the World Food Programme or bilateral food distribution agencies and encouraging the integration of such support with commercial food production and marketing efforts in specific countries.
- B. Guiding principles in the promotion of protein concentrates and food mixtures
- 1. The improvement of the nutritional status of infants and young children is the major objective of introducing suitable protein-rich foods, but they should also be useful in the treatment of recognizable protein malnutrition.
- 2. Generally the best means of using protein concentrates is to incorporate them into the staple food products at the time the latter are processed, with

the aim of achieving a more balanced food. Attempts to influence the consumer to add protein concentrates to this food during its preparation have so far not proved effective, as it presupposes an appreciation by the consumer of the nutritional benefits.

- 5. Formulated and/or processed protein-rich food products may be fortified with vitamin A, vitamins of the B group, iron and calcium, where the need for such supplementation in a given area is indicated and the costs would not be prohibitive. In any event, the consumption of locally available vitamin-rich nutritive foods such as fruits, leafy crops and vegetables, together with the protein-rich products, should be encouraged. Indiation of these foods might also be beneficial in areas of high goitre incidence and where conventional iodine supplementation of salt supplies is not convenient or economical.
- 4. Government programmes concerning protein-rich foods assisted by FMO/WHO/UNICEF should be co-ordinated at early stages to ensure the best use of available resources, both financial resources and technical personnel.
- 5. The activities of FAO and UNICEF should be centred on a limited number of projects.
- 6. Plans should be developed in co-operation with industrial concerns having access to market distribution channels. In advising Governments to encourage the wider use of new protein-rich foods, it should be recommended that use be made to the fullest extent possible of existing commercial production and distribution facilities.
- 7. Commercial promotion may impart prestige value to a food. It is therefore advisable not to extend free distribution to more than introductory samples, emergency situations and normal government welfare and institutional feeding programmes.
- 8. The investment of capital and effort to begin the promotion and marketing of new low-cost foods is limited by a small profit margin. This may be helped by designed a range of products, some having appeal to the higher income groups as well. This will also serve to sustain a volume of production to justify marketing similar nutritious foods to lower-income segments of the population. Promotion campaigns aimed at the high income groups are frequently effective in gaining acceptance of new products by low-income families as well. Nevertheless the steps to educate the latter group in the nutritional benefits of such products should, where necessary, be undertaken in advance, or at least simultaneously.
- 9. The important role which legumes and pulses can play in improving the protein nutrition of infants, children and mothers, when prepared in the home or supplied through commercially manufactured foods, should not be overlooked. There is a major advantage in the fact that these traditional foods are already widely accepted.

## AMEX IV

### POLICY ON AID FOR RUPAL MILK PRODUCTION

- 1. The areas selected for joint assistance in rural dairy development will be limited to those recognized and potential milkshed areas already serving, or scheduled to serve, FAO/UNICEP-aided milk conservation programmes. The latter, involving urban milk plants, ensure the required market outlets. Increased rural milk production will help these city milk plants to attain capacity operations and increase their distribution of low-cost milk to poorer families in fulfilment of agreements between FAO, UNICEF and the assisted Governments.
- 2. There should be prior agreement with the Government concerned on a sound policy for rural milk production, embracing such prerequisites as local provision for improved animal husbandry practices, including improvement of stock and culling of non-productive cattle, improved fooder and feed production. The Government would signify its readiness to give practical application to such a policy in the selected milkshed areas.
- 5. The Government would undertake to mobilize and co-ordinate aid smallable to it from all possible sources in the integrated programme for increased rural milk production. In certain cases this effort might represent a consolidation of aid available for different aspects of development, from, for instance, the United States Agency for International Development, the Colombo Plan, bilateral agencies and foundations, and under the Freedom from Hunger Campaign and the World Food Programme.
- 4. Instruction in the hygienic handling of milk and nutrition education of the public would be included among the development activities planned for the selected operational areas.
- 5. The Government requesting assistance would undertake to provide for the project the operational funds and personnel as agreed in a plan of operation to be jointly developed by the Government, FAO and UNICEF.

## BESCHIPTION OF PROJECTS FOR WHICH ASS/MAS APPROVED THE SHEE 1905

A. AFRICA

MARIA

SANIC MALTY SERVICES Services, and 1965 to and 1986

E/1057/2.630

Allocation approved: \$125,000 Industrial convenies 400

The plan for 1965/1960 envisages the reinforcement of the basic elements of the expenses
public bookth programs. The Setional Smotives of Public Hell th (SMP) will open a wire public
leadth demonstration-were in a regal zone of the Separatest of Suday, which will be a finish grantice
area for the School for Assisting Stoth Mill Miles on Stoth and an experiment own for the integration
of hopital ages and public benith artistities. It is expected that 14 departmental SMI contract
and 41 HM continue will be opened during the year, MEEF providing basic engagement for 26 additional
MI continue. (Spaignant for 25 austinue was provincely providing basic engagement for 26 additional
MI continue. (Spaignant for 25 austinue was provincely providing basic engagement for 36 additional autority will be developed in figure of ages and (a) a zone computer
of approximately 255/600 statestor engage while for the first time in MEEF will provide from-drying
opitpunt for the Fusion Sections in Algiers to said in the production of from-dried smallpun
vectors. To registed public health interested will be contribled during MEEF/MEE, for which
WHILT WILL Provide thick Supplies the Sections. The formation of from-dried smallpun
vectors. To registed public health interested will be contribled during MEEF/MEE, for which
will provide stipunts for 160 austisms health officers, 39 unique and addition, 75 rural austisms
vill provide stipunts for 160 austisms health officers, 39 unique and addition, 75 rural austisms
vill provide at 30-per cent decrease in WEEF stitum austration. For a graines and confidence, to some an electric,
supervisors or directory of corvices, UEEF will provide teaching autorities, belief and an autorities, to were an electric.

From the first transfer of the Meeting of Public Bealth, Voterwas and Social MEEFre,
a sentiary engineer, a sentitation techniques. a health education, a matrification,

ALGERIA

TRACEGIA CONTROL

E/1027/7 .5/6

Allocation approveds \$76,000 Technical approvals 1880

The treaters control companies was expended and intensified during 2004 with regard to both its school and self-treatment activate. Buring the 1961/2004 school year about 500,000 children in the first two grades benefiting from mass treatment, and 53,000 in five grades in the Schore region were treated schrittvely. Exring the 1964/1965 school year, an estimated 200,000 children in the first two grades are to be treated, while 100,000 will have benefited from selective treatment. About 900 KG persons were reached in the self-freetment companies in 1964, and about the same number will in treated in 1965. About 610,000 skildren in the first two grades will be treated collectively in 1965/1966, and 100,000 skildren will be treated on a selective basis in actuals in the two Schools and will attempt to reach schools even in the most

### ALGERIA (continued)

rearts areas. Since school careleast is increasing, and regular treatment will be applied to the school children seasorand, a progressive requisities in the rate of investment shifty actual children on to expected. The solf-treatment signals, will also continue and to appended to other departments as actile public health units are argumined. It is anticipated that \$00,000 inhabitants will be treated in 1905 and 1,200,000 in 1906. Furtherier explants will be given to health education. The computer is gradually being integrated in the basic health correless.

URICIP would provide one half of the total requirements of artificatio eletant, for both school and solf-treatment compaigns during 1985/1986, two light voltales for replacement and one heary-day voltale for use in the difficult terrain of the Schare, as well as funds for the production of health education autorials. His will continue to gravide the services of an optic imalagist.

ALGERIA

EDUCATION: FRENKY AND SECREDARY Continuation and expectation, and 1905 to mid 1905 Allocation approved: \$194,000 Technical approved: \$46,000000, 400

E/10EF/7/L.621

The plan for 1965/1966 includes the following elementer

- The training of primary school teachers, which is survently being accolorated, will be gradually accounted and oriented toward in-service training. USCSF will and at the accolorated programs for the last then, providing training at the third-stage training of IC teaching commenders and 6,80. teachers. In 1916, the Covernment will assume responsibility for further refreshers. In 1916, the Covernment will assume responsibility for further refreshers. In 1916, the Covernment will assume of the first-spale teaching staff has become oridanly and explanate will be put on this group. From more on, ...... into a first-spale-teachers will be constructed in 1915, one for young means and one for young man in each of the fifteen administrative departments of the country, and 900 teachers will be trained in three-counts coveres. URCSF will provide applyment for ten of the schools and travel argument for the traineers.
- School contenest. The regime of echool contenes will be increased to 2,000 and the regime of beneficiaries to 600,000 during 2005/1006. An additional 750 contenes senagers and 18 regional and departmental contene improvers will be trained.

  UNICEP will provide 75 scales and measuring roots for simple contention of the project, five light webbles for supervision and travel grants for the trainers.
- School gardens: On the edrise of an PAO herticulturist who visited the scenary at the end of 1964, it is now planned, on an experimental basis, to areate 60 school gardens on good land near agricultural scileges, and to train in 45-day courses 60 herticulture instructors to to choose from energ the former pupils of those colleges and upon completion of their training, easigned full-time to the echacle with gardens. UNICEF mill provide travel greats for the trainees and supplementary materials for school gardens.
- Specialized teacher trainings: The Ministry of Minestine pines to organize training in rural none economics, starting modertly with a nine-months course at the school of home economics in Algiers for a group of stout 3C experienced teachers. In sompletion of training, these instructors will teach courses organized for young girls who have finished primary school but have no apportunity to pursue their studies. Specialized training will be provided for teachers of deprived children. In this consecution the Government tensfits from the services of a family and still walfare expert, provided by the United Settions Department of Economic and Social Affairs in 1964 and 1965.

#### MASTE MATERIA ME AND COLLS SPACE Continue on McCles

Allocation approved: \$40,000 Testalcal espressia 400

E/ICEP/P/LSCI

The aim of the project is to strangthes and aspend yard health corvines through as an artifect of rural health contrals. Sais would be draw through the treating of staff and the development of health education. WHEN his provided teste equipment and treating aids to fifteen district reference inegities and eight rural health cratice. Supposed and treating grants have been provided to the Prizemal Registral at theory, the centre for training of surross and aidstrace, Buring the partied 1965-1967, the development interests so expend the theory fraining Coutre further in order to include polyslinie, electrical and go -pervious and a unternal and shild walfare alirdo. Three oblitional district he also be upgraded. The student intrine at the training action, would be increased to 90 in 1966, and would remain at that level in 1967. UNICE will provide supplementary on for the National Hospital, three district bespitals and the desiciliary sureing and sid-vilory units teaching and training equipment for the number and middlery advants with speakes; and training greats for 50 students. 100 edil provide a mereo educa midwifery tuter under the Expended Programs of Technical Projections and a following for a sister-tator. The Oxford Peniar Selie: Commic. (CIPAR) is providing assistance to the desirability unit and will power for released beautiful mass. The Community will seek bilateral assistance for a sister-tuist,

BASUTGLAND

PALIED MODERATE stituation, Bit-1967 Commitment approved \$82,000 %11.000 Technical expressals FRO

E/ICET/P/L-522

The aim of this project is so-raise the matritical status of the rural population throm a programs of intensified matrition advection continue with practical demonstrations of a self-help charactery designed to prorute the local production and utilization of better foods ed the training of personal to these suits. Since the inscribes of Mich ald in M two pilot-demostration error time term withhided in the landautry evening trappi of stort 49,000. The eress include 75 schools attended by some 34,000 dislators. 200 0000 eroes would be added in releasted sountain districts in 1905 and 1967, and an empolication will continue in the serve existing errors. The whos pilot error would server a total of 125 schools and about 122,600 persons, including 21,000 school children and would provide a decemetration erea in every district of the country, the entire of reaching about 13.5 per cent of the population. During 1905-1967, it is intended to encourage the start of 60 economic gradues and 15 years formers' that gardens. The positoryrelating tergets here been resched, and it is hoped to achieve a total of 900 poultry s by the end of 1967, "Crimentics contains will continue to be held for level and control . government officers, chiefs, district corrections, school health and agricultural staff, ye leaders and other formal and informal leaders, brin and section. School teachers will be trained in matrition and matrition tenthings and is the organization of exhabits and gertening part of the training vall be president, the courses being tengen by gree instructors, assisted by Mil experies. The Covernment hopes to establish 25 sural youth elubs in the nine pilet arece by 5:2 and of 1977. The advect feeding programs will be furnished with feeds that are excitable leading with the presses of extent gardens and with age provided by poultry beepers. CHCS will provide graduates and poultry beeping equipment for 50 schools, 45 covernel gardens, 15 youth shife and 255 poultry farms construction equipment and endin-virual aids for vocan's and rural year's program terticols for the progresse library; training greats for 60 conters and training sources, FAO will provide an expert in mitrition and an expert in agricultural actuation under the Broanded Programme of Teximient Assistance for 1966 and 1967.

MICENTISE
Piret request for CHICEP als,
and 1965 to said 1966

Allocation opproveds \$65,000. Producted opproveds 000,000

\*\*

E/ICEF /P/L\_602

This project constitutes the first phase of a long-term national plan being developed by the cody elected determinent of Sectionalised for the expansion and Superconnect of educational services throughout the territory, based untilly on the procumulations of the USECO Planning ng a survey corried out in July 2004, Within an energy Meeten follows designed to everyone a critical phortogy of margin to and mutal mer for gament comm betterment, high priority is being given to a minim for radical recogn expension of the secondary school system and of past-eccentary school training, provides for the continuation and completion of existing schools relating to teach technical training expension of a scholarskip programs and the development of p The plan her tre training, expension of a echolorable programs and the development of prince.

Particular attention will be given to the improvement of conditions in gri ent of princy ette. schools, by increasing accommentation, equipment and staff to cope with the repld increas in corelect (from 46,536 pupils in 1962 to 54,005 in 1963). The following unin developments are envisaged:

Two new medium-cloud schools will be established at the new control at Galorenes to accommodate 50° pupils and two large schools would be sensitively, one in Francistovi, and the other in Serson, where there is great everywooding of the advanta.

The present scattered eccentary school facilities will be empeliated and staff resources and special facilities such as laboratories and libraries empostrated at six of the main contras where conditions for development are most forwardle.

In addition to the teacher-training callege spened in 1935 at latests, with accommentation for 130 students, and a callege which came into bring in July 1985, accommenting 180 students (show fully developed) the plan is to actablish two corresponding colleges; but invalidate and its give further the decode for substantial increase in teacher training and to give further training to the unqualified teachers who will remain in the teaching service.

The highest priority is accorded to post-according training. As Becharaland has no institution of higher education, a achievating gragrams has been launched with the object of planing the anziene number of the students from the University of Beautoland, Becharaland and Suntiland (which is located in Rum, Beautoland) at institutions in the United Eingdon, Southern Africa or elevabore, for the widest possible variety of courses.

.. The assistance requested by the Government is intended to anot interin meets pending the completion of a long-range plan. CHECSF will provide the followings entended to eaching equipment and matio-vioual mids for temper-training emiliague, selected demonstration primary and secondary schools; books and reference asterials for libraries at secondary schools and teacher-training sell-gas; a writele for educal inspection; salaries for two teachers at teacher-training sell-gas; for one year shift training grants for 400 unqualified teachers. DESCO has provided a lenterer for Serone Teacher Training College and negotiations are in process for two sore lecturers to te provided.

Bilateral assistances: The United Eingdom Department of Technical Co-operation is strongly supporting this programme, particularly in turnaries and adiabaratips. A short-term consultant has been provided in communical at the free inset primary school syllabus. The Department of Technical Co-operation, the United States Agency for International Development, the Ford Foundation, the World University Service and the World Council of Churches are contributing to the development of the University of Basutolund, Berkumnaland and Swarlland.

BURNED!

NUTRITION EDUCATION/ NOVE SCOUNTRY Piret request for MUCCP aid. 1965-1968

E/ICEP/P/L-SZI

Recommended eleminarity C75,000
Recommended ellegation for 1005/1966; 535,000
Technical expression PAD. SPERCO and 160

1

The aim of the project is to raise the nutritional level of the population, and especially that of children, through improvements in the prediction and consumption of protective feeds. Teachers, agricultural personnel and rural leaders will be instructed in more medern pethods of feed production and small-animal raising, and seems will be encuraged, through matrition education and practional home consortes instruction, to proper content-alanced diets using anniable feeds of high protein contents. A pilot zone will be erented in litting from agriculture and minut fundament, in a largely subsistence occasely. The local diet is based unday on manios, beans and smost particles. Little if any ment, fruits or other vigatables are consumed. The Government has a five-year plane to promote the better utilization of land, and to reinforce these afforts a matrition advantion comparing will be leaded anong the mural population. A three-year programm will be consided anong the mural population. A three-year programm will be consided out under the direction of the limitary of Agriculture, in as-operation with the 'sinistries of Battomal Dissection, Public Health and Social Affairs and co-ordinated by a contral countries. Training courses are plasmed for some 300 participants:

- Teachery and agricultural personnel will receive practical agricultural training in smamonth courses with stress on nutrition, a collect returns spicences and school persons.
- <u>Revel leaders</u> will receive practical training in short courses a d well then return to their communities to apply and demonstrate the knowledge acquired.
- Supplementary training in home occurrence will be given in one-would courses for health, agricultural and teaching personnel, who will an term undertake the instruction of sural women in home courseles.

Demonstration areas composed of vegetable partiens, entirely, positive and substitutions will be established in each school in the pilet zone. Producers associations will be formed with the aim of encouraging the diversification of vegetable production. Communal encourage, demonstration gerdens and poultry units will be established and a send contre opened to ensure the production of an adequate quantity of good quality sendlings. URICF would provide funds to cover the printing and production of annuals on home economics and nutrition and audio-visual equip ent; demonstration and gardening equipment for 11 schools, the send production centre, 5 vegetable producers associations and 50 community gardens; small-aximal-raising equipment for 50 demonstration units; a vehicle for supervision and 2 trucks; and training grants for approximately 300 trainess in training charges of varying duretion. PAD will participate actively in the development of the project through visiting regional experts and experts a

CENTRAL AFRICAN PEPUBLIC

Continuation, 1965/1966

Allegation approved: \$75,000 against approved scamillants

CFUD

LEPROSY CONTROL Continuation, 1965/1966

Allegation approved: :24,000 against approved summitment

COIGO (BRATZAVILL.)

Continuation 1905/100

Affordan approved: \$2,900

CONDO (SEAZZAVILLE)

Continuation , 1905/1905

Allegation approved white, 000

DANGET

SOCIAL SERVICES
First request for William
aid, mid-1965, mid-1967

E/EEF/PA-SM

Brommspård alloentien: <u>\$14,000</u> Technical approval: United Joties Department of Domesic and Sectal Affairs; \$40; 138,

The objective of this project is to improve and extend social walture measures for families, children and youth, as well as mass education and community development activities, to assure preventive health measures for mothers and shildren within the framework of social services, to provide homecraft training for young girls and mothers, to create centres to fulfill these function and to train the necessary personnel. The Social Service, created in 1954 and subsequently attached to the Hinistry of Public Norks, Labour and Social Affairs is still in an embryonic stage. A decree, which is expected to be passed in the near future, envisages the reorganization of the Department of Social Affairs and the creation of an enlarged inter-admisterial committee to include the voluntary organizations concerned wit's social questions. There are currently five social centres in spergian with day-care centres attached; each day-care centre is staffed by a graduate social worker and four social work aides. There are also four social sub-contres without deposers facilities, each staffed edation nor adequate equip cided to cally provides in by two social work aides. Jone of these centres has guitable account The Government hoped to obtain bilateral aid for them but ing mor decided to make pro 1965 budget for the construction of mor brildings for the social contros. WHICEF will provides basic equipment and reference materials for 5 main social contros, 4 sub-contros and 5 deposare centres; a vehicle for appervision and 14 activized bigrales; and training grants for 50 accial welfare trainees to participate in ten-day seminars.

ETHIOPIA

BASIC SI ALTH SERVICES Con: issuation, 1965/1966

E/ICEF/P/L-612

Allocation approved: \$81,000 UFIC# and first approved: 1952 Provious essistance: \$1,542,700 Technical approval: 1650

The aim of this project is to develop integrated basic health services in Ethiopia, to emp the training of staff and to strengthen supervision at :11 levels. The Government intends in 1965/ 1966 to concentrate its efforts on the evaluation and compolication of the existing services in rural areas and on a review of the a pervisory organization. Appendix of the health centre metwork will be confined to three areas where other development activities are already organized. A new .CR demonstration and training contro will be established in commenten with an urban one development centre in Adds Ababa. Swedish bilateral assistance is being provided for construction of the centre, for provision of research staff and other basic costs. The training program envisages increased enrolment, including 195 students in the Conduct Funds Sealth College and 142 trainers in the dedical Auxiliary tobes! In Addis Abets. Beginning 1966, the Government will provide stipe.ds for all new trainers at the Gondar College and will assume progressive responsibility for training costs at this College. A section, to be held for 20 provincial medical officers and their deputies and for administrative officers of the provincial health depots, will cover planning, supervision and evaluation, and short courses on-pommunicable disease control, health and matrition education and epidemiological statistics. Praising in tuberculesis control techniques will be continued at the Addis Ataba demonstration and training centre, and similar training would be provided at the assars centre beginning 1966. Disease control activities (tuberculosis, transcent and leprosy) will be continued along existing lines with increasing integration into the health sentre services.

UNICET will provide basic NEW and environmental continuion configurat for service basish contras and training supplies for notical suciliaries school; drug and diet supplements, vitasia capades and scop; laboratory and caspaign equipment; X-ray films and supplies; drugs for irrestance of the training and 15 phispeles for pherochesis; a salary supplement for the director of the training and 15 phispeles for 12 contact and training grants for 405 cantiliary health personnel and 20 medical efficace in accepts of unique to provide technical guidence and support through its regional office and through the continues to provide technical guidence and support through its regional office and through the continued services of ten advisors and specialists in the country. Considerable assistance is available from Sweden, including technical experts and the Government of the Setherlands is assisting particularly in connection with child walfare work.

PROPE

POLE CONSTRUCTION

Consistent approved \$197,000 Allocation approved for 1986 2800,000 Technical approved: 760,

I/ICEF/7/L.400

The aim of this project is to increase the evaluation of safe wilk at the lowest possible cost to the population of Addie Ababa, which includes approximately 220,000 shildren. The plans for the next phase of the project, to be carried out in 1965 and 1966, includes the establishment of a modern wilk parteurization plant alignent to the prepart dairy and with a capacity to process up to 30,000 litres of milk daily. Construction is substanted to begin in the first bail of 1965. Buildment supplied by UNICEY and now in use at Shala for will be transferred to the new dairy. The milk collection organization will be expanded by the establishment of 21 new collection control and the upgrading of three existing control which are to be beauted in new buildings and re-equipped the upgrading of three existing control will be constructed. Distribution of five and/or substituted wilk to colected groups of unitars and children, particularly pre-educal groups will begin within one year of the period of the beginning of operation of the plant and will continue over a ten-year period; it is expected that 186,000 litres of allk will be distributed free of charge annually, a minimum of 1600 half-litra legition a day, a distributed free of the protection of the Carlotte and substantes. Will's will provide allk collection equipment for 25 controls wilk processing equipment to raise the expecting of the new dairy to 30,000 litres per day; transport for milk collection and supervision; no followships in general dairying and one in engineering maintenance. A milk plant manager provided by PM will assist in the running of the thiry and in the training of local technicisms. In F10 expert in livestock production will continue to advise and assist farmers in regard to milk production and collection problems.

**ETHICPIA** 

COMMENTY DEVELOPMENT AND SOCIAL SERVICES Continuation 1965/1966

Renommended allocations (20,000) Technical approval: United Matinus Department of Reconcide and Social Affairs: 980.

1/1007/7/1.514

The aim of this project is to promote social development, with particular reference to the needs of children in urban and rural areas, through local participation in self-help and mutual aid schemes. During 1965/1966, the training programms at the School of Social Work (now part of the Haile Selassie I University) will be revised with a view to establishing a bachelor's degree in social work. Among other improvements foreseen, the school will extend its library. Honoraria for part-time loctures and stipends for new students will be paid by the Government after July 1965, and after July 1966 the Government will assume full responsibility for all such costs. The non-munity development training programme at hwasa will be routinued, with emphasis on programmes for children and mothers in demonstration centres around Imaga. Instruction in various handicrafts will be provided for children and youths with little or no previous schooling; such training will also be provided in the five urban contres now being established.

ZTHIOPIA

DUC/TION miles, 1965/1966 Aliesation approved: agitant approved or

GAS COM

LUPROST CONTROL Continuation, 1985/1966 Allocation approvate \$14,500 against approved one

GAPBIA

BASIC HEALTHACK Contin etion end expension, 1965-1967 Allossian engrouses Posteriori approvale

### E/ECT/PA.492

The development of health services in the Gambia has unde slow progress since UNICH aid we first approved in Harch 1995. Oning to Financial difficulties, only eight of the twenty natural and skild health centres originally carriaged have been catablished. Pending the completion of a now training actual for surses, training is proceeding in temporary premises for 60 junter grain surse midrives and 20 surses, under the technical guidance of a 160 surse educator. A 160 additiony nter will arrive this year. Permanent counterparts to the two adrigers are being tred one, and temporary excistent instructors have been regretted. The UNICEP-excisted legrosy speigs has made exceptional progress. Son vakials circuits, expering som 2,000 piles a mo ensure that regular treatment is excilable prostically everywhere in the country. Seventy per cont of the 6,000 registered patients are now under regular treatment.

The pattern of health services over the next two years will be governed by the 1954-1967 development programme. He now health control will be op med, stage it to the intention of the Government to economizate its resources on reinfereing the existing contractly improving the staffing, adding small combined naturally and general purpose surds to the three existing entrees and increasing the provision of necessary drugs and other supplies. An additional 75 trainees are experved to sater the needy established professional 1966/1967. Sater-the guidance of transfer-admitter a single train mal murous training ocurse during birth attendents will be organized during the two-year period. A new epidente disease control unit to be established (incorporating the protect legroup project) will determine the pattern of the mijer diseases; co-ordinate and supervise the work of the complige terms, bealth control of dispatsaries, and shripe and participants to the incorporating dispatsaries. dispensaries, and advice and participate in the improvement of stuff training. UNICH will provide equipment for 3 health centre naturally warder laboratory equipment for the sureing echecl, equipment for the school health dental unit, 150 kits for tirth attendants, laboratory, statistical and campaign equipment and drugs for the epidemia disease control unit, drug and dist supplements. two small buses for training, seven vehicles for the epidemia disease control unit, salary grants for two assistant instructors for 12 months and stipends for 75 professional trainees for two years. Will will continue to provide surse and midwifery educators for the School of Mursing.

CHAVA

SOUTHITE ON / MOVE ECONOMICS Continuetion 1901/1905

Allnostion approved: 135,000 equinat approved an

CELAXIA

Continuation, 1965/1966

EDUCATION/SCIENCE TEACHING Allocation approved: \$100,000 agilizat approved on

**CATALITY** 

10 10

Pirot request for UNICEP aid aid 1965 to aid 1988 Considered interprete \$400,400
Allocation represed for aid 1965-and 2006: \$120,000
Sectored Allocate 176200

### 以エアケルルの

The main objective of this project is to senist set Deverment in its plan of educational reform, and especially to revise the general accordary advel curriculum to include pre-ventional edu The development of education is to be necelerated through the creation of a malliciant maker of non schools, to permit carefacts of all mildren between the ages of seven and tention. The content of the corrientes is to be modified to telm into occo est the bistory and the populational realities of the country, and to facility a deeper study of the African confromment and of the world. Schools and well-school will be given special augments with a view to providing the country with the personnel would for its accessio and social development. In the recrimentation of the conviction street will be put of to stall be put or pro-spectional properation, strengthening of technical schools and the creation of additionals. The florerament contanges the creation of manners secondary schools, in order to -4 mirous secondary schools, in order to be able to ne 15,000 new students each year by 1970 and to suice enrole mest to 90,000. "Allow ally be e school for each edulalstrative district, the total number of secondary educals welld eventually b 165. An important place in the secondary curriculum is reserved for training in agriculture. Bu studies would copyry 25 hours a week in the curriculum, while 11 to 15 hours would be describe to theorytical and practical professional training. Workshops for practical training would be comet and equipped with a view to providing 40 to 50 working places for each 200 to 120 students. Some iral secondary schools will be converted into technical subsels and night existing to aloothe Leebs will be equipped to breaden their institutions. Teachers for the technical schools will be trained, for the most part, in the matienal professional achoose, after which they will be given at least one year of in-service training. During the third year of operation, an evaluation of the project will be sarried out with the assistance of UNESCO, with a view to establishing detailed plans for a furth three-year actionsion of the project, for which WICE aid would then be requested. WICE will provide tools and equipment for variatops providing training in modulate, agriculture, animal humanity and electro-modulates equipment for the polyages berson transport for field training and expertision and reinbursement to UNICO for an angest in agricultural training tires matthic which is reinbursed to technical identities appear and the agricultural training appears, whose unlary would be reinbursed. by Chicif up to the ent of 1986.

IVORY COAST

HRAIT SENTES, RCH end BURIC MSEASE CONTROL HCM: first request; disease ecutral: continuation 1966 Allocation approveds \$347,000 Technical approval: 480

## E/EEP/P/L.S61

UNICEP has assisted bepropy and your control compaigns for several yearst recently staps has been taken to concelidate these compaigns into a co-ordinated public health plan, with inte corriece for enternal and child welfare. The anglescance now approved includes the first thick als to boalth control and represents on initial step towards committeetien of all health services. A section of external and skild health is to be established within the Ministry of Realth, and a dec stration and training area developed in the outskirts of Shidien, where students from the National School will be given practical in-service training and re-orientation courses will be said for medical personnel. Invironmental senitation activities will be developed in this area and se-ordinated with a training programme for sanitarious which WHO is now assisting. Three main health centres at the provincial level and twelve related health control at the district level will be strongthe up-graded, and in the long-range the quality of staff and services in all health centres in the country will be reject to meet the needs of the population and to take ever endende disease control. Seambile, control of endenic diseases will continue along existing lines. UNIDEF will provide equipment for 3 provincial health centres and 12 district centres, equipment for environmental samitation activities, spaign and laboratory equipment and drugs for disease control, 16 vehicles, 4 out-board motors, 55 motorised bigrales and 70 bicycles. WHO is providing a public health expert, a surse-tutor, a senitation engineer and statistician. Considerable bilateral aid is being received particularly from Prance, in the form of assistance for buildings, technical equipment and personnel. The European Development Fund (FED) is assisting in the construction of a national institute of public health which will eventually contribute an important role in research, training and no-ordination for health work.

KINT

SIALIPE VICENE PROPERTIES Piret request for MUCH ela. 1965-1966 Allocation approved \$50,000 Testadoni egginic 180

### E/EEF/7/L.570

This project will make possible the production of freeze-dried smallput vessions for use in Kenys and the other Burt African countries, the production being convice out in accordance with WHO technical standards. The production laboratory at the faction! Research Laboratory will be conserved to gradue annually 10 million doors of dried smallput vessions of a reasonable pricesy and safety. The existing laboratory will be medified and improved to house a freeze-drying apparatus. When the caloryed vession production unit goes into operation, an integrated control and research unit will be cristilated headed by a virologist and staffed with two technicisms. The specialist pathologist and a confer laboratory technologist will be trained in the technique of producing freeze-dried vession at the lister Institute on WHO followships, and on engineer/instancess superintendent will be granted a WHO followship for openial study with the enters of the freeze-drying apparatus. The freeze-dried annilgour vession will be distributed free of charge through all medical units in the country. WHENY will provide the plant equipment for the production of freeze-dried vession, including freeze-drying analysiss, restrigarated contributes, insulator sto.

ED/YA

THA THING IN MOVIETION AND LAILY TECHNOLOGY Continuation, mid-1965 to mid 1960 Consistent approved: \$220,000
Allocation approved for 1965/2006: \$113,000
Testimical approvel: \$80

1/10 17/7.1.900

In its endouvers to raise the matritional standard of the psyclotion, and in litron, the Communit is giring epochal explanate to the matricial distribution of of children, the Separament, is giving excelair-explanate to the universe and to the provision of training in matrition and home occ des for field w specializing in rural occupates and dairy science. Very satisfactory progress be these geals. Sixteen farmers' training control were in operation by t the courses, which run from seven to ten dept, ruse from 4,000 in 2 the courses, which run from seven to ten days, runs from 4,000 in 2001 to 20,000 in 2000 commiss courses continue to attract a good deal of interest as these centres and have in large measure to a certaid increase in the attendance of versus. It Egerton College, t diplom courses in agriculture and advant humbandry and in dairy spinnes have presented R to Moth to I plum. Thirty-five students completed the first course in June 1964. The agriculture and animal instantly course has now been expended to a three-year diploma course. As a result of th of facilities at the Erbs Agricultural Truining Contro, the annual intain of students has in from 36 in 1962 to 75 in 1964. In the most three years, 1965-1966, the training schemes at Emerica and Emba will be continued along existing lines. The Covernment's six-year development plan (1964-1970) provides for the establishment of thirteen new formers' training contract the first oix will be established in 1965 and will provide training for an additional 3,000 students ensually. UNICE will provide supplementary delay descentration equipment for Specton College and training grants for 60 students (20 per year) in dairy science at Egypton College and for 36,000 students (13,000 per year for 100 years 1901/1907 and 10,000 in 1907/1908) at formers' training contrast. FAO will continue to provide two lesturers for the dairy science course. The Oxford Fanise Relief Chapsign (CEPRE) has approved a great towards training at forwers' training contres. The United States Agency for International Development (AID) and the Muffield Poundation are assisting in the improvement of facilities at a master of farmers' training centres and ATP is providing lestwers for Egypton College and addisors in Agricultural education and extension. The United Elegion Presion From Res er Comprise is also contributing to the fermers' training centre scheme and has provided funds for the dairy training building and for a building to house the staff at Emerion.

THE TA

HILE CONSCIPRATION (Burel milk control and Relvanta training contro)
Continuation, and 1985 to ald 1985

Countranest approved: ,360,600
Allocation approved for 2005/2006: \$120,000
Testudeni approvel: \$10

I/ICE/P/LAM

The aim of this project is to raise the sutritional signiers of the sural population, and in particular that of shildren, through the stimulation of the production and processing of still, the training of qualified personnel in proper hygienic estimate of handling adds, and the provision of sutrition education for woman and for leaders in the stand committies. An additional 480 sural still control are to be created in the three-year period, and 1965 to stid 1966 of which 250 will be equipped with UPCEF assistance, and the trace year provised to say some control will be situated unitly in areas of the country where the dairy potential has set yet been exploited. The Released unity school will continue to provide five matter of comprehensive provised and theoretical training for 30 dairy unanger trainers. Two such courses will be inld anomally, with an additional match of training for non-Eugens. On completion of the course, the trainness will return to the rainal co-operative which maniested than for training. Here they will assume the functions of dairy unangers for a period of six months of in-convice training, who consideres will become oligible for dairy-unanger poets in rural co-operatives. URICH will provide equipment for 30 large and 200 small rural milk control and training grants for 100 trainers in dairy unangement. File will continue to provide an expert in dairy technology and dairy co-operatives and an associate expert will be provided under bilatoral side. File will undertake an accessment of the project in 1995.

LIDERA

MASIC MALTMACE Continuation, mid 1965 to mid 1967

Allocation approves: 530,600 Technical approvals

E/ECEP/P/L-S24 and Corr.l

The axin objectives of the project are to train pare-medical personnel to staff parameter. rural health establishments and to provide assistance for the traini g of birth atten elementary notion and infant core. The project is a first step tenants the development of a not-work of basic health services to deal with day-to-day work in the control and presention of discounted the promotion of health. A network of perigheral health posts is to be created to provide the ution of disease success for a rural basic boulth services it is estimated that it may take up to ten years to train sufficient staff to provide the rural population with really adequate health survices. Personnel will be trained for fourteen of the health posts during the two years 1965/1966 and 1966/1967. A corps of health assistants will be trained in one-year training sources which will include three menths of practical work at the government hospital in Thornga. To provide reasonable severage for the population of the selected areas would require fourteen touith posts. In the first year, eight existing dressing stations would be up-graded; in the second year six sen health posts would be prested. Two or three health assistants will be assigned to each needth post. Traditional tirth attendents will be trained in a ten-week programm, with a view to up-grading the standards of an estimated 155 traditional birth attendents in the area. The immediate supervision of the itealth assistants will be the responsibility of the health imposters already posted in the area, each imposter supervising three or four health posts. Over-all supervision will be entrusted to a jumier medical efficer with training in public health who would report to the sector section officer in the area. INIDER will provide teaching and demonstration equipment, supplies and equipment for 14 health posts. including drugs and diet supplements and midwifery kits, 155 midwifery kits for traditional birth attendents, a bus for health assistant trainess, a webiale for the use of supervisory personnel and 12 bisycles for visiting health attendents, and training stipends for 30 health-assistant trainees a year. Will will provide a public health advisor as well as equipment, supplies and printed materials and such fellowships at it may consider mecessary. The US/AID is providing technical experts and extensive material assistance.

LIBERA

\$1.5 Sec.

PURESCAUT/RESCRIPT First request for UE/CEP edd, sid 1985 to sid 1987

Allvestion approved: 127,000
Testminal approval: Milled Metions Department
of Seconds and Social Affairs, PAD, MED

X

L/XCSF/P/L..957

The first step in developing an effection have essenties extended service will be to introduce a regular training programs for personnal the tall subsequently be given to have essenties and extension centres in rural areas. These aids will such initially in the immiliate surroundings of the centres and will cook to acciet as may persons as pencible and supervise than graperly. Then control will be erected in the first two years of the plan. Miris who have completed two years of secondary education will, receive six mention of training (three in the Hungaria area Satismal Supervise Straining Control and g Contro and three in prostleet field work in the Godin committy and land development project area). To ndicates will be trained each year. Three control will be opened in the first year in the and Sanifuellie after the first group of trainees has graduated. Beginning in the second village leaders will be trained in one-week sections to assist in extension work. Traine d your, voluntary sted by an 710 hour economist and a untional hous economics training afficer. Part-tie will be provided by technicisms from related programme, and by two home communice supervisors. Relating Severagest buildings are smallship to be used as training centres in the increvia area and in the Shelin mity and land development project, and province for the from occasion centres would be provided by the local authorities. Issediate supervision of field work will be assured by two home cost ي جما visors. The associate-director of the Home Securities Scientism Minister will emercies over-all super-vision and leadership. UNICET will provide demonstration and training equipment for the Mattern Train ing Centre, field descentration kits for sides, a bus for school, 3 light vehicles for field work and 1 vehicle for supervision, also training greats for 30 class and 30 voluntary leaders and for in-cervity training of sides. A busy assessment training of sides. A busy assessment training of sides. training of aides. A tenn economist provided by 700 under reinforcement from USCOF for the first year vill be continued as from August 1965 under the Expanded Programme of Technical Assistance. Classe oc-ordination is foresoon with economity development experts working in the US/AID rural develops

MALLANI

BASIC HEALTH SERVICES Resumed, mid 1965-mid 1967 Commitment approved: \$77,000 Allocation approved for 2965/1966: \$40,000

### E/ICEF/P/L.SCO

The Jovernment plans an integrated approach to the development of the various aspects of basis health services. Furiams wer will be unde of medical and survive staff and facilities of sit evoloping the plan and, as staff becomes available, appropriate units usual be arouted within t Ministry of Health to deal with the special fields of actornal and skild health, metrition, health education and statistics. A health education countries is being formed so as to introduce impressed emphsis on health education in training of health staff and teachers and to present the production of audio-visual aids. Eighteen medical officers and 63 state-registered nurses are in training overseas. It is hoped, with 1880 essistence, to begin training of State-registered surses as well as assistant health visitors at Blantyre during 1965. In order to provide field practice for new students and reorientation training of existing health staff, a demonstration and training nome will be developed in an area between Blantyre and Lonta. Environmental semination entirities will be developed in the eres including aspects relating to safe vater supplies, exercis Hispanel, tyricae and improved thousing in all of which field sanitarious will se-operate with public health surses when these become available. Anfroster courses will be provided for staff attented to district councils to accolorate the develope of responsibility to local health authorities. The quality of services will be improved at all levels their on training of existing staff, increasing the number of trained staff w here it is not now adequate and the up-grading of selected units. Supervision from the district hospitals will be organized in a sore regular way then hitherto, and immunication and dominifiary boolth services will be exten in close co-operation with existing teams entrying out preventive and endemic disease central activities. The activities of the applie teams will be closely co-ordinated with the work service out through district and rural contres and immunization against smallpas, dightheria, perturnis and tetames will be combined with detection of other endemic diseases, with particular explants upon laproxy. UNICEF edll provide teaching and demonstration equipment for 3 training subcols; midwifery kits; communicable disease control supplies, 2 small buses for field training. 5 utility websiles for health centre supervision and 12 bicycles; and training greats for short refresher courses for members of district field staffs. Mill expects to provide a public health nursing administrator and a public health advisor/maternal and shild health officer as well as fellowships as may be agreed with the Government.

MALAN

PRODUCT EDITORYDA Plinet respect for BEILES edd, mid 1995 to mid 1967

E/1017/7/... 003 mmt Corr. 1

Cornitores approveds
illnestion approved
for 1995/2006
Codmical approvels

78,000 C1600

(8)\_000

The aim of this project is to strongthen onlikerous the quality of teaching in primary each through the up-grading of teather training. A steady expension of primary adval eleanes will telm place and general extense as well as describe actions tracking will be introduced in the upper two years of princey advoi. The Severances plans to provide non places to princey advois to allow a increase; to expend the training of teachers and take stope to improve the quality of teacher K at a of the teachers now in services to improve instruction qualitationally by re-writing the or countring adoptate contracet, increasing the number of assisted scircus and up-grading teacher pr esquiring elegants equipment, increasing the number of empirical surveys and up-granting teacher properties to reduce markeys and extensions the provides of schools and impostion services. The existing estately acted programs is being revised, and imministration of primary acted and impostion services. The exists primary acted programs is being revised, and imministrate an property sending programs as well es reading borks control on local topies in Helma. The objectives are to improve the qu to andernine the carriculary to provide a brankout of suggested tendeing authors to design biletory and prography textbooks expecially for Palent children and improve Deglish reading broke and arithmetic textbooks. An appeal will be sade to the local people to assist in the development of primary education by salf help and local initiative. With the size of increasing the output of teachers to 300 per year, the Government plane to get more emphasis on improving the standard of the teacher-training calleges and increasing the output of privary school tensions. On callege in each region will be up-graded of the parts. All the retries of UNIXX, three general estence incirculars will be only from already trained stuff and exturbed to the three expanted training calleges and to the dominal extension, where in-service training all be carried out. Refractor courses will be exampled for an there as one be accomplated during treation periods. At least 2,000 teachers will be the two years. It is planted to introduce greated eclares to statents in the last two years of prin school. An increasing mether of girls are to be reading release, where they will also be tought green science. URIC:F will provide bests increased and greenel actions training equipment and bests for three expended teacher-training colleges (cas in each region) and for the three primary affects that are a for demostration and practice tensions, as well as transport for supervisory proposes and ethyunds for trainers. This project has been proposed with the action or crayates of the UNION education actions. In this supervisor extracts with the action or crayates of the UNION education actions. financing the existraction of two institutions - on agricultural college of Sunfa and a polytophade colored at Blustyre. The United Stries Peter Corps is containing in the provision of templan staff.

MALI

HEALTH AND ROUM SLATERS COMMERCIAL SEA SECTION 1867

到2000年12.57

Consistent approved (145,000 Ellocation operand for 2063/656 <u>362,000</u> Trabaloul approvals Salted Sations Separtment of Benemia and Social Military Fail, 180

With the decentralization of responsibility to the new regional organizations, the integration of health and uniform reviews and the consolidation of enteric disease control extinities will be intensified. During the most two pures, from more district bendth controls and theory sub-control will be undersized and up-graded as staff becomes available. Training of bealth and uniform personal, including refresher course; for supervisory staff, will continue. Their education extinities will be settling developed through a term bessel on Bunda which usual carry out an intensive company in cural array. Exhibit control units will be strangulated to parent greater noncontration on some effective coverage. Direct DES versionation will be control out for opening any a MBO encourage will confide any group and a MBO encourage will confide any paint.

## MLY (continued)

A pilot description and training zone will be erected in a model village mear famile as an initial step in presenting country-wide improvement of rural living conditions. Combined with improved phousing of simple construction, self-help projects of a general acture will be encouraged, and, under the gridance of a 180 century engines, calcula water coupling, century latrices, ruture disposal and related activities would be developed. Eight social vertures are due to graduate from the Bandon admending years their placement at existing suffers centres used help to strengths the work of these centure, howevery their placement at existing suffers centres used help to strengths the work of these centures. Here well to promide by static breateness and president descriptions in come to village centres. Willist will be presided by static opposes and president descriptions in come to village centres. Willist vill provide tonic XXI opposes and district health centres and 30 sural health centres, drugs and acceptation for confirmatial annitation, tending anteriols and anticipated provided the acrescent of a public health planner who has just completed his election, or well as a source tutor and a sentency engineer. PhD will provide for the election project (under relaborament from UNICEF) a hour economics advisor who will help in this project as well.

1341

Continuation, mid 1905-mid 1967 Constituent approved: \$222,000
Alloustion approved for 1905/2006 \$206,000
Control opproved: \$20, 180200, 180

E/KEZ/PA. SM

The referred education programs of Heli mins to under princely accepts available to all dillifers of school ago and to provide a gave practical corriection, audical to the country's example and audical development. Training at the five regional polaryteal control will be provided for 100 when teachers planing out of MCCF underson in attigates will be provided for 100 security planing out of MCCF underson in 1005/1007. Fifty demotic science paying 20 per cent of the costs in 1005/1005 and 40 per cent in 1005/1007. Fifty demotic science teachers will be openate to the homestic Science Teachers School at Same and Many Security administration, directed from the regional control for the criminal acceptance overs 100 village control results the entiring understituting understituting at the regional control in densitie science, health and artitles, buty ones and become in densitie accepts and authorized to the 100 village control. UNICEF will also provide applicaments thus for a maticual control for decountation and disconnection of administral substitution application, the control and acceptant for 10 referred acceptant acceptant and measurement for decountation nearly and acceptant for 10 referred acceptant for field training and substitution to the connection for field training greats for 400 read and when teacher training on supertial training and main-visual acids. File approximation for field training and been connected against relaturement by URCEF. The Journal of Conductional action for the many to make the file of the file and the defining materials in connected for it is adult education, some of unital would be utilized for the wound's education programs.

MURITANIA

HEALTH SERVICES Continuation, 1965/1966 against epproved considerat

MATE L

EB.CATICE First request for UNICEF eld, mid 1965 to mid 1967 Counterest approved: \$321,000
Allocation approved for 2005/2006: \$154,000
Technical approved: \$88200

1/1057/P/L-906

The object of the proposed project is to increase school careleast and improve the qu itions the emphasis in the first phase of the programs will be on tender training and on the logant of a practical surriculum. The unjer elements of the plan are to increase primary a relact by 1,600 pupils; to train as additional 130 primary teachers a year; to area rel practice and training area; to develop original curricula and tec thropy, educational rodic progresses and a teachers' journal; to august the add to breaden the secondary school corriculum by strong theming or introducing the tea al arts and technology, home occurates, matritica etc. With the aim of increasing elicatily 1,000, schools with low carelenat would be regrouped and the tradeing of billings 2 2 huld be stressed in order to increase the number of elegans without increasing the costs. In order to idd 100 new classes per year, it will be necessary to train appreximately 120 tenders assumily. fresher sources will be given for templers already in service. I primary school Moon to serve as a practice and training area shere student templers can <sub>c</sub>ain an and to Host erience in the tel F ecologic subjects and also in susual arts, physical education and, for the girls, howe con entre for polagogical studies will develop original curricula and teaching surfacts switchle de suttable for hi rests educational radio programmes, publish a teachers' journal and provide a took and record library or the student teachers and teachers in service. The number of primary actual inspection offices we increased from four to seven in order to cover the entire country. Beginn tary curriculum will be broadened to include science cours structuation to technology. Close co-ordination will be uninteless tetamen the proposed od project and the project for applied matrition, which MADP is already assisting. INITEF will provide hing and training equipment for the teacher-training college, the pedagogical centre, 2 lyeses, 5 metery schools and a pilot school; deplicating equipment and books for the primary school impostic ffices; 7 vehicles and 2 autor bests for the prisony school importion offices, a vehicle for the Basising advisor and 2 small buses for student teachers; as well as truining grants, substitute and pote in commercian with the training programs the buildful for two professors for a period of 15 EDSCO-has provided an export in rural education, whose services will continue for elysteen much Il provide ton reference for teacher training

The PAO herticultural expert, currently assisting in projects in Harritania and Samegal, will also be requested. The European Development Fund will assist in the construction of building while the Franch Severament's Fund for hid and Co-operation will provide teachers, teaching agterials and audio-visual side.

HOROCCO

BASIC HEALTH SERVICES Continuation, a1d 1965-and 1966

E/ICW/PA.SOL

Allocation approved: 2254,900 Technical approval: 360

By the end of 1964, 246 health sentres, dispensaries, externities and laboratories had been exastruated or, modernized, and additional familities of this kind are being opened in the first half of 1965. Owing to financial difficulties, the lovernment has not been able to undertake as such new construction as had been anticipated, but will be able to must about 72 per cent of the first-year target. The training of personnel at all levels has continued. Alsost 1,700 graduate curses, assistation

and lateratory technicians, rehabilitation various, assistant surses, assistants contactions and basish carillaries graduated in 1964. Buring 1965/1966, the natural of facish services is to be relatived by the creation and enderalization of 10 urban health control, 7 rural health control, 33 urban dispensaries and 69 rural dispensaries. URICEY will provide endpass for surses, andio-visual and deplicating endpass for supervision in the health districts and biopoles for surses, andio-visual and deplicating endpass for the central health education cervice and codio-visual endpasses for the provincial health education untils units. In the training programs increased explanate for the put on quality rather than quantity. URICEY will provide stiponds for the training of 70 tutors and 295 societant surses, homerwise for instructors and tooching aids and deconstration endpasses for three new rural training centrol. The school treatment aspects of the training central couplings are bring taken over couplingly by the decoration in 1965. URICEY will continue to provide one fifth of the antibiotic eletinost model for the same compile, which will be intensified in rural arrest streaming the studies. WEEEF will also provide continued on the label antibing. We has a tens of health advisors in Hercess, including to epithalmologist, two surse advisors, a laboratory technicism totar and a statisticism, in addition to advisory personnal for malaria, who will continue to provide chalce and guidence on the various aspects of the project.

MOROCCO

MOTHERCREFT AND SCREENING. Continuation, and 1985 to 414 1966 Allocation approved: \$40,000
Technical approved: United Setions Separtment
of Secupic and Secial Actions and PAO

E/1017/7/L.622

The six of the project is to intensity the treating of underswaft and honorest through commonstree. Expension of this work proceeded secondari zero alonly from had been planted during 1984 one to bedeatery restrictions which provested the posting of adopting shall in componently and common to to beigntary restrictions which prevented the posting of program, and been planted during control. It the unit "1964," there was 166 control throughout the country aftering such homoraft education and 80 day-cars control cash caring for an everage of 80 deliders but of three and seven. The training programs has continued, with enginees on refresher tra of three and seven. The training programs has continued, with explants on refresh 480 monitrious in service. All central training functions are consentrated in Your in). plan for 1965/1966 calls for intensification of the work of the weam's and commutey outros would remain with more emphasis placed on funlly gardens. The number of day-care contras will be increase from 80 to 100, completing the natural planned by the Covernment. WHEN will provide proto-type of the provider of the pro equipment for the 20 edditional depours control and demonstration gardening equipment for 30 control. The training programs would continue to expensively as refresher courses for pursuant service. Two new regional training southes would be append in Tata and Rober-Fredesture, Three source are planned for 40 <u>minitrioss</u> and two sources for 50 directors of community control at the Teceposific Contro, as well as three courses for 25 manitriess at each of the thirteen regional contros. The regions contros will add terticulture and positry-related to their training programmes. The in-service training of local staff will also continue at the pilot community control leasted in the main terms of the districts. URCH will provide half-etipends and honorurin for the opurses, as well as basic egalgment for the two new regional centres and supplementary equipment for the eleves previously contacted. A new supplement of the programs to the proposed training of young girls she have completed primary actual but are not continuing their formal education. The courses, of about two murths' duration will be held in the wann's centres during vecation periods and would stress home communica, health, education, matrition education and first aid. An FAD prosp-country harticulturist will be comilable for canaditation on the development of descriptivation gardens,

MIJEA

MEALS AND SOCIAL SERVICES Continuation, and 1985-and 1967

E/SCEP/P/L-SSE

Desettment appropris .172,000
Allocation appropris for 2005/06: 500,000
Technical appropria Bultod Satisma Separat Zentenia and Social Affeirs and 400

As part of the new four-year plan (1905-1900), UNICEF will help in the development of the following health and social volfare activities:

· project

The plan has the following elements:

- Health infrastructure: Seven health regions will be erented and provided with control begitals and entermities. At the intermediate level (arrentiscenses), the services will be accorded during subsequent places. At the level level (section), 20 of the 92 existing dispensaries will be up-graded and 8 new dispensaries constructed. Within the framework of the rural development programs, 200 health sides and 50 traditional birth attendants (mirrors) will be trained and assigned to the villages each year.
- HE and social infrastructures: Efforts will be emeastrated on the training of personnal to provide adequate staff for existing control. Hereof and address will be trained at the Henry school. Polluring the arrangements undo with the Existed Section Special Fund and WM, editional tracking Stoff have now been provided and the carolinant has been related to 200; in 1984, 110 students will be carolined. Social verters and aides and have communical instructures will continue to be trained estated of Highr for the greatest.
- <u>Bederic diseases:</u> The Hebile Hebical and Health Reportion Organization (GMES) and the treatment team will continue their survey and central estimities at the current pass. work will be supported by mobile medical and health unites one of these will be established in the main term of each health region; these units will gradually assum responsibility for preventive activities in a defined area, Pive units will be areated during the period of this plan-
- Burironnetal smithtless & 150 smitery engineer will excist to the development of a pilot to for training and domestration of confragmental positivities activities. Housekile & group of senitarious and technicious will be trained at the School of Muraing, Misney.

MICEP will provide basic equipment for the Michael Mospital, four enteresty units, five artille berick units and ten local contract drups and compalys equipment for endenic discuss controls training and wall construction equipment for confrommental contractions transport for supervision, untile tenus and confrommental senitation extivities; and stippeds for 400 marriag aides, 200 matrenes and 40 marries in courses of verying lengics over two years. Will is furnishing a large team imminsing a public health planner/administrator, a dector and a surpe for the development of a pilot inhurenless control plan, a senitary engineer and three curse tutors. The Bureau of Social Affairs, of the United Maises Secretarist is expected to provide a social expert.

MIGERIA

HELLTH SERVICES (ELSTITE REGION)
Continuation, 1965/1966

Allocation postpompdr (\$30,000)

The United Kingdom Committee for UNIC.P has assured responsibility to raise funds for this project and the allocation of \$30,000 for the next 12 months against the approved commitment is therefore postponed.

MIGERIA

LEPROSY CONTROL
CONTINUATION, 1965/1966

Allocation emproveds \$72.57 against approved outsitment MINERIA

EDICATION (NORTHLEN PAGEON)
Continuetica, 1965/1966



ACHOUNT

EDUCATION
Continuation and now plan
mid 1905 - add 1967

E/IDET/PALSOO

Allocation approved: £252,000 agricus approved examinment

Countinent approved: \$115,000
Allowation approved for 2005/2006: (05,000
Technical approved: \$80, UNISCO, 1805

The goal of this project is to educate young people in a way that will not create artificial means as a spiralicar, and at it hermonian with the way of life of the population as a choic. Since 1988, efforts have been directed tenance the equation of girls. Implied by the positive results addien the Severement for desired to initiate a righter program for boys, to provide very this will permit young run to take a definite part in the programming improving a estical tradata life of the rural evens. In the first two-year phase of the plan, 20 sural education control will be opened, each with a capacity of 100 students. There will be three instructors per contro, providing res of 11 be cent 40 hours of instruction a moder potention hours of agriculture (current and cortest irrigation, drainers and protection against still erection), fifties hours of meanl arts (seed and ustal work and simple modernics) and eight looks of general studies (anthodology, writtentic and claim advection). The Ministry of Education intents to recruit about 60 instructors who are already conflictle and give then a further six reaths of special training in unisting agricultural and member series in order to prepare them for their specific responsibilities. Tenders for the general subjects will come from the contral school system and would be assigned on a reducing bests. Househole, classes for girls will continue. During the two-year paried, fifteen new classes will be added to the existing thrity-or L trin total number of students to 1,500. Additional instructors will be trained in six-worth sources to take through of the non classes. Refresher courses will be provided for existing personnel. UNION will provide equipment, including seeing unchines, basis enterials and scaling equipment, for 15 mer girls' contract tracking and deponstration equipment for 20 contract for boys; and tracking grants for 90 mentions in 6 month sources and 12 day refreshor comment for 104 emisting staff.

SMEAL

MILL CONTENTION
FLOOR FROM STATE OF WICEP etc.
1965-1667

Allowation approved: 593,000 Technical sparoval: FAD

S/XEP/P/LJ/S

A small milk protecoing plant will be established at St. Louis about 250 bileastres marth of Dakar. The plant vill have an initial expenty of \$,000 litres per day and capable of enlargement lab A network of collection stitions will be net up in the surrounding production area. Level mile, efter est labo collection and treatment at the plant, will be "toned" and supplemented by imported skin milk gowder in order to offert covered shorteges in production and to reduce the retail price to the consu all of the milk will be possesed to low-cost plastic containors for distribution on the legal market. One year after the processing plane begins operations, a salk distribution programme for priority groups will be initiated vision government subsidy. Insolar in terminism are not swilsble from bilateral aid emmore, they will be recruited abread. Committee a felloming program is being criticised for the training of smire Sanspaless suff stread. A professional training session for milk collection station operature will be excepted at St. Louis with professional swelf to be provided from bilateral aid sources. The centre will be equipped to provide theoretical and practical sources of six months' duration, in conjunction with the processing plant, fullband by six souths of field work under supervision. Provision will be made for ten stadents during the period of this plan. A medile demonstration and training unit will also be created to operate in the production areas, to instruct milk producers in the care of hords and improvement of the quality and himilian of with

## SEMEGAL (continued)

UNICEF will provide reception estimates and processing equipment for the St. Louis plant, including equipment for a milk central laboratory; training and deconstruction equipment for the Training Central equipment for three milk collecting central; transport for training and supervision; stipents for 10 students; and reinbursement to PAO for an expert project manager for 18 menths; PAO will provide an advisor to assist in the organization of the Government co-ordinating agency and in the general direction of the project, including training plans. The provision of appropriate fellowships from PAO and bilateral aid sources is under negotiation. Assistance is also expected from Pronch bilateral aid funds for the provision of some technicians for the initial period of the project.

STERMA LECONE

First request for UNCEP eld, ald 2005-ald 2006

E/ECEP/: /L\_300

Consistent approved, Allecation approved, 1065/1066: Testuminal approval: **SERVICE** 

\$100,000 FAO and the 500

With the help of a UNESCO educational planning advisor, the Government has prepared a mathemal development programme in education for the five years 1964-1970. The following aspects will be assisted by UNICEP:

- Friuncy schooling: The princry curriculus, which varies at present from seven to mine years, will be covered in six years. Enrolment will be increased by 36,000 pupils by 1970 and 650 additional elegators will be opened. Honorreft activities for girls and physical obsertion and sport for boys will be developed in demonstration curres in each of eight key localities, and attention will be given to the possibility of incorporating school gardens, fundament and health education into the school programs.
- Primary teacher training: then't 1,840 teachers will be trained, bringing the total of teachers in service to around 5,000 in 1870. To raise the standards of teacher training, the levest level will be discontinued and the basic standard for the teacher's cartificate will be set at four years of secondary quanties, followed by three years of teacher training. Teacher training will be offered in four colleges which are to be enlarged and up-graded and in six new colleges to accommiss to total of 2,500 teacher trainess by 1870. Teacher primary practice schools will be established for wee in commentee with the training colleges.
- Secondary education: The curriculum at the secondary level will be organized in three waits (academic, trades and agriculture) and will provide a bread and prestical range of subjects. Thirty-two of the existing secondary schools will be expanded and up-graded and lifteen new secondary schools opened with a view to doubling enrolment to a total of 21,500 pupils by 1970. Cualified staff, laboratories, science equipment and student libraries are the main prerequisites for bringing about the desired improvements.
- "Testmical trades schools: Light now testmical trades schools, each with 300 places, to be established in elementon with the secondary schools, will effer a three-years' source, limited initially to the building trades, corporary and massery. Instructors will be trained at the well-equipped Technical Listitute in Prestown, twenty being admitted each year for a three-year course. A minth trades school will be established for bout building and fishing.
- Agricultural schools: Twelve schools will be established to provide rural primary school leavers who do not pursue a full secondary course with two years or practical, productive training in farming. As in the case of the trades schools, these farm-training units will be essociated with other local secondary institutions and share common ementions in a common experience.

## SIERRA LECKE (continued) .

UFICIP will provide general teaching side for toulous practice primary schools; home economics supplies and physical training equipment for toulous demonstration sometres; general teaching side and library books for three existing and five new colleges; home economics supplies for four sized colleges; science laboratory equipment and library books for 27 existing secondary schools; teals and surrights deplayment for five trades and six agricultural schools; laboratory and surkshop equipment for one teathical institute; fourteen small buses for teacher-training college: end agricultural schools; training grants for 60 teathical instructors; and reinturement to UESED for the salary of a teathical election appart for 18 menths. USESCO will also provide three specialists to staff the School Building Left. The United Fatiens Special Fund is providing substantial assistance to the Hilton Harged Truining College. The United States Agency for International Development (US/AIL) has been requested to provide credits to finance buildings for the Development Programs in Education to a total value of USES,000,000.

SCHOLIA

MASIC MEM.TR/SCH Continuation aid 1965 - mid 1986

Allocation approveds Testinical approvals \$4,000

E/ICEF/7/L.SOT

Personnel shertages and budgetary limitations have delayed the implementation of several planned activities. Training has proceeded at the health training schools at Hegatiecie and Hargeties, and practical in-service courses have been afforded to students at the Balad Health Centre and its corrounting demonstration area. In the Balad erea HCE services have been established and same practical demonstrations of village latrime construction have been carried out, continued with health education work in which trainees have been approximately "major "practically Have team unique Ter Tell" integration of disease control activities in the area. Good progress has been made in the cedimic supply organization, which is being developed with VIII) expert advice, and a Small counterpart has been trained so as to take over this responsibility in July 1965. Polloning visits by WINDEP regional transport officers, the basis has been laid for establishing a vehicle unistenance weekens.

During 1965/1966 the entilitary training programs will be intensived and expenses as for as facilities permit. Courses are planned for 55 health superistantents, 55 public health surse/midmines, 40 senitarians and 56 laboratory and X-ray technicians and assistants. In addition a number of refresher courses of two to three months' duration are planned in the Balad area. Fifteen murses will be trained at the Hargaisa Training School. During the period it is expected that construction of eighteen public health wings will be completed, as well as the upgrading of five regions and four district hospitals. The placement of newly trained staff and the integration of curvitive and preventive services will continue. UNICLF will provide supplementary teaching and training equipment for Hogadiscie and Balad areas; basic equipment, drugs diet supplements, roop for 50 selected centres; one well vehicle for supervision; tools and workshop equipment and spare parts for transport unit; the salary of a transport officer for the first year; stipends for the training of varying numbers of suciliary health personnel; and honoraria for part-time lecturers. 180 will centime to provide a team of sixteen advisors as well as a number of fellowships in various fields.

SCIALIA

ELECATION Continuation, 1965/1966

Allocation approved: \$85,000 against approved country

SOLTHERN RHODESIA

APPEN TOTALIZED
FIRST request for LAICEP
applications, aid 1965-aid 1967

L/ICEPALSD

Consistent approved: \$86,000
Allocation approved for
2945/3966: \$50,000
Testmical approval: \$50 and 450

The main object of this project is to improve natritismal standards of the rural population through the development of programmes in agricultural extension, howe economics and matritism. The programme will be initiated as a pilot scheme in selected arms in six provinces. Truining courses will be designed for members of the extension staff in order to strengthen existing services. There courses in the better utilization of evaluable and potential food supplies will be given to salected formers, chiefs and others. Courses, will also be given for progressive formers, wives and leaders of unuse's organizations, with particular explants on these agricultural and dementic tests for which weren are naturally responsible. Special courses will be given in poultry forming and fish forwing in order to encourage lead producers to concentrate on these potential protein-rich sources of feed. During vacation periods, school tests will be trained in the preparation of matrition of entire and extension welfacts and tested in conjunction of audio-visual aids and the organization of rural youth debts. Suitable tests and tested in conjunction with the training courses, it TOTF will provide amplies and equipment for 120 gardening and packing farming units; obsertion materials and equipment for the Kaylan Hose Seconds Institute and for 6 hose commutes and nutrition contrast; transport; and training grants for occurses and summers in leaderstip, have consumes, mutrition, poultry management, rural youth leaderskip, harticulture, extension methods and sural youth work for varying periods. Fito will provide technical guidance on the project, and, subject to the availability of funds; will provide an expert in agricultural extension and rural youth work.

SHITTLAND

BASIC MEALTH SAMPLES APD TRADPING Continentian and extension, aid 1965 to sid 1967

Allocation approvad: \$17,000
Technical approval: \$800

I/ICEP/P/L.SI4

The objectives of the project for the next two years are as follows:

- Basic health services and training: There are at present 9 district hospitals with a total of 801 beds and 35 subsidiary health centres each staffed by a trained nurse. The mobile units are planned to sugment these services. The staff at Government centres is to be doubled to provide a home-visiting services, and facilities for meternity cases are to be improved. Fifteen sission centres will be upgraded, each to be staffed by a nurse or midwife, plus a dector in attendance. The quality of training in mid-ifery will be upgraded in the next two years through the provision of better teaching materials.
- Proceedings control: A wider search for cases is envisaged, with less emphasis on surveys on the entire population, and greater attention to persons with symptoms of chest disease. A survey of facilities at health combres will be corried out with a view to training personnel from these control and training in BOG techniques will be intensified.
- Immerization: The Government plans to undertake an itimerant country-wide smallpox and BCC wasdination compains, covering the entire Territory once a years. Each mobile unit will be staffed by a health inspector assisted by a male nurse and two field worker/drivers who will give the local people advance information of the time of arrival and the location of the unit. On their first country-wide tour the mobile units will give smallpox vancinations to approximately 50,000 persons and BCG incoulations to approximately 120,000 persons up to twenty years of age.

## SAZILAE (sentimed)

- Metrition: Distribution of dried skin milk will continue to be made for infants and surring molecus through the health centres, and would be combined with active autrition education and descriptions of child feeding.

UHICLE will provide basic HOM equipment for 15 mission health contract supplementary equipment for 12 government health contract tocation and deconstruction equipment for the library Training Schools; X-ray, compalin and laboratory supplies and drugs for teberallesis; vascination equipment and supplies for insumitation; and transport. A team of six this experts will continue to against the teberallesis control project. The South African Chamber of Kines contributes towards the recurrent costs of the teberallesis control project. The Commencealth Development and telfers Fund also supports this project and assists in the context of construction of additional rural alinion and in the extension of sedical services.

TANZANIA, UMITEL REPUBLIC OF YALASIA BRADICATION (Lanziber and Posts) Continuation, mid 1965 - mid 1965 Allocation approved: \$75,000 Testudosl approved: 1850

E/1027/PAL623

This project aims at the eradication of meleria frue the intends of lanciter and Penta, and the ensuring of adequate public health control consures to present the re-introduction of maleria from the outside. It is now in the later stages of the attack phase. During 1965/1966 efforts will be noncontrated upon ensuring total coverage within the apraying cycles, coupled with congruption! recommissees and increased surveillance and supervision. All needly constructed thats in the rice-granding orans will be aprayed as seen as they are found, adexempentational than timedel that years in Panta, it may be provide to foresee an end of spraying operations after 1966. Journee progress in Lanciton has been less antic-factory, it is considered that apraying will have to be continued for at least one published pure. Revised arrangements have been made for the unintervance of varieties, making maximum use of amiliable connected workshops to supplement the governmental facilities. Arrangements are being made to ensure the distribution of drugs to all insignants who arrive in the islands through legal parts of entry. For illegal insignants a plan for control by the local accidinator times is being propared, 1.7755 will provide 250,000 points of EFF; anti-valuria drugs; aprayers and appress; and 1730 will continue to provide a team of five experts, headed by a malariologist.

Tafzai Ia, United Republic of

•••

EDUCATION: HOME SCHMEDICS Parst request for WHENF mid, 1955-1967

E/10EF.P/L.506

Consistent approved: \$55,000 Allocation approved for 1965/1966: \$24,000 Technical approval: FMD, UNESCO, VHO

The aim of this preject is to assist in relating the living stendards of the population through a programme of home communics education dealing with the family as a socio-communic unit. The objective till be achieved through improved training in home commons for the teaching staff at the teacher-training colleges and for girls at the secondary school level. Improved acrisory services and supervision will be provided for schools and training colleges, as well as improved training of staff for further development of the Same Economics Department of the Himistry of Education, Teme accessions facilities at selected teachers' colleges and secondary schools will be expanded. Audio-visual and other teaching aids, including manuals and tembooks will be developed. Three one-month in-service courses will be organized each year. A maximum attendance of 20 teachers per course is pleased.

### TANZANIA, UMITED REPUBLIC OF (continued)

A se-ordinating countities is to be established, comprising representatives of the thinking departments of participating ministries, with a view to correlating the development of this project with that of the UNICEP-assisted community development/methercraft-here aren't project and the Photon Prairing Contro. The sain responsibility of the countities will be to make recommendations concerning related training programmes and other policy matters. UNICEP will provide domestic science equipment for three teacher training colleges, 13 secondary schools and 30 upper primary (demonstration) schools; and this cost of printing home communics menuals.

7000

RATH SERVICES Continuetion and 1965-and 1966

L/ICEP/P/L.966

Consistent approved: \$188,000
Allocation approved for
1965/85 967,00
Tooluical approvel: 1380

During the period of the three-year plan, it is expected that reorganization of the seakesst region will be completed. Extension to the three remaining regions will proceed systematically therefore. Environmental semination activities are being developed in the pilot zone. In the first instance, health contres and schools will be provided with vector supply facilities, while malls, nature adduction, drainage and latrines will be installed in selected areas on a demonstration basis. Smith education will also be carried out. A regional semination between will be ereated, and two schoolings district between each year as expansion of activities is very sort. The training of surses and middless, and other samilary health staff will be continued. The two-year courses for surses at the Land Trunking School will be estimated at the-greensbelovel (with Grand Australy Workerly sursephysically with the first windows at the new middless when the new buildings we completed. The one-year course for middless at the new middless school will be maintained for ten students per year. Fructical training and refresher courses for dorters, surses, senturious, middless and matrones will also be provided in the demonstration zone, where a school has now been established.

All health services in the demonstration area will be streamlined and endemic disease control activities integrated. Heambile, yours and leprosy control comprigns will be continued during the ment two years, with increased attention to case finding by bigyale and motorized bigyale teams. The endemic disease control services will be integrated progressively into the general public nealth services with a view to reaching complete consolidation stage by 1966. Walfare services will be as arthurised with the services of the health centres. The four main health centres will be re-staffed and up-graded in preparation for later expansion to these regions. UMICEF will provide selected basis equipment for a district hospital, 8 health centres and 63 sub-centres; drugs for laprosy and years; well construction equipment and training equipment for the semitarizers' school; transport; and training grants. WHO will provide the services of a public health administrator, a mursing adviser, a murse tutor, a sidenic tutor, a health education adviser, a sanitary engineer, a year/teprosy adviser and a laboratory technicism, as well as four fellowships for public health destors and four for public health nurses. The Funds d'Aide et de Desparation (FAC), The Covernment of France and the United States Agency for International Devalopment have provided buildings, supplies, personnel and fellowships. Assistance is also aminipated from the Governments of the Federal Republic of Germany and of Yugoslavia.

1000

SOCIAL SENVICES AND CONTRITY DEVELOPING Continuation and extension, wid 1965 - wid 1967 Allocation approved: \$38,000
Technical approval: United Wattons
Department of Economic and Social
Affairs, PhO, Will

E/ICEP/PA.SSI

Provision has been made within the Government's 1966-1970 development plan for expansion of social walfare and community development activities, with explants an expansion in the rural areas. Regional centres for social walfare will be attached to each of the four existing regional health centres at the rate of one centre per year, each staffed by an expansional social worker and four auditories. The continuity regional centres will be a feast for the co-ordination of social, health and cultural activities in the region, introducing a new and breader sencept for the country and serving as a stimulas to the rural population in an endowment to ruise the stochards of living. The social centres will provide inservine training for social walfare auxiliaries and vill organizes and supervises an extensive service in the rural areas by seems of teams of "endostrices" and auxiliary social markers based on the rural health sub-centres. Buring the two-year period four social vertices and 25 auxiliary vertices will be trained. Right additional day-care centres will be organized and five day-care cides trained. Ten rural action centeens will be developed at the rate of five per year. School gardens and small-aximal recising units will be established in the same schools.

A national youth acrossest was created in 1962 to develop the educational, sultural and agricultural activities of rural yearth, and thus counter the country from rural areas and the malailustment of year people thrust suddently into urban life. The agricultural section of the assument is associated with preseting the training of young one as leaders of agricultural clubs and as helpers in their rural our munities in the application of improved methods of food production and use. As experienceal training form has been established at Gidji, in the district of Apoche where some 120 years have been train in the past two years in courses lasting up to six mouths. The schools' and clubs' section of the youth movement combines simple, practical instruction within the asheel surriculum, e.g. asheel gard poultry and small-enimal raising, with out-of-orders activities and youth clubs. Little will help to improve the training facilities at the qualitativities for the facilities at the qualitativities for the facilities at the present and th the activities to girls, for whom less has been done than for buys during the experimental stage. The plan cells for the erection of 75 new agricultural clubs for emiddle school pupils and 30 slubs for rural youths who have left school. Time girls' clubs will be established, including instruction in her commonists and metherereft/honocraft subjects. I'llEF will provide basis equipment for 2 social emutres, 20 social tens, 6 day—erre control, 10 school gardens, contents and poultry-reizing units; tensing and demonstration equipment for the Glidji form and gardening equipment for 75 school alshe, 30 egricultural clube and 9 girls' clube; transport; and training grants for 35 social sides, and 5 day—erre control aldes. The United Sations Department of Economic and Social Affidire will provide a scalal wel fere advisor and a training advisory and 710 would provide a home economist under the Expended Progress of Technical Assistance, 1980 experts already in Tago will-also be available. The larket Food Program will provide food for the centeens. The Government of France, and FAC (Fonds d'Aide et de Comparation the Covernment of Israel, the Israeli Peace Corps and the United States Louisy for International Development are also assisting the programme.

TOMISIA

BASIC WEALTH SERVICES Confirmation and expension,

Allogetion approveds \$94,900 Tedralcal approvals

E/ECEP/PASS

Efforts are being concentrated on strongificaling the network of basis health facilities and control services, establishing a pilot public health more for the describetion of integrated pressive and curative services, and on the training of medical, pare-medical and mutiliary personnel. Four new entermities will be erented during 1986, and the children's heapital, wirredy constructed at Tunis, will be put into operation. It is placed to up-grade 37 rural health ecrires and grants five now once. The central public health laboratory will be strongthened as will the central statistical services and the matienal health education contro. In order to develop an integrated program preventive and ourative services, a descentivities are sell to organised in the Covernments of Cap 3 in accordance with the suggestions of 196. The area selected is predominantly rural and has 295,000 inhabitants. The plan is to divide the zone into cight health districts, each having a main health sentre which will supervice the sub-centres and PCH earlies. Existing facilities will be reorganized, up-graded and provided of the adoquate personnel. The only now construction envisaged is a school bealth center. The training programme will continue with a three-day orientation periods for twenty expetriete doctors, in service training courses 10 midrives and 30 health auxiliaries, prientation seminars in public health for 20 dectors and 100 nurses, health inspectors and huelth educators working in the pilet zone, an-thejob refresher training for 39 public boalth surses in the pilot zone, and information seminars on toolth and nutrition education for 50 primary school directors and teachers in the pilot mome. UNSCEP will provide equipment for the familities and services described above, bits and vescination equipment for 30 public health murses, 25 midwives and 7 vancination teams; 250,000 tubes of antibiotic skill 75,000 desem of IPT vection; transport for supervision; equipment for a central transport vertical and a mobile maintenance unit; and stipends and hunoruria for refresher courses and erientation seminary including 230 participants. '90 will rectime to provide advice and guidence through its term of experie in the country.

HOMESCRAFT/BD ECRAFT Social services: first request for WICE aid Covercraft/ homerraft: continuation, and 1965 to mid 1966

CONTRACTOR OF THE PROPERTY OF Technical approval: United Settone Inpurtment of Economic and Social Minirs, FAO

E/ICEF/PA.633

The objective of the project is to strengthen services for frailies and children through better organization at the national und regional levels, improvement of praction of a variety of institutions for children and youth, training of personnel and a shift in emphasis from ourstive to preventive services. The following institutions are to be autoblished or im-graded during the cost years

- Seven new centres will be established, each with 60 to 100 places, suffed by I stills-care workers.
- Twenty educational contries for young ordidrys of sporking methods will be precion; 30 of the di existing nursery schools will be up-graded.
- After-school centres till assers supervised educational activities for school children aged sax to fourteen who otherwise might room the streets. Four such comtres will be created.

## TUMISTA (continued)

- Abandoned children of six years or older are grouped in villages, each consisting of ten living units housing 25 children each. Twenty such villages exist at present and it is planned to establish another three during 1965/1966.
- Youth centres are located on spacious grounds on the outskirts of the cities and provide educational activities and sports for older school children and young working people under the supervision of a director and valuntary personnel. Fight such contres will be areated.

In order to pursue and intensify the programs of rural development, the admiringes would continue to visit rural families in their homes and provide assistance in personal and confirmmental hygiens, seeing, gardening, etc. In addition, 150 family education control are progressively being catabilished in 100 villages of more than 3,000 inhabitants, in the principal cities and in the agricultural production units. For now family education centres will be opened in 1965. Sural home economies training centres are being created to train rural girls aged 14 to 19 in homenshing, child care, civic, moral and family responsibility, local handicrafts, etc. Three are already functioning and ten are to be opened during 1965/1966; each has a capacity of 60 to 80 girls. A staff for those verious activities are being trained at the School of Social Work which was opened in October 1964. UNIDER will provide supplies and equipment for the institutions, demonstration and training equipment for 13 rural home economies training centres and for the School of Social livet, transport, stipents and homerarie for the training of 403 persons in special or assolvented courses; and a salary supplement for the director of the School of Social livet for one year.

TUPISIA

PRE-FOCATIONS, TRAINING Continuation, 1965/1966 Allocation approved: \$113,000 equinot eperoved entailment

TUXISIA

URBAT FILOT FROMET: LATERIAL AND CHILL WE PASS SERVICES Continuation, and 1965 to mid 1966 Allocation approved: \$45,000 Postmical approvals. Spites Antique Department of Sponseis and Social Affairs and 1780

E/10EF/P/L.634

In accordance with the Government's general objectives of improving living conditions in are urban areas, this project is simed at organizing a co-ordinated and comprenhensive series of benith, educational and social services for a population of al est 60,000 imbabitants in two outlying districts of Tunis, Liebel Labour and Djebel Djelloud. A co-ordinating committee, consisting of members of various government decertments and national valuntary organizations participating in the project, has been established and divided into six morking groups to advise on various aspects of the programme. I e first phase of the preject is currently being corried out in Lightel Labour. During the second place of the project, it is planned to complete the base line study with a one-year sample survey of the morbidity and of the natrition habits of children from 0 to 3 years of age in the two zones. The sanitation and environmental health activities will be postimued in Liebel Labour and imititated in Djobel Djilloud, where they would include the installation of public much houses and showers as well as the creation of an 1 24 centre and a multipurpose singulary. Injected injected will also be growised with a nursery school and a centre for ext-of-school activities. A flay-care centre, a pre-receitional training dentre and a centre for bests education and dorestic arts will be established in each zone. The supplementary in-service training of personnel at the various centres will continue, Information seminars will be organized for teaching personnel in the two zones in order to explain the purpose and